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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
he more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of ZXZN Qi-House
Holdings Limited (the “Campany”) collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in
all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

To our Shareholders

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Our Group engages in (i) the sale, distribution and rental of furniture and home
accessories; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights;
(iii) the operation of TREE Café at the Group's flagship store in Hong Kong; (iv)
the provision of styling and consulting services; (v) the provision of furniture
agency services; (vi) the provision of consumer loan services; and (vii) sale
of trading parts and automation equipment, including sales of parts of visual
hardware products, development and sales of visual software and system, and
provision of technical services.

After twenty years of being established in Hong Kong, TREE Limited is one of
the leading lifestyle furniture and home furnishing companies in Hong Kong,
operating under the brand name “TREE".

Additional income streams and diversification of
business

In December 2018, we acquired Hong Kong ltaliving International Co. Limited
(“Italiving”), which is principally engaged in the sourcing and distribution of
high-end Italian furniture made in Italy. Having considered the economy in the
Mainland China, the financial performance and future prospect of Italiving,
we disposed of it in February 2025 to minimize the adverse impact of the
deteriorating financial performance, and the proceeds from the disposal can
enhance the Company's cash flow position that would enable the Company to
devote more resources into other operating segments.

In January 2022, we acquired Super Easy Finance Limited (“Super Easy”),
which is principally engaged in the provision of consumer loan services. Super
Easy has been generating positive interest income to the Group in the past few
years.

In January 2024, we setup Hefei Qijia Supply Chain Technology Co., Ltd. (&
PE 75 2% 4 FE 88 5 115 5 PR 22 1) (“Hefei Qijia"), and in March 2024 we
acquired Hefei Human Vision Technology Co., Ltd (& IE T~ AR B 1lT B
R 72 7]) (“Hefei Human Vision"). These subsidiaries engage in sale of trading
parts and automation equipment, including sales of parts of visual hardware
products, development and sales of visual software and system, and provision
of technical services. The visual hardware products mainly include display
backlight AOI equipment, display glass AQI equipment, display appearance
inspection equipment, which are mainly used for optical inspection of various
semi-finished products in display production including inspection of foreign
objects, scratch, etc.
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In July 2024, we invested in 15% equity interest in Anhui Zhongxian Intelligent
Robot Co., Ltd. (%2 & 4 %8 %5 At 1 23 A G BR /2 7]) (“Anhui Zhongxian”).
Anhui Zhongxian is a leading high-tech automation equipment provider in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), focusing on R&D, manufacturing,
and sales in display technologies like Mini LED, OLED, and LCD for various
electronic devices. Recognized as a top player in its field, it holds more
than 150 patents. Anhui Zhongxian offers advanced automation solutions,
including fully automatic backlight module one-stop equipment, fully automatic
backlight module AQI inspection equipment, 3D glass cover series equipment,
CCD full-view alignment series equipment, various soft-to-hard, soft-to-soft,
hard-to-hard bonding equipment, various flexible special-shaped bonding
equipment, flexible 3D assembly equipment, etc.

In support of China’s intelligent manufacturing goals, it established training
academies in 2018 to foster talent and innovation, aiming to create a global
ecosystem integrating industry, education, and research.

The general market conditions and the operating environment has continued
to be challenging in 2024/2025. Our furniture business in Hong Kong has been
affected by the property market and the challenging retail market as consumer
spending continues to be conservative. Our consumer loan services business
in Hong Kong is stable. This is the first financial year for our PRC subsidiaries
make contribution to the Group.

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of ZXZN Qi-House Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company (the “"Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2025 (“FY2025").

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For FY2025, the total revenue of the Group was approximately HK$99.2 million,
an increase of approximately HK$37.5 million, mainly attributable to an increase
in the revenue contribution from our PRC subsidiaries for sale of trading of parts
and equipment, partly offset by a decrease of revenue from the sale of furniture
and home accessories.

As a result of the contribution by Hefei Qijia and Hefei Human Vision this year,
the gross profit increased from approximately HK$38.6 million to approximately
HK$68.8 million.

The overall gross profit margin of the Group increased from approximately
62.5% (restated) to 69.3%.

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

We report that the Group has recorded a loss on the disposal of Italiving of
approximately HK$9.4 million, and after taking into account the consideration of
HK$3 million, the carrying amount of the net assets of Italiving is approximately
HK$12.4 million at the date of disposal.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERE®E

We are delighted to report that we recorded a net profit of approximately
HK$1.6 million for FY2025 as compared to a net loss of HK$17.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024 ("FY2024").

The Company does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
FY2025 (FY2024: Nil).

THE FUTURE

While | am writing this statement we are still operating within a challenging
environment due to the current global economic conditions. It is therefore
difficult, given the uncertainty to predict the market sentiment, and our industry
continues to be challenged with highly competitive retail market conditions
with many retailers relying on heavy discounting to generate retail sales.

The management is executing various measures to reduce the operating loss of
the retail business in Hong Kong, and will consider available options to minimize
the loss and improve the financial results.

THE FINAL NOTE

The Group continues to be proud of the TREE brand that was founded in Hong
Kong and has grown with heart and integrity over the last twenty years.

On behalf of the Board, we would like to thank all staff members of the Group,
our suppliers, partners and, of course, our customers for their continuous
support.

Tong Tang Joseph
Co-chairman and Chief Fxecutive Officer
27 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

BUSINESS REVIEW

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we engage in (i) the sale, distribution and rental
of furniture and home accessories which is operating under the brand name
“TREE"; (i) the distribution and licencing of our intellectual property rights of
“TREE"; {iii) the operation of TREE Café in our flagship store in Ap Lei Chau
(the “Flagship Store”); (iv) the provision of furniture agency services; (v) the
provision of styling and consulting services; (vi) the provision of consumer loan
services; and (vii) sale of trading parts and automation equipment, including
sales of parts of visual hardware products, development and sales of visual
software and system, and provision of technical services.

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE" retail stores in Hong
Kong namely, our Flagship Store and our Sha Tin store in addition to online
sales. We have commenced online sales since May 2019. The management
is executing various measures to reduce the operating loss of retail business
in Hong Kong, including but not limited to discussing rental reduction with
landlord, scale down the retail sales space, identifying more efforts in
online business operating and innovative strategies to optimize rental cost
expenditures. We offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables, chairs, storage
solutions, sofas and beds; and (b) home accessories including kitchenware,
bed and bathroom related products, jars, cushions, mattresses, utensils and
baskets.

We acquired Italiving in December 2018, which is principally engaged in the
provision of a furniture agency service in Hong Kong. We disposed Italiving in
February 2025 due to the financial performance and future prospect of Italiving.

In January 2022, we acquired Super Easy, which is principally engaged in the
provision of consumer loan services.

We started a new business by setting up a new wholly-foreign owned
enterprise named Hefei Qijia in the PRC in January 2024 and in March 2024,
Hefei Qijia acquired Hefei Human Vision. Our PRC subsidiaries engage in sale
of trading parts and automation equipment, including sales of parts of visual
hardware products, development and sales of visual software and system,
and provision of technical services. The visual hardware products mainly
include display backlight AOI equipment, display glass AQI equipment, display
appearance inspection equipment, which are mainly used for optical inspection
of various semi-finished products in display production including inspection of
foreign objects, scratch, etc.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the FY2025, we generated revenue from the (i) sale of furniture and
home accessories; (i) operation of TREE Café; (iii) provision of furniture
agency services; (iv) provision of styling and consulting services; (v) provision
of furniture rental services and (vi) sale of trading parts and automation
equipment. The table below sets forth a breakdown of our revenue for FY2025
and for FY2024:

BEER WA

R HEE - KPR ERENRAERKE
T &7 85 &+ (ii) 4% %8 TREE Café : (iii) 32 {1} B IR AR
BB R RFEARSE  VIRRERAEE
RERVIEBEZHREE L RBEBHEE - TRH
B B P 722025 84 BK 4F 1S &2 2024 B4 B 4F TS /9 UK 25 R
4

Year ended 31 March

B Z3ANALEE

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET

Revenue from contracts with customers EEAHWE
Sale of furniture and home accessories RARREIRHMIHEE 48,646 57,414
Sale of trading parts and automation equipment BEETHLEBILERBEHES 43,257 —
Distribution and licence fee income DIERETAIEBIA 2,799 —
Food and beverage income B kR mBA 3,378 3,656
Commission income e WA 1,104 530
99,184 61,650

Revenue from other sources H R OR U &=
Rental income el A 34 50
99,218 61,700

For FY2025, our revenue amounted to approximately HK$99.2 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$37.5 million or 60.8% from
approximately HK$61.7 million (restated) for FY2024. Such increase was
mainly due to the contribution from our PRC subsidiaries for sale of trading
parts and automation equipment and the increase in distribution and licencing
fee income, partly offset by a decrease in the sale of furniture and home
accessories.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Sale of furniture and home accessories

TREE primarily sells its products to (i) retail customers who visited our retail
stores; and (i) customers who placed orders via our online platform being the
direct sales in Hong Kong. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our
sale of furniture and home accessories for FY2025 and FY2024, respectively.

BEER WA

REARREGRMEE
TREEXEZERERETINHBRMNTEENZTER
FiRiBBERMNBLFETETENTF -
BIEEMNERZEE - TR0 BHFE &
WUTHFENRERRERMESHA -

Year ended 31 March

BZEIANABLEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
% of total % of total
revenue from revenue from
sale of furniture sale of furniture
and home and home
Revenue accessories Revenue accessories
HEERA HEERA
EI= N &K E B &
FEA &y B
W = Bk g Elsd
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FTHET FH&T
Direct sales in Hong Kong ERNEEHE
Retail store!" ZERN 45,289 93.1 53,633 934
Online sales and non-retail sales 48 FHHERIETEHE 2,516 5.2 2,685 47
Sub-total INEE 47,805 98.3 56,318 98.1
Distribution sales DHEHEE i 17 1,096 1.9
Total 4t 48,646 100.0 57,414 100.0
Note: =
(1) Our retail stores include our Flagship Store, Sha Tin store and pop-up store. (1) TEERIEEES - PHRERRARE -

For FY2025, revenue generated from direct sales was approximately HK$47.8
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$8.5 million or 15.1% from
approximately HK$56.3 million for FY2024.

For FY2025, revenue generated from distribution sales amounted to
approximately HK$0.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.3
million or 23.3% from approximately HK$1.1 million for FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Sale of trading parts and automation equipment

Our PRC subsidiaries engage in sale of trading parts and automation equipment,
including sales of parts of visual hardware products, development and sales
of visual software and system, and provision of technical services. The visual
hardware products mainly include display backlight AQI equipment, display
glass AOl equipment, display appearance inspection equipment, which are
mainly used for optical inspection of various semi-finished products in display
production including inspection of foreign objects, scratch, etc. The PRC
subsidiaries generated revenue of HK$43.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2025, and this is the first year contribution to the Group.

Distribution and licence fee income

We entered into a distribution agreement with our PRC distributor for three
years starting from 21 June 2024, and we are entitled to receive annual non-
refundable fee of HK$3.6 million from our PRC distributor for the distribution of
our products in Beijing, Anhui, Shandong and Zhejiang province. Our distribution
and license fee income was approximately HK$2.8 million for the period from
21 June 2024 to 31 March 2025, representing approximately 2.8% of our total
revenue for FY2025.

Food and beverage income

The Group's food and beverage income generated from operating TREE Café in
our Flagship Store was approximately HK$3.4 million for FY2025, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$0.3 million or 7.6% from approximately HK$3.7
million for FY2024. The decrease is due to decrease in footfall to our Flagship
Store in Ap Lei Chau.

Commission income

The Group’s commission income represented the income generated from
the sale of consignment goods of approximately HK$1.1 million for FY2025,
representing an increase of approximately HK$0.5 million or 90.3% from
approximately HK$0.6 million for FY2024.

Rental income

The Group's rental income comprised of income generated from the provision
of furniture rental services was approximately HK$34,000 and HK$50,000 for
FY2025, and FY2024, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue increased to approximately HK$99.2 million for FY2025
from approximately HK$61.7 million (restated) for FY2024, representing
an increase of approximately 60.8%. Such increase was mainly due to the
contribution from our PRC subsidiaries for sale of trading parts and automation
equipment and the increase in distribution and licencing fee income, partly
offset by a decrease in the sales of furniture and home accessories.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's overall gross profit increased to approximately HK$68.8 million
for FY2025 from approximately HK$38.6 million for FY2024. The overall gross
profit margin increased to approximately 69.3% for FY2025 from approximately
62.5% for FY2024.

The Group’s gross profit margin for the sale of furniture and home accessories
raised to approximately 65.2% for FY2025 from approximately 61.9% for
FY2024. Distribution sales increased to approximately 53.3% for FY2025 from
approximately 47.4% for FY2024.

The Group's gross profit margin for the sale of food and beverages decreased to
approximately 72.4% for FY2025 from approximately 73.2% for FY2024.

The Group's gross profit margin for sale of trading parts and automation
equipment was approximately 74.1% for FY2025.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses mainly comprise (i) depreciation
of right-of-use assets; (ii) staff costs attributable to the salary of our staff
engaged in selling and marketing activities; (iii) marketing expenses; (iv)
payment gateway charges attributable to fees for our payment channels such
as credit cards or EPS; and (v) electricity and water expenses.

The Group's selling and marketing expenses amounted to approximately
HK$28.6 million for FY2025, representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.8
million or approximately 5.8% from approximately HK$30.4 million for FY2024.
Such decrease was mainly due to reduction in marketing expenses due to cost
control and the decrease in staff costs because of decrease in sales of furniture
and home accessories.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses mainly comprised (i) staff costs for
our administrative staff and Directors’ emoluments; (i) professional fees
which included legal fees, consultancy fees and auditor’s remuneration; (iii)
travel expenses; (iv) office expenses; (v) depreciation of our property, plant
and equipment, and amortisation of our intangible assets; (vi) repairs and
maintenance for our trucks and retail stores; (vii) insurance expenses which
included business insurance, vehicle insurance and medical insurance; (viii)
recruitment expenses which included fees to the recruitment agents and
advertisements on websites; (ix) bank charges; (x) handling fee; and (xi) others
which included motor vehicle expenses, net foreign exchange losses and
entertainment expenses.

For FY2025, the Group's administrative expenses amounted to approximately
HK$25.6 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$1.7 million or
7.0% from approximately HK$23.9 million for FY2024. Such increase was mainly
due to the increase of general operating expenses in Hefei Qijia and Hefei
Human Vision of approximately HK$5.8 million, partly offset by the decrease in
staff costs for Hong Kong businesses.

Provision for impairment of goodwill

For FY2025, there has no recognition of a non-cash impairment of goodwill
(FY2024: approximately HK$8.7 million), the carrying value of cash-generating
unit of furniture agency services, i.e. Italiving has been fully written off.

Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
and loan receivables, net

For FY2025, the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables and
loan receivables, net amounted to approximately HK$2.9 million. Such increase
was mainly due to changes in the credit risks and the market conditions.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly comprised of interest expenses on interest-bearing
borrowings and finance charges on lease liabilities. Finance costs increased by
approximately HK$0.4 million or 35.0% from approximately HK$1.2 million for
FY2024 to approximately HK$1.6 million for FY2025. The increase was mainly
due to (i) interest expense for several loans were recognised for FY2025, in
contrast to the FY2024 when these loans were initiated for only half year and
(i) the increase in interest rate for the renewal of lease agreements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Income

Other income for the Group decreased by approximately HK$2.7 million or
36.6% to approximately HK$4.6 million for FY2025 from approximately HK$7.3
million for FY2024. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in interest
income from loan receivables of approximately HK$2.2 million.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense for the Group turned around to approximately HK$3.2
million for FY2025 from income tax credit approximately HK$80,000 for FY2024.
The change was mainly due to the increase of profit before income tax for
FY2025.

Profit for the year
The Group recorded a profit of approximately HK$1.6 million for FY2025
compared to a loss of approximately HK$17.3 million for FY2024.

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Inventories

The Group's inventories consisted of finished goods and goods in transit
which we purchased from our suppliers. The inventories balance decreased
to approximately HK$11.7 million as at 31 March 2025 from approximately
HK$11.8 million as at 31 March 2024.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's trade receivables consisted of trade receivables from customers
and payment vendors. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, our trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$49.4 million and HK$39.9 million, respectively.
The increase of approximately HK$9.5 million was mainly due to the increase in
trade receivables from our PRC subsidiaries.

The Group's other receivables consisted of interest receivables, rental deposits,
utilities deposits, trade deposits, prepayments, and prepayment to a related
company. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, our other receivables amounted to
approximately HK$20.4 million and HK$11.9 million, respectively. The increase
of approximately HK$8.5 million was mainly due to the increase in prepayment
to suppliers for operating, research and development expenses.

Loan receivables

The Group’s loan receivables consisted of loan receivables from customers. As
at 31 March 2025 and 2024, our total loan receivables (non-current and current)
amounted to approximately HK$21.3 million and HK$14.8 million, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's non-current portion of loan receivables
amounted to approximately HK$18.8 million (FY2024: approximately HK$0.2
million).

(i) Major terms of loans
The Group offered loans with loan tenor ranged from 3 to 12 months,
with most of the loans averaging 12 months or less. For FY2025, the
Group granted 27 loans (2024: 36 loans) that have tenor of 9 to 12
months (2024: tenor of 9 to 12 months), and none of the loan that have
tenor of more than 12 months.

The interest rates of for the loans granted ranged from 7.5% to 47.8%
per annum for FY2025 (2024: 7.5% to 48.0%), whilst the interest rate
charged and the amount of collateral require (if required) for each loan
depends on the risk of default expected.

All the loans granted by the Group were unsecured, no collaterals and
guarantees.

(ii)  Breakdown of loans by categories
For FY2025, the Group offered loans to 22 individual and 5 corporate
borrowers (2024: 29 individual and 7 corporate borrowers). None of the
individual and corporate borrower were associated companies, joint
ventures or connected persons of the Group. For FY2025, all granted
loans were unsecured personal or corporate loans.

(iii) ~ Size and diversity of borrowers
As at 31 March 2025, the loan receivables from the five largest loan
borrowers (four corporate borrowers) were approximately HK$19.5
million (representing approximately 89.2% of the total portfolio).

(iv)] Breakdown of loan receivables
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For the year ended 31 March

BZEIANALEE
2025 2024
2025 2024%F
Loan data: BREE:
Gross loan balance (HK$) EREREEET) 21,879,000 15,144,992
Loan originated for the year (HK$) FRMEERCET) 22,354,746 31,714,465
Number of loans originated MIEEREE 27 34
Average gross balance per loan (HK$) BEEFROFHOERBEE(ET) 828,000 881,000
Ratios for the year: EEHE:
Average return on loans BERFHEH=E 13.8% 16.9%
Loan impairment ratio EFURER 2.7% 2.2%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED

The breakdown of gross loan balance are as follows: g

i
ps

IR

Gross loan balance as at 31 March 2025

R2025F3RNAMNEREREE

HK$500,000 HK$750,000
or below or below
HK$250,00 or but above but above Above
below HK$250,000 HK$500,000 HK$750,000 Total
500,0007%% 5t 750,000 T
= U E = T E
250,0007& ot #2250,000 i #500,000 & 8750,000
E2YWN BT BT BT @t
% of customer EFPBEOL 0.7% 9.8% 5.6% 83.9% 100%
Gross loan balance as at 31 March 2024
R2UFIANBMERE R e R
HK$500,000 HK$750,000
or below or below
HK$250,00 or but above but above Above
below HK$250,000 HK$500,000 HK$750,000 Total
500,0007& 7T 750,000 7T
A TE AT E
250,000 7t #238250,000 #E38500,000 B 8750,000
E4YNN BT BT T @t
% of customer RFEEDL 38.5% 21.3% 0.0% 38.4% 100%
The aging analysis of loans receivables are as follows: EWEFHERDTOT
Loan tenor as at 31 March 2025
MR2025383MENERHR
More than
0-90 days  91-180 days 181-270 days 210 days Total
0Z90K 9M1ZE180Kk 181F270k HEiB2710K #ct
Loans receivables & U & 3K
(HK$) (A7) 18,990,000 2,293,000 — — 21,283,000
Loan tenor as at 31 March 2024
R2024F3A3NBE N E IR
More than
0-90 days 91-180 days ~ 181-270 days 270 days Total
0E90K 91E180K  181E270Kk  HRIB270K #Et
Loans receivables B U & 3K
(HK$) (BT 13,628,000 Nil = 500,000 680,000 14,808,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

(v)  Loan impairments
Super Easy reviews regularly the recoverable amount of loan receivables
by taking into account of the market conditions, customers’ profiles
including any significant changes in the payment status of the
borrowers and quality of third-party guarantees to ensure that adequate
impairment is made for the irrecoverable amounts.

For events and circumstances that may lead to the Group in recognizing
or further making impairment of its loans, factors would normally
include (a) delay in settlement of loan interest or loan principal amounts
by the borrower on due date; (b) existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt
obligations; (c) legal actions being taken by the Group against the
borrower; and (d) the borrower filed or expected to file for bankruptcy.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a loan impairment of HK$596,005
(2024: HK$337,257) was recognized for the loan receivables. The loan
impairment assessment was prepared on the basis of Expected Credit
Loss in accordance with “"HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments”.

Credit Approval, Monitoring and Controls

In managing credit risk, it is Super Easy’s policy that all potential loan
customers who wish to obtain loans shall be reviewed. Prospective borrowers
are subject to credit verification procedures, including our assessment on
their credit worthiness of the customers basing on credit ratings report, their
background and occupation, their financial situation, history of default and
other factors such as personal guarantors and asset ownership. Super Easy will
prepare a report to summarise all available data such as information from the
TransUnion Credit Report, including history of default, background of the loan
customer and other publicly available information, and propose the loan terms
such as loan amount, interest rate and loan tenor. The management of Super
Easy will then review the report and approve the loan.

Subsequently, the recoverability of the loan receivables will be monitored
on an ongoing basis. In assessing the possibility of recovering the loan
receivables, information such as (i) historical payment records e.g., timely
settlement of loan interest or loan principal amounts on the due dates; (ii) the
length of the overdue period; and {iii) any foreseeable changes in the economic
environment that would significantly deteriorating the borrower’s ability to
meet its obligation. This will be done on an ongoing basis to decide whether any
follow-up action should be taken to avoid potential exposure to recoverability
problems.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Super Easy considers that both quantitative and qualitative information are
essential for the determination of credit risk, and the determination factors
may include historical and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. By considering all these factors, it is the view
of the management of Super Easy that the credit risk of the business can be
significantly reduced.

During FY2025, the grant of loans in relation to money lending business has
timely complied with all the relevant requirements under Chapters 19 and 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules including the size test and disclosure requirements.

Bank balance and cash
Bank balance and cash include cash at bank and in hand. As at 31 March 2025
and 2024, our bank balance and cash amounted to approximately HK$1.0 million
and HK$12.2 million, respectively.

Trade and other payables

The Group's trade payables consisted of trade payables to suppliers in relation
to the purchase of goods. There were no credit periods granted by our suppliers.
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, our trade payables amounted to approximately
HK$38.7 million and HK$18.6 million, respectively.

The Group's other payables comprised accrued charges, consideration payable
which represent the unpaid cash consideration for the acquisition of Italiving,
and provision for long service payments. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, our
other payables amounted to approximately HK$10.3 million and HK$13.1 million,
respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in consideration of
approximately HK$2.8 million.

Contract liabilities

The Group's contract liabilities mainly represented unrecognised revenue from
customers where delivery of products is required and pending. As at 31 March
2025 and 2024, our contract liabilities amounted to approximately HK$6.2
million and HK$7.0 million, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in advance payments from customers.

Bank borrowings
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, our Group recorded bank borrowings of
approximately HK$13.8 million and HK$20.3 million, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

Lease liabilities

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group recorded lease liabilities of
approximately HK$9.0 million and HK$12.5 million, respectively. Such decrease
was due to the less renewed leases and decrease of rental payments
during FY2025. As at 31 March 2025, our Group has entered into leases for
warehouse, office, shop premises, motor vehicles.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$118.7
million, which is financed by total liabilities and Shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$82.0 million and HK$36.7 million, respectively. The
Group's current ratio at 31 March 2025 was approximately 1.1 compared to
approximately 1.4 at 31 March 2024.

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2025 was approximately 62.1%
while as at 31 March 2024 was approximately 93.1%.

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the total borrowings and lease
liabilities, divided by total equity at each reporting date.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for FY2025 was approximately less than HK$0.1
million, which was mainly used for (i) the purchase of furniture and fixtures and
leasehold improvements; and (i) renovation of existing website.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2025, there were no significant contingent liabilities for the
Group.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2025, the Group has no operating commitments (2024: Nil).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has no capital commitments (2024: Nil).

Charges on Group assets
As at 31 March 2025, right of use assets with net book value of approximately
HK$9.1 million were held under lease arrangements (2024: HK$12.1 million).

Segment information
Segment information is presented for the Group as disclosed on Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HEAE

20254 ] 20244E3A31H - AEERBHERE
DRI EE B TR2EESTT c HEARBR
LEARNGTBREFERNEEMRE RAS MK
BB FTE - 720253 A318 » REBE
BECWAE-JEH - ABEFUSHHEE-

RBEESRBKEER
M2025F3A31H - AEEMBEELNRIBIEE
BT AR BEERBREERE DB 48208 BB
TTN3ITE BB ITEE - REBMN2025F3H31H
MBI L R4 B MAR2024F3A3B AN A
14 o

EEEERLR
AEBHEEBELL XR2BFIANE LN A
62.1% * M F 202493 A31H B 49 A931% °

AEABELETERSHSAHANERERES
BEBRABESTE -

=N

XV HRFEMNEARZBBLHRLREE
B XZARNBERARETEENURA
EMERE: RVREBEAUMETEE -

HREE

MR2025F3ANH AEB W EERNKAEE -

e
MR2025F3A31H » AN £ F I & 1F 7] &8 & &I
(20244 : 47) -

R2025F3A31H » ANEE I 2 E AR AHAIE (2024 -
) o
AEBEEHT

HR2025F3A318 » BREVFENIE BB THNE
AEEEDNRBEEELZHIFE QUF 12168
BIT) ©

7 EBE

RAEBE25IMH BEHRGANBREN T
MR -

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " FE &5 8235 sR42 AR PR A 5 Annual Report ZE3R 2025



21

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 25 January 2018. There has been no change in the capital
structure of the Group since then. The share capital of the Group only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company'’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for FY2025
(FY2024: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save for the following, there was no significant investments, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during
FY2025.

On 14 February 2025, Qi-House Investment Group Limited (“Qi-House
Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Trilane
Marketing Consultant Limited (“Trilane Marketing”), an independent third
party, entered into the sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Qi-
House Investment agreed to sell and the Trilane Marketing agreed to acquire
100% interest of Italiving at a cash consideration of HK$3 million.

Italiving is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and is
principally engaged in provision of furniture agency services in Hong Kong.
Upon Completion, the Group will cease to hold any equity interest in Italiving
and ltaliving will no longer be a subsidiary of the Company. Accordingly, the
financial results of Italiving will no longer be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Group as of 31 March 2025.

For details of the transaction please refer to the discloseable transaction
announcement and the supplemental announcement dated 14 February 2025
and 14 March 2025, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the coming year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

In the course of conducting business, our Group is exposed to various types
of risks, including operational risks, credit risks, liquidity risk and interest
rate risks. Our Group has established a set of risk management policies and
measures to identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from our operations.

The followings set out some of the primary operational risks our Group faces
that may materially and adversely affect our Group's business, financial
condition and results of operation and our risk management measures:

1. Risk of remaining competitive in a highly

fragmented and competitive market

The lifestyle furniture and home furnishing market is highly fragmented
and competitive with low barriers to entry, and there are no specific
market leaders. Our competitors may have greater financial, marketing,
personnel and other relevant resources compared to us. In particular, the
pricing strategies implemented by our competitors may affect the pricing
of our products. If our competitors significantly reduce their product
prices, we may have to reduce our selling prices or engage in further
marketing to remain competitive. This would likely reduce our revenue
and profitability.

2. Risk of dependent on the shift in customer’s tastes
and preferences
Due to the nature of the furniture retail industry, the customers generally
purchase our products on an infrequent basis. Apart from the PRC
distributor, there is no purchase commitments from our customers and
there is no obligation for them to purchase any products from us in the
future. There is a risk that we may not be able to attract new customers
or existing customers to purchase our products if we fail to successfully
track changing customers tastes and preferences and market trends.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

3. Risk of failure in expanding sales network to new

locations in Hong Kong

It may take longer than expected for the new stores to reach breakeven
or achieve investment payback, if at all. There is no guarantee that we
will execute our expansion plans according to business strategies in the
prospectus of the Company dated 12 January 2018 (the “Prospectus”)
successfully, or that we will be able to attract more customers from our
expansion. If we fail to execute our expansion plans, our operations and
results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

The Group is also exposed to a variety of financial risks which comprise credit
risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

As our Group's revenue and expenses are mainly denominated in HK$ and
most of our Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in HKS$, which is our
functional currency, except for certain overseas purchases, bank balances, bank
borrowings which are denominated in Euro and USD. During FY2025, the Group
has net exchange gain of approximately HK$12,000 (FY2024: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 87 employees. Total staff costs,
(including Directors” emoluments) of approximately HK$25.8 million for FY2025
(FY2024: approximately HK$25.2 million (Restated)).

The Group's remuneration policies were determined with reference to the
performance, qualification and experience of individual employees, as well as
the results of the Group and the market conditions. We have also adopted the
share option scheme which is designed to provide incentives and rewards to our
employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any significant
investments during FY2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER WA

FUTURE PROSPECTS

This forthcoming financial year will continue to be challenging as retail market
conditions remain competitive and weak consumer confidence and spending
in Hong Kong prevails due the current economic conditions. These factors will
continue to impact our performance adversely for the forthcoming year. We
will continue to focus on running our two TREE retail stores and e-commerce
platform in Hong Kong. We will continue to consolidate and invest to build on
our existing revenue streams while identifying new opportunities.

The Group strengthened its income base and expanded its revenue stream
by sale of trading parts and automation equipment, including sales of parts
of visual hardware products, development and sale of visual software and
system, and provision of technical services to customers in PRC, consumer
loan services. The Group continues to look for ways to provide comprehensive
services to customers in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (& %) (“Mr. Tong”), aged 65, is our co-chairman,
chief executive officer, executive Director and chairman of the nomination
committee. He was appointed as our Director on 22 April 2016 and designated
as our chairman and non-executive Director on 6 September 2016 and
re-designated as chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director of the
Company on 1 August 2019 and re-designated as co-chairman on 13 September
2024. He is also a Director of TREE Limited. He is responsible for supporting our
Group on a strategic level.

Mr. Tong has more than 42 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr.
Tong was an executive director of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 86),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from December
2003 to January 2016. He also held various senior positions at Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited from December 2004 to January 2016 including the chief executive
officer of its wealth management, brokerage and capital markets. Mr. Tong
was also a director of Bali International Finance Limited (now known as Sun
Hung Kai Structured Finance Limited) from March 2004 to January 2016. From
July 2013 to July 2016, he was an independent non-executive director of Carry
Wealth Holdings Limited (stock code: 643), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Tong was a non-executive director and the chairman of the nomination
committee of Mason Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 273), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2016 to January
2018. He was chairman of the board of directors of Mason Group Holdings
Limited from April 2016 to September 2016, and joint chairman from September
2016 to January 2018. Mr. Tong was also an independent director of Jih Sun
Financial Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 5820), the shares of which are
listed on the Taipei Exchange in Taiwan, between 2009 and June 2019.

Mr. Tong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences (Honours) from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1982 and a degree of Master of
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in October
1988. He was admitted as a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2000 and advanced to fellowship status in November
2005.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREER

Mr. Yu Quansheng

Mr. Yu Quansheng (5% % B ) ("Mr. Yu”), aged 48, is our co-chairman
and executive Director. He was appointed as our co-chairman and executive
Director on 13 September 2024.

Mr. Yu has more than 10 years of experience in corporate management and
strategic management. From January 2008 to December 2017, Mr. Yu served
as the general manager of Guangdong Zhongming Technology Co., Ltd. (/& 3
FRBA R A IR 2 B)). Mr. Yu ceased to be a chief executive officer of Anhui
Zhongxian Intelligent Robot Co., Ltd. (Z B HEEE e 2 ABR AR
on 26 March 2025, he was responsible for the strategic planning and decision
making. Since January 2024, Mr. Yu was an executive director of Life Concepts
Holdings Limited (4 )& #f /2 #% % & IR 2 1) (stock code: 8056), the shares
of which are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) from January 2024 to September 2024. Mr. Yu obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from the Brest Business School.

Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington (“Ms. Babington”), aged 54, is our
executive Director, managing Director and a member of our nomination
committee. She was appointed as one of our Directors on 9 March 2016,
and designated as our chief executive officer and executive Director on 6
September 2016. From 1 August 2019, Mr. Tong Tang Joseph took over the chief
executive officer role on the Board. Ms. Babington is the managing Director of
TREE Limited. She is responsible for the strategy of TREE Limited and for the
implementation on an operational level, across all functions including but not
limited to internal management, human resources, marketing, merchandising,
sales and delivery.

Ms. Babington has mare than 29 years of experience in the retail industry.
From May 1993 to January 2010, Ms. Babington worked in The Body Shop
International PLC.

In February 1993, Ms. Babington graduated from the University of Central
Lancashire in the United Kingdom with a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in
Business and Finance. In November 1996, she obtained a Certificate in Applied
Professional Studies from the University of Brighton in United Kingdom. She
obtained a degree of Master of Arts in Marketing from the Kingston University
in the United Kingdom in October 1998. In November 2003, Ms. Babington
completed the social systems auditor/lead auditor training course provided by
SGS Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. Babington became an associate (corporate) of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing in the United Kingdom in December 1996. She was also admitted
as a member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom in
November 1998.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

In 2024, Ms. Babington obtained a certificate of completion from the University
of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership (CISL) in Business
Sustainability Management.

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (#& Z82) (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 43, is our executive Director,
a member of our remuneration committee and our compliance officer. He was
appointed as our Director on 9 March 2016 and designated as our executive
Director on 6 September 2016. He joined our Group in June 2015 as a Director
of Tree Limited. Mr. Tsui is responsible for managing the financial matters of our
Group.

Mr. Tsui has more than 21 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
field. Mr. Tsui has been the chief executive officer of AE Majoris Advisory
Company Limited which is principally engaged in the provision of corporate
advisory services, since January 2012. He was the company secretary of Noble
House (China) Holdings Limited (now known as Zhonghua Gas Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 8246), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, from July
2013 to August 2014. From August 2004 to January 2012, Mr. Tsui worked in an
international accounting firm in Hong Kong with his last position as a manager
in auditing. Mr. Tsui was a non-executive director of CCT Land Holdings Limited
(now known as GBA Holdings Limited) (stock code: 261), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from January 2017 to April 2018. Mr.
Tsui was the non-executive director and company secretary of Jiu Zun Digital
Interactive Entertainment Group Holdings Limited (now known as Infinities
Technology International (Cayman) Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1961), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2019
to May 2022. Mr. Tsui was appointed as an executive director and chairman of
Capital Estate Limited (stock code: 193), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, from February 2022 to December 2023. Mr. Tsui has
been the company secretary of Ching Lee Holdings Limited (stock code: 3728),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since August 2017.
Mr. Tsui has been the non-executive director of Star Group Company Limited
(stock code: 1560), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
since February 2022.

Mr. Tsui was appointed by the Embassy of the Republic of the Uganda in Beijing
as Honorary Trade, Tourism and Investment Consultant/Adviser on China
(Hong Kong and Macau SAR) from November 2016 to June 2019. Mr. Tsui was
appointed as a member of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference
of Qinzhou City in Guangxi Province in China since December 2019. Mr. Tsui was
appointed by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Integration of the
Republic of Ghana as Honorary Consul of Ghana in Hong Kong in March 2020. Mr
Tsui was appointed by Home Affairs Department of HKSAR as the team leader
of the Eastern District Care Team (Braemar Hill) since 29 September 2023. Mr.
Tsui was also appointed by the Senior Police Call Honorary Presidents Council of
Eastern District as Honorary President since 1 June 2024.
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EENEREER

Mr. Tsui was awarded a Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in
Accounting from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in November
2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in January 2009 and January 2012, respectively.

Mr. Bian Dahai (38 K &) (“Mr. Bian"), aged 50, is our executive Director.
He was appointed as our non-executive Director on 1 October 2020 and as our
executive Director on 21 October 2022.

Mr. Bian has over 25 years’ experience in business management and project
investment. Mr. Bian is active in various industries, including but not limited to
the chain catering, hotel management, internet and technology, smart home
and smart elderly care industries.

Mr. Bian is currently and has been the director of Shandong Bonds Silver City
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (1L 52 f& {7 #R 45 49 4& 2 5 B BR /2 7)) since
September 2017, the director of Zibo Subaosu Catering Management Co., Ltd.

W E R EEHME B A F) since December 2017 and the executive
d|rector of Shandong Noah's Ark Real Estate Sales Agency Co., Ltd (1L B8 75 58
T A Hb 7 §H & X IR A BR 2 F) since April 2025.

In September and October 2018, Mr. Bian passed the Licensing Examinations
for Fund Practitioners in respect of fund laws and regulations, professional
ethics and private equity investment funds organised by Asset Management
Association of China.

Mr. Jiao Dejun (552 &) (“Mr. Jiao”), aged 54, was designated as our
executive Director on 10 January 2024.

Mr. Jiao has over 20 years’ experience in comprehensive health care industry.
Mr. Jiao has been the director of Dalian Jubojingmi Moulding Co., Ltd. (X
HEEE R A G RAA]) since October 2000; the director of Dalian
Lanyun Technology Development Co., Ltd. (KB E BRI K E R GR A a])
since May 2007; the director of Dalian Xindadi Modern Agricultural Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (KB H R IRAK B E R 2 R G R A7) since
January 2010; the director of Shenzhen Kaishite Technology Co., Ltd. (% 3| €]l

T B LB 8 R A 7)) since August 2017; the director of Lanyun Internet of
Things (Dalian) Group Co., Ltd. (25 88 ¥ Bt 48 (K38 ) EE B I B R A 7))
since 2019 and the director of Lanling Hyaluronic Acid Biotechnology (Hainan)
Co., Ltd. (B5 % & BA & A= ¥ B #3278 9 ) B IR 2 1) since November 2021.

Mr. Jiao graduated from the Dalian Jiaotong University in 1994 and majored in
mechanical engineering.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (1% 3 %) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 57, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He
is also the chairman of our audit committee and a member of our remuneration
committee and nomination committee. He is responsible for giving independent
advice to our Board.

Mr. Yeung has over 30 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Mr. Yeung has been the chief financial officer and an executive
director of GCL Technology Holdings Limited ("GCL Tech”, formerly known
as GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3800), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since May and September 2014,
respectively, responsible for its financial control and reporting, corporate
finance, tax and risk management. He has also been the company secretary of
GCL Tech since March 2017. Since September 2015, Mr. Yeung has also been a
non-executive director of GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 451),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From May 1994 to
March 2014, Mr. Yeung worked at Deloitte China with his last position being
a Partner. From January 2008 to December 2008, Mr. Yeung was a part-time
member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong Kong.

Mr. Yeung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business with a major in
Accounting from Edith Cowan University in Australia in February 1992. He was
admitted as an associate and a certified practising accountant of the Australian
Society of Certified Practising Accountants in February 1992 and January 1996,
respectively. He was also admitted as a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in June 1996.
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EENEREER

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin (&Z {2 E) (“Mr. Tsang”), aged 64, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also a member
of our audit committee and nomination committee. He is responsible for giving
independent advice to our Board.

Mr. Tsang has extensive expertise in commercial building and interior
architecture and has over 27 years of experience as a leader of design team
in a broad variety of projects. Mr. Tsang is currently the senior director of AGC
Design Limited.

Mr. Tsang graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Architectural Studies in November 1982 and
a degree of Bachelor of Architecture in November 1985. He also obtained a
degree of Master of Business and Administration from the University of Toronto
in Canada in June 1992.

Mr. Tsang was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and elected into membership of the Royal Institute of British Architects
in December 1986 and July 1987, respectively. He was also admitted as a
professional member of the Interior Design Association (Hong Kong) in 2001
and was a founding member of the World Association of Chinese Architects
in April 2004. Mr. Tsang was accredited a PRC Class 1 Registered Architect of
the National Administration Board of Architect Registration (Qualification) in
August 2004, and admitted as an APEC Architect by the Central Council of the
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation in December 2015. He currently holds the
Certificate of Registration of Authorised Person (list of architects) issued by the
Building Authority in Hong Kong and is a registered architect in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tsang is appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Architects Registration Board for the period from May 2016 to May 2020.
He was also appointed by the Government of Hong Kong as a member of the
Contractors Registration Committee Panel from January 2004 to December
2008. He was a member of the Authorised Persons Registration Committee
and the Authorised Persons Registration Committee Panel of the Buildings
Department from January 2006 to December 2011, and an alternate member
of the Advisory Committee of Barrier Free Access of the Buildings Department
from July 2007 to July 2009.
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Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth (&5 %) (“Mr. Sit”), aged 66, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 25 January 2018. He is also the
chairman of our remuneration committee and a member of our audit committee
and nomination committee. He is responsible for giving independent advice to
our Board.

Mr. Sit has over 40 years of experience in the legal profession, being a
practising solicitor and Notary Public in Hong Kong. Mr. Sit was the sole-
proprietor of Kenneth Sit, Solicitors from October 2004 to October 2012,
and has been the Managing Partner of that firm since October 2012. Mr. Sit
has been an independent non-executive director of Pokfulam Development
Company Limited (stock code: 225), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since October 2005 and Zijin Mining Group Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2899 and 601899), a company dually listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange, during 2013 to 2019.

Mr. Sit graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) in 1980 and was awarded the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws by the
University of Hong Kong in July 1981. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in March 1983.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (#K¥2 %8 ) (“Mr. Lam”), aged 43, is our company secretary.
Mr. Lam was the company secretary of our Company during the period from
January 2018 to September 2021 and was re-appointed as our company
secretary in January 2024.

Mr. Lam has more than 20 years of experience in the accounting and corporate
finance industry. Since March 2016, Mr. Lam has been working for AE Majoris
Advisory Company Limited. Mr. Lam has been the company secretary of Sun
Hing Printing Holdings Limited (stock code: 1975), a company listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, since October 2021. Mr. Lam has been the
company secretary of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
2310), a company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 15 June
2024. Mr. Lam had been the non-executive director of Capital Estate Limited
(stock code: 193), a company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
during the period from February 2022 to December 2023.

From August 2008 to February 2016, Mr. Lam worked at First Pacific Company
Limited (stock code: 142), a company listed on Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with his last position being corporate development manager in the
corporate development department, responsible for overseeing mergers and
acquisitions projects of the company. From January 2006 to August 2008, Mr.
Lam worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu with his last position being senior in
the audit department. From September 2004 to January 2006, Mr. Lam worked
at Ernst & Young as staff accountant in the assurance and advisory business
services department.

Mr. Lam graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) in Accounting
in November 2004. He was admitted as a Certified Public Accountant and a
Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in February 2008 and January 2018, respectively.

According to the requirements of Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Lam
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in FY2025.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak is our compliance officer. Details of the qualification and
experience of Mr. Tsui have been disclose in the paragraph headed “Executive
Directors” of this section.

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak and Mr. Lam Yiu Cho are the authorised representatives of
our Company.
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INTRODUCTION

We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate
governance, as our Board believes that good and effective corporate
governance practices are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the
Shareholders of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain the success of the
Group and to create long-term value for the Shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to the Shareholders
and protecting and enhancing Shareholders’ value through good corporate
governance. Qur Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to achieve effective
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Board, save
as Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has complied with the CG
Code during FY2025.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of the code of conduct for
dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors as set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company, and there was no event of
non-compliance throughout FY2025.
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TRERWME

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should include a
balanced composition of executive and independent non-executive Directors
so that there is an independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgment.

As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Co-chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yu Quansheng (Co-chairman)
(Appointed on 13 September 2024)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak
Mr. Bian Dahai
Mr. Jiao Dejun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

Responsibilities and Functions of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of the
Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and ensures that the
requisite financial and human resources support are in place for the Group to
achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to these
Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference which are published on the respective websites of GEM and
the Company. The Board may from time to time delegate certain functions
to senior management of the Group if and when considered appropriate.
The management of day-to-day operation of the Group's businesses and
implementation of the business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the
Board has been delegated to the senior management of the Group.

EEg

AR

AAT—ERA  EFEREHIEOER - E
FEERATESREINNTES  REFE

BEB TR (EMeL B EL B L HIE -
RARERH  EFeWEAMEINDT
17

JEes i( JEFTHAH)
%*EH%?EE(%/*EET)

(PR2024F9R13HEE )
Mary Kathleen Babington % =
mEEEE
BARBEE
BEELE

BYFHUTES
BB
TR E A
ISR E

5% E S
BE— -

EEERERME
EFEIBAREEREEALELBFER
BERANER EFTRTLRENLD
T YHRRABLANBBRANER X
EAEEERARE -

R ABEEZRERE

EFXeCRUSZBEEFZES  URREMEE
FZEEETHESEREREFHIINSBEEML
ZEBEGEH N CEMBIE RARAE - B

FEUTRRERREERAARENGRE
EEEBERETRE AKENGRAEEECDE

BEREEASRENEEEBEFEARERES
GATRAE RS - R RBUR -

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " FE &5 8235 sR42 AR PR A 5 Annual Report ZE3R 2025



35

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The functions performed by the Board include but are not limited to the
following matters:

° formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring the
implementation thereof;

° deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

. approving of the Group's consolidated financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcement and other disclosure required
under the GEM Listing Rules;

° developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems;

° Board appointment and other major appointments or removal; and
° monitoring the performance of the management.

The Directors have full and timely access to information and accounts of the
Group and are entitled to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company's expense.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the various guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
Proper insurance coverage in respect of legal actions against the Directors’
liability has been arranged by the Company.
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TRERWME

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to attend relevant seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes such as external seminars organised by qualified
professionals, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to
their contribution to the Board.

From time to time, the company secretary updates and provides written training
materials on the latest developments of applicable GEM Listing Rules and
regulations to the Directors.

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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MEETINGS OF BOARD AND DIRECTORS'
ATTENDANCE RECORDS

The Board will schedule to meet at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days in
advance. The Directors are allowed to include any other matters in the agenda
that is required for discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the
Directors to be properly briefed on issues arising at the Board meetings and
to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying Board papers
together with all appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters
of the meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of each regular Board meeting and three days or such other period as
agreed before each other Board meeting.

The company secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’ minutes.
Draft and final versions of the draft minutes will be circulated to the Directors
for comments and record within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for the Directors” inspection. According to the GEM
Listing Rules, any Directors and their associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) with a material interest in the transactions to be discussed at the Board
meetings will abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions
and are not counted in the quorum of the meetings.

During FY2025 and up to the date of this report, eight Board meetings and
one Shareholders” meeting (being the annual general meeting (the “AGM") of
the Company) were held. The individual attendance record of the Board and
Shareholders’ meetings is set out as follows:
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Number of Number of Board

AGM attended/ meetings attended/

eligible to attend eligible to attend

BHE CEREE BHE SEBHE

Name of Directors EEMRE BRREFAERH EEZEEEARE

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph BELE 1/1 8/8
Mr. Yu Quansheng REB KA N/A

(Appointed on 13 September 2024) (R2024F9A13H E L T) N iE A 4/4

Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington 2 == il 8/8

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak RAEELE 171 8/8

Mr. Bian Dahai BRERE A 3/8

Mr. Jiao Dejun BEA%AE 171 4/8

Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BB E 1N 8/8

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BRERELE 171 8/8

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth EEBERAE 171 8/8
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TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Except for Mr. Bian Dahai, Mr. Jiao Dejun and Mr. Yu Quansheng, each of our
executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our Company
on 25 January 2018 and we signed letters of appointment with each of our
independent non-executive Directors on the same day. The service contracts
with our executive Directors are for an initial term of three years commencing
from the listing date on 25 January 2018 (the “Listing Date”) and can be
terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing.
For Mr. Bian Dahai, Mr. Jiao Dejun and Mr. Yu Quansheng, we signed letters
of appointment with them, as our executive Directors on 20 October 2022, 10
January 2024 and 13 September 2024, respectively. The service contracts with
our executive Directors are for initial terms of three years commencing from 21
October 2022, 10 January 2024 and 13 September 2024, respectively.

The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination
in accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts can be
renewed in accordance with our articles of association (the “Articles”) and the
applicable GEM Listing Rules.

According to our Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at every AGM of the Company, provided that
every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at AGM at least once every three years. Directors who are appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office only until the next following general meeting
after their appointment, and are subject to re-election by Shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION
MECHANISMS

The Company has Board independence evaluation mechanisms in place to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. To facilitate
an effective meeting, the Board and Board committee meeting schedules
are informed well in advance to the Directors. Meeting agenda, materials
and information are provided to the Directors prior to meetings. Any Director
can give notice to the chairman if he or she intends to include matters on
the agenda of a Board meeting. All Directors are welcome to raise enquiries,
suggestions and views during the meetings. To encourage active participation,
video conferences are arranged for Directors who are unable to attend in
person. The Board has conducted an annual review on these mechanisms and
considered they are in place and are effective.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also enhance the quality of performance of
the Company.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of its business strategy. All Board appointments will continue to
be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge.

The Board Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company at
https.//qihouseholdings.com/ for public information.

The nomination committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness. The nomination committee will discuss
any revision that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

Targets have been set to maintain the Board with at least 20% of members
being made up of executive Directors, together with an appropriate level of
female member, which shall be at least one female member.

The Board has achieved the aforementioned targets during FY2025. As at the
date of this report, the Board comprises nine directors, three of which are
independent non-executive directors and has one female member.

CO-CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph currently assumes the role of both co-chairman of the
Company and chief executive of the Company. In view that Mr. Tong has been
assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating and managing our Group
and the rapid development of our Group, the Board believes that with the
support of Mr. Tong's extensive experience and knowledge in the business of
the Group, vesting the roles of both co-chairman and chief executive officer of
our Company in Mr. Tong strengthens the solid and consistent leadership and
thereby allows for efficient business planning and decision which is in the best
interest to our Group. Mr. Tong delegates the role and responsibilities including
operations, management, business development and strategy planning of
the Group to other executive Directors. The Board will review the need of
appointing suitable candidate to assume the role of chief executive when
necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee to
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the CG Code which included developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this
report.

Audit Committee

We established our audit committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph D.3.3
and D.3.7 of the CG Code Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors
passed on 5 January 2018. The terms of reference were amended and restated
on 4 January 2019, with respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules.
The primary duties of our audit committee are, among other things, to make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of external auditor, review the financial statements and provide advice in
respect of financial reporting, oversee our financial reporting process, internal
control, risk management systems and audit process, and perform other duties
and responsibilities assigned by our Board.

At present, our audit committee comprises Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles,
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, all being independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles is the chairman of our audit
committee.

During FY2025 and up to the date of this report, the audit committee held
three meetings, at which the audit committee has reviewed and discussed the
Company's consolidated financial results, including the accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group, the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code, the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems and the Group's internal audit function and recommended to the Board
for consideration the same and the re-appointment of Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the Company's external independent
auditor at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
https.//qihouseholdings.com/ for public information.
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During FY2025 and up to the date of this report, the attendance of each
member at the audit committee meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors

TRERBME

R2ABTHFELEEAREAE  SXE N
FEZEZEEEZMNBEROT:

Number of attendance/
number of meetings

EEnE EREHERE BITRHE
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles (Chairman) 15X REE(FE) 3/3
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin BEELAE 3/3
Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth HEELRE 3/3

Remuneration Committee

We established our remuneration committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph E.1.2 of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices pursuant to a resolution of our
Directors passed on 30 December 2022. The primary duties of our remuneration
committee are to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals, make recommendations to our Board on the remuneration package
of our Directors and senior management and ensure none of our Directors
determines his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
https.//qihouseholdings.com/ for public information.

At present, our remuneration committee comprises Mr. Tsui Wing Tak, being
our executive Director, and two of our independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth. Mr. Sit Hoi Wah
Kenneth is the chairman of our remuneration committee.

During FY2025 and up to the date of this report, the committee met on 21
June 2024, 13 September 2024 and 27 June 2025 with 100% attendance by all
committee members.

Nomination Committee

We established our nomination committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices pursuant to a resolution of our Directors passed on 5 January 2018.
The terms of reference were amended and restated on 4 January 2019, with
respect to the update of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of our
nomination committee are to review the structure, size and composition of our
Board, and select or make recommendations on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships.
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At present, our nomination committee comprises Mr. Tong Tang Joseph, being
our co-chairman and executive Director, Ms. Mary Kathleen Bahington, being
our executive Director, and our three independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth and Mr. Tsang Wai Yin.
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph is the chairman of our nomination committee.

The terms of reference is available on the website of the Company at
https.//qihouseholdings.com/ for public information.

During FY2025 and up to the date of this report, the committee met on 21
June 2024, 13 September 2024 and 27 June 2025 with 100% attendance by all
committee members.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For FY2025, Grant Thornton was engaged as the Group's independent auditor.
Apart from the provision of annual audit services, Grant Thornton also provided
the non-audit services to the Company.

For FY2025, the remuneration paid or payable to Grant Thornton in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided is set out below:
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Audit services B 850.0
Non-audit services FEEZRBE 56.0

DIRECTORS" AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects in annual, and
interim reports, and other financial disclosures required by the GEM Listing
Rules. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group’s results and cash flows
for FY2025 and are properly prepared on a going concern basis in accordance
with the applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

The management will provide the Board with monthly updates giving a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties under Rule 5.01 and Chapter 17 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern.

In addition, Grant Thornton has stated in the Independent Auditor's Report its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for FY2025.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of the
Group's system of internal controls and risk assessment. A review of internal
controls systems of different operations was conducted by an independent
external risk advisory firm to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy internal
controls system.

The Board considered the internal controls system of the Group to be adequate
and effective for FY2025. The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs and budget which
are considered to be adequate for FY2025.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the GEM
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.

The Company has established and maintained the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination inside information. The Company
has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors in accordance with Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other
employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group has strictly
prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or insider information or any use of
such information for the advantage of himself or others. Any inside information
and any information which may potentially constitute inside information is
promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board
to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of GEM and the Company in due course.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yiu Cho (#K 248 ), aged 43, is our company secretary. He rejoined
our Group in 1 January 2024. The biographical details of Mr. Lam are set out
under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”.

The primary duties of the company secretary include, but are not limited to, the
following: (i) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and that the activities
of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively; (ii) to assist the
chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for meetings and disseminate
such documents to the Directors and Board committees in a timely manner; (iii)
to timely disseminate announcements and information relating to the Group;
and (iv) to maintain formal minutes of the Board meetings and other Board
committee meetings.

During FY2025, the company secretary of the Company had confirmed that he
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training the accordance
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM").

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Article 64 of the Articles, EGMs shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene the EGM
and the proposed agenda.
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Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that the Company maintains
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, use AGM or other
meetings to communicate with Shareholders and encourage their participation.

Information will be communicated to the Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders through convening the AGM or general meetings, publication of
annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements, circulars as well
as all the disclosures submitted to the respective websites of GEM and the
Company.

A Shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by the Board at the
Board meeting held on 25 January 2018 aiming at providing the Shareholders
and potential investors with ready and timely access to balanced and
understandable information of the Company. The Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder's communication policy
and considered it to be effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’'s constitutional documents during
FY2025.

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
posted on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Group has adopted a whistle-blowing policy to allow the employees
or other stakeholders (such as suppliers and customers) of the Group to
raise concerns, in confidence, with the audit committee about the possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Group.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group does not allow and tolerate any forms of corruption. The Group has
adopted the Anti-corruption Policy, which outlines the Group’s zero-tolerance
stance against bribery and corruption and sets out the responsibilities of all
business units and employees of the Group to comply with the applicable
anti-corruption laws, rules and regulations.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company's dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company's profit and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the its
future growth. In proposing any dividend, the Company would consider various
factors including but not limited to (i) the Group's financial results, {ii) the
financial condition of the Group, (iii) the Group's working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans, (iv) the Group’s
liquidity position, (v) economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position
of the Group and (vi) any other factors that our Board may consider appropriate.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

According to the Company’s Articles and the Companies Ordinance, dividends
must be paid in cash or be satisfied wholly or partly in the form of allotment of
shares of the Company. The Board may consider the issuance of bonus shares
on a basis permitted by the applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
dividend policy at any time.
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The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Headquartered in Hong Kong, we engage in (i) the sale, distribution and rental
of furniture and home accessories which is operating under the brand name
“TREE"; (i) the distribution and licensing of our intellectual property rights
of “TREE"; (iii) the operation of TREE Café in Flagship Store; (iv) the provision
of furniture agency services; and (v) the provision of styling and consulting
services; (vi) the provision of consumer loan services; and (vii) sale of trading
parts and automation equipment, including sales of parts of visual hardware
products, development and sales of visual software and system, and provision
of technical services.

As at the date of this report, we operated two “TREE” retail stores in Hong
Kong namely our Flagship store in Ap Lei Chau and our Sha Tin store in addition
to our online platform. We have commenced online sales since May 2019. We
offer a variety of (a) furniture including tables, chairs, storage solutions, sofas
and beds; and (b) home accessories including kitchenware, bed and bathroom
related products, jars, cushions, mattresses, utensils and baskets.

We acquired Italiving in December 2018, which is principally engaged in the
provision of furniture agency service in Hong Kong. We disposed of Italiving in
February 2025 due to the financial performance and future prospect of Italiving.

OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

In January 2022, we acquired Super Easy, which is principally engaged in the
provision of consumer loan services.

We started a new business by setting up a new wholly-foreign owned
enterprise named Hefei Qijia in the PRC in January 2024 and in March 2024,
Hefei Qijia acquired Hefei Human Vision. Our PRC subsidiaries engage in
development and sales of visual hardware products, including sales of parts
of visual hardware products, development and sales of visual software and
system, and provision of technical services. The visual hardware products
mainly include display backlight AOI equipment, display glass AQI equipment,
display appearance inspection equipment, which are mainly used for optical
inspection of various semi-finished products in display production including
inspection of foreign objects, scratch, etc.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for FY2025 is set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for FY2025 and the financial position of the Company
and the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set forth in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 68 to 178 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for FY2025.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2025, the Company'’s issued share capital was HK$15,840,000
and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 1,584,000,000 of HK$0.01
each.

Details of the Company's share capital are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the distributable reserves of the Company and
of the Group during FY2025 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during FY2025 amounted to
approximately HK$21,780 (FY2024: HK$25,000).

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has taken out directors and officers liability insurance to cover
liabilities arising from legal action against the Directors.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group, as
extracted from the Prospectus and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the years ended 31 March 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025 is set
out on pages 179 to 180 of this report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance
with the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and set out below.

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Group to grant
options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group and/or to enable our Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to our Group or any entity in which any member of our Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

(b) Participants
Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, be entitled but shall not be
bound at any time within a period of 10 years commencing from the date
of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the
grant of an option to any person belonging to the following classes:

(a)  any employee (whether full time or part time, including the
Directors (including any non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Director)) of our Company, any of our subsidiaries
(within the meaning of Companies Ordinance) or any Invested
Entity (an "Eligible Employee”);

(b)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of our Group or
any Invested Entity;

(c)  any customer of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

(e} any Shareholder of any member of our Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or
equity who in the opinion of our Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of our Group; and
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(c)

(g any other groups or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
our Group,

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer for the grant
of an option may be made to any company wholly-owned by one or more
eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by our Company for
the subscription of shares or other securities of our Group to any person
who falls within any of the above classes of eligible participants shall
not, by itself, unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer under
the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our Directors from
time to time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to such eligible
participant’s contribution to the development and growth of our Group.

Maximum number of shares

(a)  The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by our Group shall not exceed 30% of
our share capital in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option
schemes adopted by our Group if the grant of such options will
result in the limit referred herein being exceeded.

(b)  The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of our Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
our Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of our share capital
in issue as at the date on which dealings in our shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the
“General Scheme Limit").
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(d)

(c) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) below, our
Company may seek approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that the
total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group shall not exceed 10% of
our share capital in issue as at the date of approval of the limit
and for the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of our Group) previously granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group will not
be counted.

(d) Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above, our
Company may seek separate Shareholders” approval in general
meeting to grant options under the Share Option Scheme
beyond the General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the extended
limit referred to in (c) above to eligible participants specifically
identified by our Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (v) below, the total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of our
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option under the
Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of our issued share capital for the time being. Where any
further grant of options under the Share Option Scheme to a grantee
would result in our shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of our Group in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of our share capital in issue, such
further grant shall be separately approved by our Shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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(e) Grant of options to core connected persons

(a)  Without prejudice to (b) below, the making of an offer under the
Share Option Scheme to any of our Director, chief executive or
substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates
shall be approved by our independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who or whose
close associate is the proposed grantee of an option under the
Share Option Scheme).

(b)  Without prejudice to (a) above, where any grant of options under
the Share Option Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or our
independent non-executive Director or any of their respective
associates, would result in our shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option Scheme
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of our share capital
in issue; and

(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
our shares at the offer date of each offer, in excess of
HK$5 million;

such further grant of options shall be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee, his
associates and all our core connected persons shall abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our Shareholders under
paragraphs (iii), (iv) and (v) above, our Company shall send a circular to
our Shareholders containing the information required under the GEM
Listing Rules and where the GEM Listing Rules shall so require, the vote
at the Shareholders’ meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval
shall be taken on a poll with those persons required under the GEM
Listing Rules abstaining from voting.
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(f)

(g)

Time of acceptance and exercise of an option

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and by no other
person) for a period of up to 21 days from the date, which shall be a
business day, on which the offer is made to the eligible participant.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant in respect
of all shares which are offered to such eligible participant when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
eligible participant together with a remittance in favour of our Company
of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
our Company within such time as may be specified in the offer (which
shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant in respect of less
than the number of shares which are offered provided that it is accepted
in respect of a board lot for dealings in our shares on GEM or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the duplicate
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by such eligible
participant and received by our Company together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not
be later than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in no
circumstances be refundable.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by our Directors to the grantee thereof (provided always that such period
shall not be more than 10 years from the offer date of that option), and
in the absence of such determination, from the date of the grant of such
option to the earlier of (aa) the date on which such option lapses under
the relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (bb) the date
falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

Subscription price for Shares

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 5 January
2018, the subscription price in respect of any option shall, be at the
discretion of our Directors, provided that the subscription price for
Shares shall not be less than the highest of:

(a)  The closing price of our Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet for trade in one or more board lots of our
Shares on the date of the offer of grant;
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(b)  The average closing price of our Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets in one or more board lots of
our Shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of the offer of grant; and

(c) The nominal value of the Shares on the date of grant of the
option.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2025.

Pursuant to Rule 23.07(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the number of options
available for grant under the Share Option Scheme are set out below:

As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 158,400,000
Add: Options lapsed during the year —
Less: Options granted during the year —
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 158,400,000
Add: Options lapsed during the year —
Less: Options granted during the year —
At 31 March 2025 158,400,000

Pursuant to Rule 23.09(3) of the GEM Listing Rules, as at 31 March 2024, 21
June 2024 (date of the 2024 Annual Report), 31 March 2025 and the date of
this report, the total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme were 158,400,000 Shares, representing 10% of the Company’s
issued share capital (1,584,000,000 shares), as at 31 March 2024, 21 June 2024
(date of the 2024 Annual Report), 31 March 2025 and the date of this report.

Since the date of adoption of the Scheme, as at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2025, and up to the date of this report, no option has been
granted, exercised, cancelled, or lapsed, and none has been outstanding under
the Scheme. There was no vesting period of options granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

MANDATORY PROVIDENT FUND SCHEME

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the laws of Hong Kong) for employees under the jurisdictions of
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
monthly income, subject to a cap of HK$1,500. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.
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At 31 March 2024 and 2025, the Group had no forfeited contribution available
to reduce its existing level of contributions to the retirement benefit schemes in
future years.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme of the Company as disclosed above, there
is no equity-linked agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
FY2025 or subsisted at the end of FY2025.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's shares were successfully listed on GEM on 25 January 2018.
Save as the Listing, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
FY2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During FY2025, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for about
73.3% of the Group's cost of materials and the largest supplier accounted for
about 21.3% of the cost of materials.

During FY2025, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for about
42.5% of the Group's total revenue and the largest customer accounted for
about 21.1% of the total revenue.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the shares) had
any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers
referred to above.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that the Directors, secretary and other officers and every
auditor for the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in
or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Company and its subsidiaries during FY2025.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2025 and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph (Co-chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yu Quansheng (Co-chairman)
(Appointed on 13 September 2024)
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak
Mr. Bian Dahai
Mr. Jiao Dejun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles

Mr. Tsang Wai Yin

Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management”.

Article 112 of the Articles provides that any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Article 108(a) to 108(c) of the Articles provides that (1) one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if their number is a not multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at
each AGM, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years; (2) a retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting
at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election.

Mr. Yu Quansheng, Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr.
Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth will retire at the AGM and all of them, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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The Company has received written confirmations of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yeung Man Chung
Charles, Mr. Tsang Wai Yin and Mr. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth, pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Company still
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which any of the
Company, or any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of FY2025 or at any time during FY2025.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of Mr. Tong Tang Joseph and Tiptop
Honour Limited (“Tiptop”) (the “Controlling Shareholders”) have entered into
the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Deed of Non-Competition
Undertakings”) in favour of the Company (for its own and on behalf of all members
of the Group) on 5 January 2018, pursuant to which each of the Controlling
Shareholders, irrevocably and unconditionally, undertakes and covenants with the
Company that during the period that the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings
remains effective, each of the Controlling Shareholders shall not, and shall procure
that none of his/her/its associates (except any member of the Group), directly
or indirectly (other than through the Group) carry on, participate, hold, engage,
being interested in, acquire or operate, directly or indirectly, or provide any form of
assistance to any person, firm or company to conduct any business in competition
with or likely to be in competition with the Group’s existing business activity and
any business activities which may be undertaken by the Group from time to time.
Details of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings have been set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition
Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received the annual declaration from each of the Controlling
Shareholders in respect of their respective compliance with the terms of the
Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during FY2025. The independent
non-executive Directors, having reviewed the annual declarations and made
reasonable enquiry, were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have
complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition Undertakings during
FY2025 and up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Except for Mr. Bian Dahai, Mr. Jiao Dejun and Mr. Yu Quansheng, each of our
executive Directors has entered into a service contract with our Company
for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other.

Our executive Director, Mr. Bian Dahai has entered into a letter of appointment
with our Company for a term of three years commencing from 1 October 2020,
which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Our executive Director, Mr. Jiao Dejun has entered into a letter of appointment
with our Company for a term of three years commencing from 10 January 2024,
which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

Our executive Director, Mr. Yu Quansheng has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from 13
September 2024, which may terminated by not less than three months' notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with our Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee was established for reviewing and determining
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management with reference to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

Interests and short positions of the Company's
Directors and chief executives in the Company’s
shares, underlying shares and debentures and the
Company'’s associated corporations

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of the Company's
Directors in the Company's shares, underlying shares or debentures which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ),
or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register as referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of
dealings” as contained in Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i)  Long position in the Company’s shares
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Number of Percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest shares held" shareholding
EEgL EEME FrERBEHEBD REB DL
Mr. Tong Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 745,860,000 (L) 47.09%
kA& RRIEEENE = (H532)

Beneficial owner 61,900,000 3.91%

EmfEAA
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Interest in a controlled corporation 59,400,000 (L) 3.75%

(Note 3)

Mary Kathleen Babington % + PSR A B R HE 2 (MY RE3)
Mr. Bian Dahai Beneficial Owner 8,000,000 (L) 0.51%
BABEE EmlAA
Notes: B 5
1. The letter “L" denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part

XV of the SF0) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 47.09% by Tiptop. Tiptop is wholly-owned
by Mr. Tong.

3. The Company is owned as to 3.75% by Rothley Investment Limited
(“Rothley”). Rothley is wholly-owned by Ms. Babington. Under the SFO,
Ms. Babington is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares
held by Rothley.
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Saved as disclosed above, as of 31 March 2025, none of the Company’s
Directors and chief executives and their respective associates had or is deemed
to have any interest or short positions in the Company's shares, underlying
shares or debentures or the Company's associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register as referred
to herein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the “required standard of dealing” as contained in
Chapter 5 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Interests and short positions of substantial
Shareholders in the Company’s shares, underlying
shares and debentures and the Company’s associated
corporations

As at 31 March 2025, so far as the Company's Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Company’s
shares or underlying shares which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who, directly or indirectly, were interested in 5% or more of the issued voting
shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any member of the Company:

(i)  Long position in the Company's shares
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i) RELIRDOER

Interests in Percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares!" shareholding
BREEE 2 BRME R ER REBAL
Ms. Shum Yuet Wah Anna Interest of spouse (Note 3) 807,760,000 (L) 50.99%
gLt BB % (M E3)
Tiptop Beneficial owner (Note 2) 745,860,000 (L) 47.09%
28 5o TINGEY)
Wauxing Hehe Holding Group Beneficial owner (Note 4) 127,240,000 (L) 8.03%

Co., Limited

ITHNAEREEERRA e AT
Ms. Yang Songmei Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 5) 127,240,000 (L) 8.03%
BRiERL PR 1% B 2 (1 5E5)
Ms. Li Jing A concert party to an agreement to buy shares (Note 6) 127,240,000 (L) 8.03%
FHRL BlRipZEN— 2 BTPA L ()
Mr. Xu Qiang Beneficial owner (Note 7) 115,660,000 (L) 7.30%
GE:pite Enme A
Notes: B2
1. The letter "L denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FERIUEZATRZEROGFOFE]

XV of the SF0) in such shares.

2. The Company is owned as to 47.09% by Tiptop.
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3. Tiptop is wholly-owned by Mr. Tong, the Company’s co-chairman, one
of the Company’s executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders. Ms.
Shum Yuet Wah Anna is the spouse of Mr. Tong. Under the SFO, Ms.
Shum Yuet Wah Anna is deemed to be interested in all the Company's
shares in which Mr. Tong is interested.

4. The Company is owned as to 8.03% by Wuxing Hehe Holding Group Co.,
Limited.

5. Wuxing Hehe Holding Group Co., Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Yang
Songmei, is interested in 127,240,000 ordinary share of the Company.

6. Ms. Li Jing and Ms. Yang Songmei entered into an agreement in which
Ms. Li Jing acquired Ms. Yang Songmei's 100% interest in Wuxing Hehe
Holding Group Co., Limited at the consideration of HKD76.344 million to
be paid on or before 30 June 2025. The 100% interest in Wuxing Hehe
Holding Group Co., Limited will be transferred to Ms. Li Jing after the
settlement of the consideration.

7. Mr. Xu is interested in 115,660,000 ordinary shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors were not aware
of any other persons/entities (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the
issued voting shares of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during FY2025 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

COMPETING BUSINESS AND CONFLICT OF
INTEREST

As confirmed by the Directors, Controlling Shareholders and their respective
close associates do not have any interests in any business, apart from the
business operated by members of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during FY2025.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Directors
confirm that the Company maintained the public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During FY2025, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are not exempted under Rule 20.71 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions carried in the ordinary
course of business are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 33 to 46 of
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2025 were audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited, the independent auditor, who shall retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
ZXZN Qi-House Holdings Limited

Tong Tang Joseph
Co-chairman and Chief Executive Officer

27 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of ZXZN Qi-House Holdings Limited
(Formerly known as Qi-House Holdings Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZXZN Qi-House
Holdings Limited (Formerly known as Qi-House Holdings Limited) (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to
178, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Qur responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. The matter was addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on the matter.

Key Audit Matter
BREENEE

B EFTEH
MREAFHEERBERMANERHE  RAY
AHREEMBRRNEAZRA/EENEE - &
LERARERMEAERGAVBHRRLER
ERRETREN HMTSHELEREH
BERENER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNERNAEERRETSEE

Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables and loan receivables

EZRAMBURBEARBERERNRERAE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 3, 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
2345 A W% W& M 210 - 3%20 ©

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had trade and other receivables
and loan receivables of HK$59,882,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$2,625,000) and HK$21,283,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$596,000) respectively, which falls within the scope of expected
credit losses (“ECL") model for impairment assessment.

R2025F3A31H - BEEEMNES R EM BB KX
JE U E 3k 5 Bl 559,882,000/8 T (B TEEE EE 18 E

$£2,625,0007% 7T) 521,283,000/ T (DB FEHE EE 8
5 3K596,0008 70) MR EFEMEEREHEZEEEIE
BRGER -

The Group recognises ECL allowance based on valuations performed
by an independent qualified professional valuer (the “Valuer”), by
taking into account the credit loss experience, ageing, repayment
history, past due status of trade receivables and existing market
condition and forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period, all of which involve a significant degree of management
judgements.
EXEEEARBYSEREXAEM(EERMDETHME
BEEREDEEEERE  EPLAREZRKFIEDN
FEEBRLR KRk EXNEHE  BHMNRNURERT
TAREREMROAEEGTEHET 2P REKXRE
IR A -

We identified the provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables and loan receivables as a key audit matter due to
its significance to the consolidated financial statements and the
significant degree of management’s estimation and judgement
involved in assessing the ECL allowance.

BN E 5 & H e WK IE LA & IS ey R E B R
mEMBREMEBEX BRI HESHEEBHEHEY
FAEREEHEREARAE  HHMBEES R HAM
FEMFRIBIA I R E TR R R E R B R p AR E R =
I5 °

Our audit procedures in relation to provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables and loan receivables included the following:
BMBEMES & H it WK FIE A & R E RO E @8
EREREFEEBEATEE:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuer and obtaining an understanding of their scope of work
and their terms of engagement;
FIEMEMEKTE BN EEEEH  THRATE
HENZRBIGRT

Assessing the reasonableness of estimates and judgement
made by the Valuer on ECL allowance by examining the
information used by the Valuer to form such judgements;
FRESHEMNREEREEEEBERELN A
MG RANER  AhEEMREREEEERS
EEHO G RABRT S

Testing, on a sample basis, the ageing report by comparing
with the relevant invoices and other supporting documents for
trade receivables and loan agreements for loan receivables;

— HNEZRUFEREBEREFRNENRBGENS @ B
BLLBAREREEEMERXMF - B REK

W&

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of ECL allowance
using the ECL rates adopted by the Group; and

TR E£EMRANEREEEERE  MER
EEHACEEFEHRERSTER R

Evaluating the appropriateness of the ECL rates applied for
loan receivables by reference to the historical recovery rates,
probability of default, exposure at default, loss given default
and forward-looking information with the assistance of our
valuation specialists.

EfHEZROBET SH2EFELKOE - &
DR BORR  BROBELATELEER
AEEKERTANTEREEEEXESREE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2025 annual report of the Company, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

B R BARE

Htt 58

E=ZRYUHEBERRR - HMEEREMAT
RN BERFNBFFRANGEE - ETRELR
BB RERRBMNZBE RS -

BPEGRAMBRERNBERALNREEMBES
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BERMYRAMBRRNER  RANEE
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BRALE ISR - ZEREME TR ITHE - MRRK
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BEZFE-EEHHEH HRBEMRSE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

BREMRET EE B RRAR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

27 June 2025

Lam Kam Fung
Practising Certificate No.: P07822
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

GEBRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2025 2024
2025F 20244F
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
b &F FET FET
(Restated)
(&)
Continuing operations BESEER
Revenue W 4 99,218 61,700
Cost of sales & A (30,426) (23,109)
Gross profit EF 68,792 38,591
Other income H g A 5 4,599 7,253
Selling and marketing expenses HEMMIGHERRX (28,620) (30,390)
Administrative expenses TR X (25,622) (23,939)
Provision for impairment of trade and other & 5 K Efth B IR TB LA K EW E
receivables and loan receivables, net AR B ST 6 (2,898) (302)
Provision for impairment of goodwill EESDEREREE ] 17 — (8,694)
Fair value change of financial asset at fair B BB X AR BEIIER(E B
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") BERERAAEBEIEKDO 2/
BEMNALEBEY (293) —
Finance costs B 7 B AR (1,613) (1,195)
Profit/(Loss) before income tax MRETEBLANRR(BE) 8 14,345 (18,676)
Income tax (expensel/credit Fs#(Ax) He 17 (3,157) 80
Profit/(Loss) for the year from BEREEBEMEBERERN
continuing operations (B8]) 11,188 (18,596)
Discontinued operations ERLEREER
(Loss)/Profit for the period/year from ERIEELEBRSEHEANER
discontinued operation (E518),/ &% 9 (9,580) 1,322
Profit/(Loss) for the year FrEA(BE) 1,608 (17,274)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meHtEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

2025 2024
20255 20245
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
M & FET FE T
(Restated)
(r &= 51)
Profit/(Loss) for the year FRER(EER) 1,608 (17,274)
Other comprehensive income/ Hth2mEuzE - (BAX)
(expense)
Items that will be reclassified subsequently H 1& 5.2 %7 7> 8 2 18 25 A
to profit or loss EHH
Actuarial loss on long service payment RS (RBERB <))
("LSP") BEER 31 (18) (100)
Exchange loss on translation of financial % &8 9 2 75 81 15 3R % A9
statements of foreign operations & H B 18 (113) (69)
(131) (169)
Total comprehensive income/ FREEKE (X)) AHE
(expense) for the year 1,477 (17,443)
Total comprehensive income/ ARG ERBEEAEBEEARAZE
(expense) for the year attributableto U3 (B ) 425
equity holders of the Company
— From continuing operations — REBELEER 11,057 (18,765)
— From discontinued operations —REERIEEEER (9,580) 1322
1,477 (17,443)
Earning/(Loss) per share attributable AT EZIETHAEN
to equity holders of the Company BRERN (FHE)
(expressed in HK cents per share) (LA BB AL 7R)
Basic and diluted AR BE 12
— From continuing operations — REFEREET 0.70 (1.18)
— From discontinued operations — RECKRIELEER (0.60) 0.08

The notes on pages 75 to 178 are an integral part of these consolidated — SF75Z=1781 Ff & MY 5% Jh R 45 & B 75 SR R MO 4H A
financial statements. ANy
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 March 2025  #20254F3A31H

2025 2024
20255 20244F
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$'000
N3 FET FE T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREBE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BENMEE 4 9,350 12,616
Intangible assets BVEE 15 565 735
Goodwill GES 17 — —
Financial assets at FVTPL BBBHFERALBEIERN
EREE 18 2,427 —
Cash surrender value of life insurance ASRENBLHRESER 19 2,080 2,023
Loan receivables B U & 3K 21 18,786 211
Deferred tax assets EIEF IR E E 27 610 374
33,818 15,959
Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 20 11,677 11,833
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H bW RIE 21 69,761 51,827
Loan receivables B E R 21 2,497 14,597
Tax recoverable AT Y [ 7 18 — 398
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MRS 22 961 12,192
84,896 90,847
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAMERFIE 23 48,537 31,445
Contract liabilities EHAaE 24 6,240 6,987
Bank borrowings RITEE 25 13,785 20,274
Lease liabilities HEARE 26 6,575 8,121
Tax payables JE A 7 1E 3,934 —
79,071 66,827
Net current assets REBEEFE 5,825 24,020
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 39,643 39,979
Non-current liabilities kFBERE
Lease liabilities HEEE 26 241 4,428
Other payables H fth & {5 508 23 425 281
2,896 4,709
Net assets EERE 36,747 35270

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " FE &5 8235 sR42 AR PR A 5 Annual Report ZE3R 2025




/1

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 March 2025  #20254F3A31H

2025 2024
2025F 20244F
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
M & FET FET
EQUITY g
Share capital i @N 28 15,840 15,840
Reserves 1 20,907 19,430
Total equity BRER 36,747 35,270
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B ®hEE
Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 75 to 178 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

FIE18E FTH M I AR A B A5 R A 4B A

B -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

Share Share Capital Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* losses* equity
kEx  ROEE* HxREr ERLRE RiER* HRs
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$000
TET TET TFET TFET TFET FET
(Note 29(a)) {Note 29/b))
(We2e) (W E290)
Balance at 1 April 2023 RABEIF1BNE S 15,840 31,564 5474 67 (232) 52,113
Loss for the year FRER - - — — (17,274) (17,274)
Other comprehensive expense Htt2ERX
— Actuarial loss on long service —RERBeBERSE
payment fnote 37 (Hi31) — - - — (100) (100)
— Exchange loss on translation of —REBNERHER
financial statements of foreign FMELEE
operations — — — (69) — (69)
Total comprehensive expense for ~ FR2EH X B
the year — — — (69) (17.374) (17443)
Balance at 31 March 2024 and R204F3A3B R
1 Aprl 2024 NWESFIAM 8 16,840 31,564 5474 ) (17,606) 3,270
Profit for the year EREH - - — - 1,608 1,608
Other comprehensive expense Ht2EHAX
— Actuarial loss on long service —REBRKEREERE
payment (note 31) (Higts1) — — = = (18) (18)
— Exchange loss on translation of —AEENEBTER
financial statements of foreign FMELEE
operations — — — (113) — (13)
Total comprehensive (expense)) ~ FRZE (%) K
income for the year am — — — (113) 1,590 1,411
Balance at 31 March 2025 RABEI[NANLE 8 15,840 31,564 5,474 (115) (16,016) 36,741

*

The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$20,907,000 (2024:

HK$19,430,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

*

fi 8 PR B 15 AR SR B 0 iR & B 5 IR R R Y
1%20,907,0007% 7T (2024 : 19,430,000 7T) ©

The notes on pages 75 to 178 are an integral part of these consolidated  S575ZE1781 BT & MY 5% Jh R 45 & B 765 SR % MO 4H A
financial statements. B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERLRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

2025 2024
20255 20244
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
Hr &t FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RETFHHIERERE
Profit/(Loss) before income tax BRAERAET(BE)
— Continuing operations —BEEEER 14,345 (18,676)
— Discontinued operations —BRIEREEY 9 (9,580) 1,603
4,765 (17,073)
Adjustments for: HTINBBEELNFHE:
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERZEBRE
equipment 10,070 10,291
Amortisation of intangible assets BREESE 170 223
Interest income FLB A (14) (19
Interest expenses A EHX 1613 1673
Other income H WA (510) (510)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations HEBRIFEEEBEIR 9,376 —
Loss on write-off of loan receivables FE i B R 8 S 48 683 —
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of WE-—EBARZEERE
a subsidiary g — (779)
(Gain)/Loss on modification of lease CHE-PAU&IVE § (29) 128
Provision for impairment of goodwill e R ERE = 8,694
Provision for impairment of trade and other B 5 K Hh FE WK IE DA &
receivables and loan receivables JE U & R R B 2,898 330
Fair value gain on cash surrender value of life ~ AZRBORAOB L EBEN
insurance NABEBERE (57) (45)
Fair value gain of financial asset at FVTPL BWBRZAALEBIERD
SHEEMNDABERE 293 —
Fair value gain in contingent consideration ENXARENDABERE
payables (663) —
Write-off of property, plant and equipment M - BB &R = 2
Operating cash flows before working capital LEESEYPINLERERE
changes 28,595 2915
Decrease in inventories FERYD 156 2,429
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K o & Y BB N (49,767) (9,723)
Increase in loan receivables [ e=E il (1.417) (4,402)
Increase in trade and other payables 25 & H b R RIBE 31,599 6,794
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities EHEECRD),/ (747) 1,070
Cash generated from/(used in) from operations ~ &X & F7 15,/ (FT ) IR & 2,419 (917)
Income tax refunded BREMGH 710 976
Interest received 28 14 19
Net cash generated from/used in) MEZB AR () Bz FEE
operating activities 3143 78
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2025 2024
2025F 20244
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
Hr &t FET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities RETHFESHEERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BMEREH (54) (153)
Purchase of intangible assets BEBWEE — (847)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand &M% - BE R R ETERE
equipment — 6
Payment for consideration payables YIREARE (4,604) —
Net cash inflows from disposal of discontinued HEBRIEELEB I RERAFE 38
operations 2,436 —
Investment in financial assets at FVTPL FRBEERAABEIIRDY
CREENKRE (675) —
Cash outflow arising on acquisition of a subsidiary g & — BT B AR EE 2R &R H 37 — (281)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHHHELFE (2,897) (1,275)
Cash flows from financing activities BETHFBHESRE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITBEMBSRA 35(a) 27,254 51,503
Repayment of bank borrowings ERERITEE 35(a) (28,049) (37,693)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEEBBENAEHH 35(a) (8,956) (8,158)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBENFEHRY 35(8) (817) (653)
Interests paid BAH S 35(a) (796) (1,020)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing BEZEHHAE) FiRELFE
activities (11,364) 3,979
Net (decrease)/increase in cashandcash BERBEEEYW R L) EMNFHE
equivalents (11,118) 2,782
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INETE RGBT L (113) (69)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginningof R ENHNB L RBLEEY
the year 12,192 9,479
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end ofthe £EXEERBESEEY
year 961 12,192
Analysis of the balances of cashandcash RERBRLSEEBUE BN AT
equivalents
Bank balances RITHEH 1,712 13,400
Bank averdraft RITEX (751) (1,208)
961 12,192

The notes on pages 75 to 178 are an integral part of these consolidated 5575 178E Fr & Bt 5% Jh AN 47 & BA 75 S R 9 4H 7K
financial statements. o o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

GENERAL INFORMATION

ZXZN Qi-House Holdings Limited (formerly known as Qi-House Holdings
Limited) (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's registered
office is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.0. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business
is 28/F., Horizon Plaza, 2 Lee Wing Street, Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale,
distribution and rental of furniture and home accessories, distribution
and licencing of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling,
consulting services and furniture agency services and the operation of a
café in the prior year. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
ceased its operation of furniture agency services, detail of which is
disclosed in note 9. In addition, starting from the year ended 31 March
2025, the Group has principally commenced the business in development
and sales of trading parts and automation equipment. The details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in note
16.

The directors consider the immediate and ultimate holding company
of the Company to be Tiptop Honour Limited (“Tiptop“), a company
incorporated in Samoa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
were approved for issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2025.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

21 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"), which collective term includes all
applicable individual HKFRS accounting standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and Interpretations (“"HKFRS Accounting
Standards”) and the accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continved)

The material accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of
new and amended HKFRS Accounting Standards and the impacts on
the Group's consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in
Note 2.2.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments,
which are carried at fair value. The measurement bases are fully
described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on the management’s
best knowledge and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

The presentation of comparative information in respect of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 March 2024 has been restated in
order to disclose the discontinued operations separately from
continuing operations. As the restatements do not affect the
consolidated statement of financial position, it is not necessary
to disclose comparative information as at 1 April 2024. For the
details of the discontinued operations, please refer to note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

2.

EXRSTEHRBEw®

2.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy

(a)

Amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
effective for annual periods beginning on 1 April
2024

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following amended HKFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group's
operations and effective for the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1
April 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

and HKFRS 7

The adoption of the amended HKFRS Accounting
Standards had no material impact on how the results and
financial position for the current and prior periods have
been prepared and presented.

2. BEABSTHEME )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting
Standards

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRS
Accounting Standards have been published but are not yet
effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the

and HKFRS 7 Classification and

EAGTHEHME
22 B HEEHH 5
(b) OB M R £ B0 BB B S
LR E B R

%$ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ
B BETHIREEITNER
M HEEA G EN D E M
BREAREN  BREREER

Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements

to HKFRS Accounting

Standards — Volume 112
Amendments to Hong Presentation of Financial
Kong Interpretation 5 Statements —
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027

4 Effective date not yet determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continved)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

(b)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of the
pronouncement. Information on new and amended HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are expected to have impact
on the Group's accounting policies is provided below.
Other new and amended HKFRS Accounting Standards
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 "Presentation of Financial
Statements”. It carries forward many of the existing
requirements in HKAS 1, with limited changes, and
some HKAS 1 requirements will be moved to HKAS 8
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures”.

HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition and
measurement of financial statements items but the
presentation of them. It introduces three major new
requirements, including:

o reporting newly defined subtotals (namely
“operating profits” and “profits before financing
and income tax"), and classifying items into five
newly defined categories (namely “operating”,
“investing”, “financing”, “income tax” and
“discontinued operation”), depending on the
reporting entity’s main business activities, in the
statement of profit or loss;

° Disclosure of management-defined performance
measures (“MPMs") in a single note to the
financial statements; and

° enhanced guidance of aggregation and
disaggregation of information in the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFHEBEL)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policy (Continved) 22 S BREE (2

(b)  Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (Continued)

Besides, narrow-scope amendments have been made to
HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”, which includes:

° using “operating profit or loss” as the starting
point for indirect method for the presentation of
operating cash flows purposes; and

° the option for classifying interest and dividend
cash flows as operating activities is eliminated.

In addition, there are consequential amendments to
several other standards.

HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other HKFRS
Accounting Standards, are effective for annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 and must be applied
retrospectively with specific transition provisions. The
directors of the Group are still in the process of assessing
the impact of HKFRS 18, particularly with respect to the
structure of the Group's consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of cash flows and the additional disclosures
required for MPMs. The Group is also assessing the
impact of how information is grouped in the consolidated
financial statements, including the items currently
labelled as “other”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

23

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary
in the consolidated financial statements from the date it gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment
from the Group’s perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by
the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary
is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost is adjusted
to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or

loss.

2.4 Acquisitions of subsidiaries
Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs

are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets include an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. The acquired process is considered
substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, and the inputs acquired include an organised workforce
with necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that
process or it significantly contributes to the ability to continue
producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability

to continue producing outputs.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the

acquisition date.

Consideration transferred as part of a business combination does
not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. The gain or loss on the settlement of any
pre-existing relationship is recognised in profit or loss.

2.

EXRSTEHRBEw®

2.3

24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EASHHEEE )
POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Acquisitions of subsidiaries (Continued) 24 WEHWERAE (4w
Business combinations (Continued) ¥KE6t(E)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition—date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.

Where the consideration the Group transferred in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the measurement
period about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date. Measurement period does not exceed one
year from the acquisition date. The subsequent accounting
for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not subsequently
remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Acquisitions of subsidiaries (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Contingent consideration classified as a financial liability is
subsequently remeasured at each reporting dates at fair value

with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Asset acquisitions

Groups of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are assessed
to determine if they are business or asset acquisitions. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group chooses to apply a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is an asset rather than business acquisition, when
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar

identifiable assets.

When a group of assets acquired and liabilities assumed do not
constitute a business, the overall acquisition cost is allocated
to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities based on their
relative fair values at the date of acquisition. An exception is
when the sum of the individual fair values of the identifiable
assets and liabilities differs from the overall acquisition cost. In
such case, any identifiable assets and liabilities that are initially
measured at an amount other than cost in accordance with the
Group’s policies are measured accordingly, and the residual
acquisition cost is allocated to the remaining identifiable assets
and liabilities based on their relative fair values at the date of

acquisition.

2.

BEASHTHEME g
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREBTHEHEMEw
POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation

25 HKipE

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
("HK$°000"), except when otherwise indicated.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated
using the exchange rates at the transaction date). When a fair
value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit
or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a
non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been converted into the HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average
rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the exchange reserve in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of-use

assets as described in Note 2.15) are initially recognised at
acquisition cost. They are subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Over the lease term
20%—30%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures and
office equipment

Motor vehicles 30%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set
out in Note 2.15.

Estimates of residual value and useful life are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance,
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an
asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any)
over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually for impairment (Note 2.19).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Website development costs

Costs that are directly attributable to development of specific
websites, which include external direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing the website are recognised
as intangible assets provided they meet all of the following

recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective

product for internal use or sale;

(ii) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use

or sell it;

(i)~ the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is

demonstrated;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic

benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are

available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be

reliably measured.

Capitalised website development costs with finite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.
Research and other development costs relating to website
development and website maintenance costs are expensed as

incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)
Trademarks

Trademarks are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, the trademarks with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years. Amortisation
commences when the trademarks are available for use. The
amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Money lender licence
Money lender licence with indefinite useful lives is carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are
tested for impairment as described below in Note 2.20.

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in
profit or loss as they incur. Costs that are directly attributable
to development activities are recognised as intangible assets
provided they meet all of the following recognition requirements:

i

) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(ii) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

(i)~ the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be
reliably measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

29

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Research and development costs (Continued)

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads. The costs of development of internally generated
software, products or knowhow that meet the above recognition
criteria are recognised as intangible assets. They are subject
to the same subsequent measurement method as acquired
intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value, in case of a financial asset not at FVTPL,
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFHEBEL
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continued) 29 €@ IA®)
Financial assets (Continued) SREEE)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as
hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories:

—  amortised cost;

—  FVTPL; or

— fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity's business model for managing the financial
asset; and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within “Finance costs”,
“Other income” or other financial items, except for ECL of trade
and other receivables and loan receivables which is presented
as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets
meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

—  they are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual
cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " FE &5 8235 sR42 AR PR A 5 Annual Report ZE3R 2025

2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Debt investments (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in “other income” in profit or
loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting
is immaterial. The Group's trade and other receivables, loan
receivables and bank balances and cash fall into this category of
financial assets.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model
other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell’ are
categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model,
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
The Group's cash surrender value of life insurance falls into this
category of financial assets.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment, the Group elects
to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in “Fair value reserve
— non-recycling” in equity. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer's
perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss in “Fair value reserve
— non-recycling” will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
retained profits/will continue to be held in the “Fair value reserve
— non-recycling”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXESHHEMESw)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (Continved) 29 @I HE#
Financial assets (Continued) SREEE)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued) CHEENEEE(E)
Equity investments (Continued) fR A% & ()

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, lease liabilities and contingent consideration
payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for
transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability
at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives which are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships and financial liabilities
designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value
with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are
included within finance costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note 2.14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (Continved)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Bank borrowings

Bank borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Bank borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the bank borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless as at
the end of the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the

reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.

Contingent consideration payable

Contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value
at the end of each reporting period with gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking

information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.

within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial
assets measured at amortised cost and trade receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXSHEBRBE
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

210 EREEREE)

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or
that have low credit risk (“Stage 1"); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit
risk is not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category while
“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential
for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience and external
indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for loan receivables and
other receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with
the risk of default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or technological
environment that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt
obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of financial assets (Continved)

21

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when (i) information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collateral held by the Group); or (ii) the
loan and interest receivables and other financial assets is 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
Note 36.2.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less applicable selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows
presentation, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the

Group's cash management.

213 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding

receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

2.14 Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for

consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract

meets three key evaluations which are whether:

° the contracts contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified
by being identified at the time the asset is made available

to the Group;

° the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within

the defined scope of the contract; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

° the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assess
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
Howeuver, for leases of warehouse, office and shop premises in
which the Group is a lessee, the Group elected not to separate
non-lease components and will instead account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is
measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of
the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group,
an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made
in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any lease
incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line
basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the
lease term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses
the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease
liahility at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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2.14 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
payments based on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced
for lease payments made and increased for interest cost on the
lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed
payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

° there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

° the lease payments changes due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXESHHEMESw)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued) 214 HE(#)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment
is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the
right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liahility, the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use
assets have been included in property, plant and equipment.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group as a lessor
As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or
finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the
underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does
not.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sub-leases as two separate contracts. The
sub-leases are classified as a finance or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
not with reference to the underlying asset. If the head lease is
a short-term lease to which the Group applies the short-term
lease exemption, then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an

operating lease.

The Group sub-leases one of its properties and the sub-lease

contract is classified as operating leases.

Other than rental income from sub-lease of properties, the Group
also earns rental income from operating leases of furniture and
home accessories. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line

basis over the term of the lease.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted

to reflect the current best estimate.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deducted from share premium (net of any related
income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs

directly attributable to the equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXAEFEHEME R
POLICIES (Continued)
2.17 Revenue recognition

217 W EER

Revenue arises mainly from the sale, distribution and rental of
furniture and home accessories, distribution and licencing of
intellectual property rights, the provision of styling, consulting
and furniture agency services, the operation of a café and the
provision of consumer loan services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a
5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer
2. Identifying the performance obligations
3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)
are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated
amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for
a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of furniture and home accessories

Revenue from the sale of furniture and home accessories is
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers the
control of the assets to the customers upon delivery.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)
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Sale of trading parts and automation equipment

Revenue from the sale of trading parts and automation
equipment is recognised at a point in time when the Group
transfers the control of the assets to the customers upon
delivery.

Distribution and license fee income

Fixed upfront distribution and license fee is recognised over time
on a straight-line basis over the terms of distribution agreement
and license period. License fee income from the licensing
arrangement is recognised over time on an accrual basis in
accordance with the terms of agreements.

Food and beverage income

Food and beverage income from the operation of a café is
recognised at a point in time when the related services are
rendered to the customers.

Commission income

Commission income from (i) consignment sales are recognised
at a point in time when the goods are sold by the Group; and (ii)
furniture agency services is recognised at a point in time when
the services are performed.

Consulting income
Consulting income is recognised at a point in time when the
services are performed.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
ECL allowance) of the asset.

Rental income
Accounting policies for rental income are set out in note 2.15.

2.

BEASHTHEME g

217 WEBR )

EHEZNHREDLRABHEE

EAKRERIMEGEEEHI S
ETEPR BEEZMHREHLER
BHENWREX —SEEER -

DERFAEERA

& 7 B BT EA o3 35 M RT AT B R D 3K
Wik R AP R IR A A B R E KB
R AR - IR PR AR R 3K - R A4
RHMELENFARBER ARG
HEREREER -

BEmRE&HAEA
REMBERE TSR M R AR m AR
7 % 12 40 B AR 7% B 72 X — B )
RETER ©

BEWA

KA S ME W AREE B H
ER AR R ER K&
ARERB M WARETIRSE
AR — B A R

EEE L ON
HHABARBITREESEE —KH
ERER -

A2 KA

B WA fE B BRI 0K DARS [ e
I EERER - LIRBHEKNATER
BEHREERENEREEMS
ERAEREARZEENREAE
MEHBREERENEREEMS
ERNEEANZEENBHEKA
(AR EREEEERERROERR
BE) -

HEWA
HEWAR S BRI FE215



105

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

218

219

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under
“Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and the Company's investment in a subsidiary are subject
to impairment testing.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life
or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested
at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
synergies of the related business combination and represent the
lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose and not be larger than an
operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

2.20 Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that
either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale. The
component comprises operations and cash flows that can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and represents
a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income comprising the total of: (i) the post-tax
profit or loss of discontinued operations and (i) the post-tax
gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less
costs to sell or on the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BEABSTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Employee benefits 221 EEEA

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined
contribution plans. In addition, the employees employed under
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance are also entitled to LSP if
the eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits plans.

The group entities established in the PRC make monthly
contributions to a state-sponsored defined contribution scheme
for the local staff. The contributions are made at a specific
percentage on the standard salary pursuant to laws of the PRC
and relevant regulation issued by local social security authorities.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the MPF Schemes QOrdinance (the “MPF Scheme”),
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries.

The LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is the present value of the LSP obligation at the
end of the reporting period.

The Group estimates the LSP obligations annually with the
assistance of independent actuaries. This is based on the
discount rate, the salary growth rate, turnover rate and the
expected investment return on offsetable MPF accrued benefits.
Discount factors are determined close to the end of each annual
reporting period by reference to high quality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be
paid and have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the
related defined benefit liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREBTHEHEMEw
POLICIES (Continued)
2.21 Employee benefits (continved) 221 EER®A (2

Retirement benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

° service cost (including current and past service cost, and
gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);

° net interest expense or income; and
° remeasurement.

Service cost on the Group’s defined benefit plan is included in
employee benefits expense. Employee contributions, all of which
are independent of the number of years of service, are treated as
a reduction of service cost.

Net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability is
included in Finance costs.

Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements of the net
defined benefit liability, comprising actuarial gains and losses,
are included in other comprehensive income and are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulative compensated absences such as sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Equity-settled share-based compensation

In January 2018, the Group adopted a Share Option Scheme (as
defined in Note 30) under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for
the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. BEABSTHEME )
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (continved) 221 EEEA (2

Equity-settled share-based compensation (Continued)

The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of options granted including any market
performance conditions; excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions; and including the
impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. The
Group recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
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2.22 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

2.23 Accounting for income tax

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
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2.23 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit, including existing taxable temporary differences, will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or
the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable
income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable
income of the periods in which the temporary differences are
expected to reverse.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Accounting for income tax (Continved)

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences will
reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit in those years.
The estimate of future taxable profit includes:

— income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net
if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liahilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EREFHEBEL
POLICIES (Continued)
2.24 Segment reporting 220 B EHE

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers (the “CODM"). The CODM, who are responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that make strategic decisions.
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2.25 Related parties 2.25 B

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " FE &5 8235 sR42 AR PR A 5 Annual Report ZE3R 2025

AR AEMBREME » XN
BTIER MEESEAEEE
R

@) ZAR—BALTHZANE
ool A

) HAKEEZEH#EIH
[F] 22 I 4

(i) HAREEEERTED:
%

i) AAEEFESARE
TEEABHKE -



113

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Related parties (Continued)
(b)  the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

2. EXRSTEHRBEw

2.25 B ()

by ZAH/—EHE:

BETIMEM

— TE 6 14 i

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

KAWIHSBEHRNEE
SRAZEZALTHR

ZEERASEEBR—
LEHKE -
—HEERS—EB
B AR A E D E (K
BE—EBERKB AR A
ERRINEEDRE M
ERBALEEED

\

Z A

KE) -

[l mg

St B
Z)
o>

W
P m
M
i
el

o

R

1§
=

o Mk

N
o

i
Mk BE WE

\r
b

[ k> fE
I T

¥ o>
B yo |1l
=

\
I

DA F
o)

i)
fig

\
/

W E Bt
&

= F m
LEay

- 3 B ¥
»

B omoM N

e
ik - m
o

— =il

ZEEZ(QHMAHDA
THESI g EES o

R@iEBIHATEZE
EERXFENS A&
T (R EREHE QR
FEEBAEMKE -

ﬂﬂﬂi} i 32

\

ZERBIEMBEEN
EfIAL B AR MAEE
FAEENERAREMH
TEEEABRY -

s i}

BT
ZANLR

V\\g o |
I Xt

MEREKE -

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " B & 86 75 k42 R FR 2 B Annual Report ZER 2025



114

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainty

3.

AR

R RHABDERNBELRLAEAMAR
RENE ERYBAGEEARERLTES
BHARREENEL -

fis 5t R

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. REEGHRRELGTREBR - BER
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal - AUGBENETHAELEEREH
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a ERER HTHEAVRFERNEERE

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

EECEELEABERRNMKHRE
BRT XL

Allowance for inventories FEHE

Net realisable value of inventories is the actual or estimated selling FENAER FERBEEBPNER
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs M EERTAEERBHNMETAR - %
necessary to make the sale. These estimates are based on the current SR HERREMRRIEEIOES

market condition and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of competitor
actions in response to changes in market condition. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are
disclosed in Note 20.

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost within the scope of ECL under
HKFRS 9

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including trade
and other receivables and loan receivables) based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
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calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions HER gRBASEBTLR  JRTM
as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period W & B R R A BE MM A B (R

as set out in Note 2.10. As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of
trade and other receivables and loan receivables to HK$59,882,000 (net
of ECL allowance of HK$2,625,000) (2024: HK$44,417,000 (net of ECL
allowance of HK$138,000)) and HK$21,283,000 (net of ECL allowance
of HK$596,000) (2024: HK$14,808,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$337,000)) respectively.
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When the actual future cash flows are different from expected, EEBRARRESREERNEHR - HE
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade and other EHEFEMRTNEHEBRE BB R
receivables within the scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in HRAPIRTEREEEEHENEI R
the periods in which such estimate has been changed. EmERZFENEOcREREEEIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continved)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimation of fair value of financial assets at FVTPL

As at 31 March 2025, unlisted equity investment was carried at fair
value of HK$2,427,000 (2024: HK$nil). The fair values are determined
by using valuation techniques, details of which are set out in note 36.6.
This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent with
how market participants would price the unlisted equity investment.
The Group bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible
but this is not always available. In that case the Group uses the best
information available.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group's business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group's major product and service lines.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, in view of the Group's strategic
plan to develop the sale of trading parts and automation equipment
business, the executive directors have identified “Sale of trading parts
and automation equipment” as a new reporting segment. Certain
analysis by reportable segments of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 was restated accordingly.

The entire equity interest of Hong Kong ltaliving International Co.,
Limited (“Italiving”) has been disposed of during the year ended 31
March 2025. The related operation, furniture agency services, was
regarded as discontinued operations and the related information has
been set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

4.

year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 202543318 | F &

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
The Group has identified the following four (2024: three) reportable
segments:

° Furniture sale and consultancy services: the sale, distribution
and rental of furniture and home accessories, distribution and
licencing of intellectual property rights, the provision of styling
and consulting services and the operation of a café

o Furniture agency services: the provision of furniture agency
Services

° Sale of trading parts and automation equipment: sales of parts
of visual hardware products, development and sales of visual
software and system, and provision of technical services. The
visual hardware products mainly include display backlight AQI
equipment, display glass AOl equipment, display appearance
inspection equipment, which are mainly used for optical
inspection of various semi-finished products in display production
including inspection of foreign objects, scratch etc.

° Consumer loan services: the provision of consumer loan services

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of
the product and service lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.

The measurement policies the Group used for reporting segment results
under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are the same as those used in
its financial statements prepared under HKFRS Accounting Standards,
except that income tax expense and corporate income and expenses
which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any
reportable segment are not included in arriving at the operating results
of the reportable segment Reportable segment assets exclude cash
surrender value of life insurance, deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
bank balances and cash and unallocated corporate assets (mainly
include certain right-of-use assets, certain intangible assets and certain
other receivables).

Reportable segment liabilities exclude tax payable and unallocated
corporate liabilities (mainly include certain lease liabilities and certain
other payables).

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHEERDEBER =)
(Continued)
The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 to the KREBEMEZEH RS I 15 ® T M 1
consolidated financial statements. HEE o
The Group's revenue recognised during the year is as follows: AEERFRNEROUZAT
2025 2024
20255 20245
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FEIT
(Restated)
Continuing operations HESEEK (E5))
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHW R
Sale of furniture and home accessories RERRERHEE 48,646 57,414
Sale of trading parts and automation equipment BEETHLRATLREBHE 43,257 —
Distribution and license fee income DRI BERA 2,799 —
Food and beverage income BRm&kEmEA 3,378 3,656
Commission income i N 1,104 580
99,184 61,650
Revenue from other sources Hfth 3R R Uk &=
Rental income el A 34 50
99,218 61,700
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with FOBERBYBBREENESREEANE
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 Fa®ya
RN - o == 18 1+
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over A W m R 8 KT 51 & ™35 BE B
> _ nt = .
time and at a point in time in the following geographical market: ERRX—ERREMEEE R KR -
2025 2024
2025 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
Continuing operations BESEXER (&E3))
Timing of revenue recognition W R
— At a point in time PR — B 96,385 61,650
— Over time — BERFfE 2,799 —
99,184 61,650
Geographical markets & %
— Hong Kong —B% 53,127 61,650
— The People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"), — R EARAME(THED)
excluding Hong Kong (TBIERE) 46,057 —
99,184 61,650
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHRkopHER @)
(Continued)
Revenue from major customers which individually accounts for 10% or R AN EEBYRIOBIALENEER
more of the Group's total revenue: Plias
2025 2024
2025F 20244F
HK$ 000 HK$'000
Continuing operations BESEERK FET FHET
Customer A EPA 20,894 —
As at 31 March 2025, 86.9% (2024: 83.5%) of the total gross trade M2025F3A3NH  EETHREE LR E
receivables was due from a customer arisen from the sale of trading HED I (2024F - RERERBKE A
parts and automation equipment segment (2024: furniture agency B —2EFMRBGAERE S EKK
services segment). TH #8 %8 §986.9% (20244 : 83.5%) °
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
BREEER BRLEEER
Furniture ~ Sale of trading
sale and parts and Furniture
consultancy ~ automation  Consumer loan agency
services equipment services  Unallocated Total services Group
EEEHR
BEHER BBt HEZER KARE

wARE  REHE itS AR st itS 50
RS 000 HKS 000 S0 RS 000 HKS 000 S0 RS 000

Continuing operations FESERR FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr & FEr
2025 NBE
Reportable segmentrevenuefom ~ RKESNSEPHAZHA

extemal customers e 55,961 3251 - - 9,18 2,006 10124
Interest income from loan receivables B4 E 37 8 M A - - 3m - 31m - 3m
Reportable segment loss)/prfit AZHAB(EE) /B (586) 2488 1,33 — Pl (9,580) 14,057
Reportable segment assets A2HRABEE 5% 66,055 2,46 - 11483 29981 11483
Reportable segment labiities BEE DR 30,106 qam 1 - 12762 17510 116
Depreciation e 8,748 - 609 m 10070 — 10070
Amortisation -3 170 - - - 10 - 10
Finance costs BBRE 1530 5 9 15 1613 (] 2,045

Additons to non-current segmentassets FAREFRBLDEE (£
(other than financial instrumentsand = BIARERMALE

Geferred tax assets| during e year R 41) 6,809 - - - 6,809 = 6,809
Fairvalue change of financial assetat BB &R A EEJIRE

AITRL SHEENNAEES - iy - - i - iy
Gain on modification of lease HEN A e (29) - - - (29) - (29)
Loss onwrite-0ff of loan receivables W SHEMEFN 2 BE - - 683 = 683 = 683

Provision forimpairment of trade BAREMEWFIEL R
and other receivables and loan WEFHEERE
receivables - 2639 259 - 28% 5 2951
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHERDBER 2
(Continued)
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RELREER BRIEBEET
Fumiture Sale of trading
sale and arts and Furniture
consultancy automation  Consumer loan agency
services equipment Services Unallocated Total Services Group
EETHR
FEBER BEf HEEER FARE
HARE  RERE i AR @i i 1£H
HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Continuing operations KEBEER TR Tin AL T Tin AL TR
2024 (Restated) NUE (LET)
Reportable segment evenuefom ~ RESNBRPHTZHA
extemal customers W& 61,700 - - — 61,700 3.5 64,965
Interest income from loan receivables ~ [EUTE 307 S U A - - 5,366 - 5,36 — 5366
Reportable segment (loss)/profit ARESB(ER)/&H 3573) 3 98 — (259) (109 (9,684)
Reportable seqment assets AERADEE 800 9626 16,100 - 5797 36,010 90837
Reportable segment liabilties BEEDETT= 3,90 8209 679 - 41868 B 65811
Depreciation ik 9075 13 609 5% 10291 — 10291
Amortisation -3 m - - - m - m
Finance costs HBRE 1115 3 Bl 3 11% 7 1673
Additons to non-current segmentassets ERFEFRHL DEE (£
(other than financial instrumentsand BT ARERHEELE
Geferred tax assets| during the year P ) 6,866 812 - 1477 9105 - 9105
Loss on moifcation of lease BIRE BB 128 - - — 128 - 128
Provison forimpairment of goodwill B EHEEE - - - - - 863 86%
Provision forimpairment of trad BAREMEWFEL R
and other receivables and loan WEFHRERE
receivables - — n — R/ 8 30
Reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities are reconciled to results AE2Koalaf BERBEEAEER
and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as follows: HENNBEENEABEHENT
2025 2024
20255 20244F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FEIT
(Restated)
Continuing operations BFERSEER (E5)
Reportable segment gain/(loss) AEMmyEtles (FIE) 23,637 (2,592)
Unallocated amounts: KRB FOA -
— Corporate income and expense — RAIWARAX (9,292) (8,169)
— Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition —RE—FENB AR Z&EE
of a subsidiary U i Ut 25 — 779
— Provision for impairment of goodwill — EEBERE — (8,694)
Profit/(Loss) before income tax BRETEBHADER(F8) 14,345 (18,676)
Reportable segment assets A2 D EEE 114,833 54,797
Unallocated assets: ROBLEE:
— Cash surrender value of life insurance — AERBHNBORSEE 2,080 2,023
— Deferred tax assets — B IEEE 610 374
— Tax recoverable — AJ g @ e — 398
— Bank balances and cash — R TT Eer IR E 961 12,192
— Unallocated corporate assets — RPBEARIEE 230 982
— Assets of discontinued operations — E%%JJ:&‘%%?%%TE — 36,040
Total assets WEE 118,714 106,806
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(Continued)
Reportable segment profit, assets and liabilities are reconciled to results wmanE

and total assets and total liabilities of the Group as follows: (Continued)

[om &
%?ELA&% ‘&

WHERDHER 2

BENMABEAEEN
ERBEABEHEROT  (B)

2025 2024

2025 2024

HKS$'000 HK$ 000

Continuing operations BESEERK FET FHET

Reportable segment liabilities A2 D EAaE 72,762 41,868
Unallocated liabilities: KBl BIE:

— Tax payables — BT IE 3,934 —

— Unallocated corporate liabilities — RKpBEARIEE 5,271 5,725

— Liabilities of discontinued operations —EBERIEEEEBARG — 23,943

Total liabilities HWEE 81,967 71,536

The revenue from external customers and its non-current assets (other
than financial instruments and deferred tax assets) of the Group are
divided into the following geographical areas:

& & o

Revenue from
external customers

AEBREIBEPHRBLIFRBEE
(ERMTAMERRBEERINRATH

Non-current assets

RENBEFEHK REBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
20254 20244 20255 20244
HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
F# T FET F# T F&r
(Restated)
Continuing operations BESEER (& E75)
Hong Kong B 53,161 61,700 9,136 1,721
The PRC, excluding Hong Kong FE(TBEEES) 46,057 — 779 1,630
99,218 61,700 9,915 13,351

The geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods delivered.

The geographical location of non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the asset and the location of the operations to which they are
allocated in the case of intangible assets, goodwill and financial assets

at FVTPL.

RERE

ERMDEENMIBUEANEEMNR
CHEREE
ARBEIENEREEN S

BEER B AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

OTHER INCOME 5. Hfi A
2025 2024
20254 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
Continuing operations BEREEK (=7
Bank interest income AT A B A 14 18
Exchange gain, net [ 5 U = F 58 12 —
Fair value gain on contingent ENZKAREBHNAREBE
consideration payable (Note 78/ Uz (B 5%18) 663 —
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition Wi —HME AR Z&EE
of a subsidiary (Note 37) W B8 U &= (B 7#37) — 779
Gain on modification of lease B HE 2 W= 29 —
Government grants (note) IR AT 4 B (1 51 ) 107 —
Sundry income MBI A 601 1,090
Interest income from loan receivables FEU B SR A B M A 3173 5,366
4,599 7,253

Note:

The Group was entitled to receive grants from a provincial government in the PRC
for supporting innovation and promoting high-quality economic development.

AEBEBRETEERBTERME - AH
Ak RESEERBERR -

PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE 6. BZNHMEWFIELLRE EWY
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN ENRBERESE
RECEIVABLES, NET
2025 2024
2025F 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
(Restated)
Continuing operations BESEER (& E5))
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables B 5 & EAh W IERIE
(note 21) & 18 (0 it 21) 2,639 —
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net (note 27) & U8 & X Rl (B /&5 18 % 48
(B xt21) 259 302
2,898 302
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

1.

FINANCE COSTS 7. BFRER A
2025 2024
20255 202445
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
(Restated)
Continuing operations BELSEEK (& E5))
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITEEFBRAX 785 531
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEABENTB I 817 653
Net interest expense on LSP obligations RERBSEENFERX
HRE 1 "
1,613 1,195
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. BRFTBHAIER (FH#E)
Profit/(Loss) before income tax has been arrived at after charging/ BRAETERAAT (EE) &,/ (Gh
(crediting): AN AT &EEBER:
2025 2024
20254 20244
HKS 000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
Continuing operations HELSEEK (& E5))
Auditor’s remuneration % SR B &
— Audit services — B ZIRB 850 750
— Non-audit services — EEERBE 56 37
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAERZHFEKAR 30,144 25,909
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BEREZEBINE
— Owned assets —BEEE 330 427
— Right-of-use assets —(REEE 9,740 9,864
Amortisation of intangible assets B AEHH 170 223
Lease charges: HEZH:
— Short term leases —REHEE — 58
Provision for impairment of goodwill EERAER ] = 8,694
Provision for impairment of trade and other B 5 Ko Ho A JE U 57 18 0 FE UL
receivables and loan receivables, net EFOREREFE 2,898 302
Net exchange (gain)/loss EH (Wz) B8 FE (12) 65
(Gain)/Loss on modification of lease CREE - PAC &I (29) 128
Loss on write-off of loan receivables WIHEWE R 2 B8 683 —
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition W —HHRB AR Z
of a subsidiary (Noze 37) HENR B s A E37) = (779)
Fair value gain on cash surrender value ASRBRRBAOBSEE
of life insurance NABEKZE (57) (45)
Research and development expenses R 2,657 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 9.

On 18 February 2025, the Group disposed of its entire interest of a
wholly-owned subsidiary, Italiving, which carried out furniture agency
services at HK$3 million to an independent third party. Upon the
disposal, the Group did not hold any shares in Italiving and Italiving has
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. Accordingly, its related operation
in furniture agency services was regarded as discontinued operations.

The results of the discontinued operations which have been included in

CRIEREEK

202552 A188 - RNEELAIE B TAE
VEZHHEERZEMNBARIEZHER
ZEREEE  ZARNERANERE -
HE% AEETHEFEZHREMRE
m MEZERITTEAEAEENKER
Al Bt HERARBERBENHEEBL K
BRBORIECEER -

ERLEREXBNRA(CHAREGRR

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income, FEMEEBER)OT:
were as follows:
Period from
1 April 2024 to
18 February Year ended
2025 31 March
(date of disposal) 2024
20245418 &
202552 A18H # E20244F
(HEBRH)HAE 3ANBLEFE
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET F&r
Revenue W 2= 2,006 3,265
Other income E AUz A 18 634
Administrative expenses THHAX (1,743) (1,790)
Provision for impairment of trade and B 5 Rk H A e W R IBHRE
other receivables B (53) (28)
Finance costs B 7 A A (432) (478)
(Loss)/Profit from discontinued operations ERIEEEEBE 2
before income tax BRETEBAT(E18), % F (204) 1,603
Income tax expense e/ — (281)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations HEERIEEEEBEE (9,376) —
(Loss)/Profit for the period/year from BRIEEEER S
discontinued operations FR(ER) SRR (9,580) 1,322

(Loss)/profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging:

BRATER A (BB, af I EHBRIAT &

HIgZE:
2025 2024
20254 20245
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET F&r
Key management personnel’s remuneration FTEEBEASHMN 170 204
Other staff cost HEf BT AA 288 470
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

9. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continvea) 9. CRIEKREEK »
Cash flows from discontinued operations are analysed as follows: ERIFEEEB2HESRENPTOT
Period from
1 April 2024 to
18 February Year ended
2025 31 March
(date of disposal) 2024
20244818 &
202552 H18H # E20244F
(HEBH A 3ANBLEFE
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities #& 4 EEIR &R A (i)
HRE 4,028 (1,392)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows from investing activities 3% & EEIR & (R E), AR A
F (114) 1
Net cash outflows from financing activities BB EBIA SR L F R (3.269) (1,338)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) WEeRA R F58 45 (2,729)
The net assets of Italiving at the date of disposal REEBRHEEHRNEEZRE
As at
18 February 2025
1202552 H18H
HKS$ 000
FET
Deferred tax assets BEXERIEE E 2
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H MR FRIE 29,194
Bank balances and cash RITEHB LR 564
Tax recoverable Al Uk B % 18 207
Trade and other payables B 5 & H A ERRIE (11,917)
Bank borrowings HwITEE (5,694)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 12,376
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations HEERLEREXBNER
As at
18 February 2025
202552 H18H
HKS$ 000
FET
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents BRASEACEEDRE 3,000
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE (12,376)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations HEBRIEEEEBNEIE (9,376)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 9. BRIEKEER »
Net cash inflow on disposal of discontinued HECKLEREXBHNFERER
operations A
HKS 000
FET
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents BYHSERACEEDRE 3,000
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of BEHERSRACEEY (564)
Net cash inflows FEEmA 2,436

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10. EERAFAX(BEESMH

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) %)
2025 2024
2025F 20245
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FE T
(Restated)
Continuing operations HESEEK (g=s7))
Salaries, bonus and allowances e AP A A =3:" 24,810 24,371
Contributions to defined contribution AERFEREEE
pension schemes B £ 3K 1,016 841
25,826 25,212
At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no forfeited contributions 20254 20243 A31H - AE BT EE
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future VR WA FR AT HR R R FE BV IR R & 51 &
years. (2 o
INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) "N FBHEAX (EE)
2025 2024
20255 20245
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
(Restated)
Continuing operations BREAREXEK (&&E5))
Current tax Bl HA Bt 1]
— Hong Kong —BE
Current year KEE 219 20
Under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years BAFEREIZ (B
BEm) 7 (179)
356 (159)
—PRC —h
Current year NEE 3,059 33
Deferred tax IE FE B 18
Current year (Note 27) NEE (HazE27) (258) 46
Total income tax expense/(credit) FTERAx (K% @ 3,157 (80)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

1.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at applicable

tax rates is as follow:

1.

FEHRMAx(ER)l e

MERS B ERREXFEN G ER

FOETERIAT ¢

2025 2024
2025 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEr
(Restated)
(&7
Profit/(Loss) before income tax from continuing BECESEBBRMBEA
operations wmH L (E18) 14,345 (18,676)
(Loss)/Profit before income tax from discontinued B2 4% I & & 2 & R TS B BT
operations (E18), & F (9,580) 1,603
Profit/(Loss) before income tax BRATEHAERN(BR) 4,765 (17,073)
Tax on profit/(loss) before income tax, calculated Bk FT1S B AT % F (B 18)
at the applicable rates to profits in the tax KRB R E B
jurisdictions concerned AlERE R E AN RN A
BEHE) 475 (2.876)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRU ARG E (223) (140)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR RS2 3,165 2,356
Tax effect of two-tiered tax regime T 75 W AR ) B B A 2 & — (165)
Tax incentives on eligible expenditures SERAZHNRBESR (530) —
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERBEEBEENB KL 193 1,205
Under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years BEFERETR (B8
) 71 (179)
Income tax expense/(credit) FIERmmAY(HE%) 3,157 201

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has tax losses of approximately
HK$7,830,000 (2024: HK$7,230,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the Group. No deferred
tax assets have been recognised in respect of these losses due to the

unpredictable future profit streams.
Notes:

(a)

Cayman Islands income tax

M2025F3A318 + 7 £ @ 497,830,000 T
(20244 :7,230,0007% JT) K 7% 18 /&5 18 T BR
HAREKHEANEENRKERBEF - B
A E T8 ORI R AR s A &9 2ROR - B L S A

REZEEERRARCEHBREE -
#rat
(a) HEHBHREH

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

(b) British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) income tax

(b)

The Company’s direct subsidiary was incorporated under the BVI
Business Companies Act, 2004 and accordingly, is exempted from BVI

income tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profits for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a
qualifying corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of
profits of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above
HK$2,000,000 are taxed at 16.5%.

PRC enterprise income tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in the PRC has
been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 March 2025, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof. The statutory
tax rate was 25% (2024: 25%) for the year ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Company's
subsidiary, Hefei Human Vision Technology Co., Limited* (& BB~ A3
A8 B 1l A R A 7)) ("Human Vision") obtained the High and
New Technology Enterprises qualification. Accordingly, it enjoyed a
preferential income tax rate of 15% (2024: income tax rate of 15%) for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State
Administration of Taxation of the PRC, enterprises engaging in research
and development activities were entitled to claim 200% of their eligible
research and development costs so incurred as tax deductible expenses
when determining their assessable profits for that period ("Super
Deduction”). The Group made its best estimate for the Super Deduction
to be claimed for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in ascertaining their
assessable profits for the years ended 31 March 2025.

English name for reference only.

12. EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earning/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

N FEHEAX (ER) e

Bret: (%)

) EBAE

HE2025F K2024F3ANA I FENES
FISHBEDIEERGHERERERN D
165%+TE - MAEKE B RRRF
BHRMEH TAEAEERAFRIN - EF
BRMEHT  AERERBE2E88T
AR E8.25% - B 2B BB TR
FIFE & 5£16.5% °

(d FEHRCERSH
AEBMEBBPREEEBNOMEH AR
TRBIRITEN - RRREBEAER 1%
HZE2025F3ANA L FEM G ER
wm A A E R R E o B E 20259 R 2024
F3A31H 1L F E /K E TR B25% (2024
1 25%) °

RIEFREBEERKER  RNRARWHH
BARAETAARBRMERARA (TR
AABRBDESSHEMEEER -
It - ER B E 20254 K 202438318 [EF
5 = A15% 8 B B P15 B K (20244F < 15%
B FT 1S R K) o

KETRERBREERBHHREEZE
ER REABERINCERETXS
HERTEME  BREREEEED
A B E K AN §9200% F1) £ AT F0 R B B
M (FBEEEN]) - AEBEEgAEESP
BB AR ERMBERINFHER
EHE UBEEREBEE-_Z-_AF=A
=t+t—HLEFERNERFEH -

12. SRER (FiE)
REFERCKRILEREER
RATEEA R GRE AR BERT
(B DERA TR E

2025 2024
2025 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FEr
(Restated)
(=E7))
Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations attributable N2 5] B A FE{h 35 8 £ &
to owners of the Company ¥%uF(EE) 11,188 (18,596)
(Loss)/Profit from discontinued operation RATIER ANEMMEEIEE
attributable to owners of the Company BEK(BER),HF (9,580) 1,322
Profit/(Loss) for the purpose of basic and diluted ARFTEEREARES
earning/(loss) per share from continuing and aBF/(BRINFER
discontinued operations ERIEEEEBEF
(&18) 1,608 (17,274)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

12. EARNING/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continved)

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earning/(loss) per share from
continuing operations is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) from
continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company is based

on the following data:

12. EREAN(E#B) =
REFELEEK
KA EESEENEREAREEE
Fl/ (B 18) 79 5 AT B B B A A 2 7 B
N PR VRS Tt At

1) 2t

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(=E5))
Profit/(Loss) from continuing operation attributable 2N &) B A JE (L 35 8 5 &
to owners of the Company ¥ad(BEER) 11,188 (18,596)
2025 2024
2025 20245
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for BRETEERERER
the purpose of basic earning/(loss) per share (E518) /9% 38 A% hn 4
calculation FHE 1,584,000,000 1,584,000,000

Diluted earning/(loss) per share equals to the basic earning/(loss) per
share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence

during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

From discontinued operations

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earning per share from the

discontinued operations are based on:

B A £ 20255 2202438318 IEFE I
MABTBETENTAR  QWERES
B (BE)BEREREARETF(H
=PI0

REERILLEERE
RABKIEEEBHEREAR B
(B 18)/ BF AT 5 B 5

2025 2024
2025F 20244F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FE T FET
(Restated)
(s E5)
(Loss)/Profit from discontinued operation KRB HEBABMLERIEL
attributable to owners of the Company BEK(BER),HF (9,580) 1,322
2025 2024
20254 20244
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for ARETEERER(EIE),/
the purpose of basic (loss)/earning per share A F| &)L 8 AR N AE T &
calculation 1,584,000,000 1,584,000,000

Diluted loss per share equals to the basic (loss)/earning per share as
there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in existence during the

years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

R B £20254F % 2024F3R318 IEFE X
EABCEHESYENETRER WERE
EEBESNERELRER)&BF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

13. EEmERERBEESHFMAL

B <

EEME

IRIEGEM LR - AR IS
BINERAT (REEEFHER)
APIFIMBENESHE T -

(a)

Other emoluments
Bt e
Retirement
Salariesand ~henefit scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
BHRER
we  HEREH HE L @t
Notes HS000 HS000 HKS 000 0
iz FET TAT TET Tz
2025 BE
Executive directors: BrES:
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington 22 £ 32 1962 61 233
M. Tong Tang Joseph EBEA ) 1,260 - il 1,281
M. Toui Wing Tak hEELE 130 - i} 1347
M Bian Dahai BAERE % - 56 6
M. Bian Hongjiang BEIRE (il = - - -
M. Jizo Dejun BEELE fi] 1] - I} 24
Mr. Yu Quansheng SEBEEE iy 66 = 3 69
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:
. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth EREEE 160 - - 160
Mr. Tsang Wai Yin LRERE 160 - - 160
Mr. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXALE 160 - - 160
3918 1,962 192 6,072
2024 WNE
Executive directors: yTEE:
Ms. Mary Kathleen Babington Mary Kathleen Babington &2 3 20% 4 2447
Mr. Tong Tang Joseph EERLE i) 2500 - u 254
M. Tsui Wing Tak REERE 130 - yli 134
M Bian Dahai BABRE 0 - - plli
Mr. Bian Hongjiang ERTEE (i 5 — - 53
Mr. Jiao Dejun BEELE fii) 5 — — 5
Independent non-executive directors: BUkYrES:
M. Sit Hoi Wah Kenneth ERELE 160 - - 160
M. Tsang Wai Yin LRELL 160 - - 160
. Yeung Man Chung Charles BXBEE 160 - - 160
4979 20% 88 7,162
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

13. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE 13. EEMERTEBESHFMAL
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS [ A )
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continved) (a) EEM2w)
Notes: bt -
(i) Mr. Tong Tang Joseph was also the chief executive officer. (i) BEEEDABITERER
(ii) Mr. Bian Hongjiang was appointed as an executive director on 21 (ii) BT A R2022F10A2NNEEE
October 2022 and resigned on 20 June 2023. TAEHITESRW R 202356 A208 &
£ o
(i)~ Mr. Jiao Dejun was appointed as an executive director on 10 (iii) BEBILAER20UFIA0BEZE
January 2024. RYPITESE -
(iv  Mr. Yu Quansheng was appointed as an executive director and (iv)  RIEBEER204FIABAERT
Co-chairman on 13 September 2024. RPTESHRBTER -
There were no arrangements under which a director of the B E2025%F K2024F3A318 1 F
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the E - WEEBARABIEZEFTHELR
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. BREE M T -
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments b) EEESFHALTHE
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the AEEFAREESTMNALTFTE
Group for the year include three (2024: three) directors whose HZ2QUE =Z%)EF Hill¢
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The REXZFHHTRE - BEFNA
aggregate emoluments payable to the remaining two (2024: two) JERTERT M (20245 - MB) AT H
individuals during the year are as follows: S BRI -
2025 2024
2025F 20244F
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e MoEB 995 1,054
Discretionary bonus BB L AL — —
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRI FIET & 36 36
1,031 1,090
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e N FUATHE:
2025 2024
20255 20245
Emolument bands P < &0 [
Nil-HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 7T 2 2
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments H = 2025F M 2024 F3ANAIEFE -
were paid by the Group to any directors or the five highest paid AEFBTERATNESRKAERS
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or FMATZNHME  EABBRS
as compensation for loss of office. MAXEESRMAREEEFHF

THERBERAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BRERRK®E

Furniture
and fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor  Right-of-use
improvements equipment vehicles assets Total
BAREE
H#EUR
HENERE BLERE RE FRAEEE At
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2023 R2023E481A8
Cost XA 7938 43% 557 60,534 73424
Accumulated depreciation and REAMERRE
impairment (7,534) (4,037) (553) (47,490) (59,614)
Net hook amount REFE 404 358 4 13,044 13,810
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3831H
LEE
Opening net book amount FUERRFE 404 358 4 13,044 13,810
Additions NE 45 108 — 2239 2,39
Disposal e — (6) — — (6)
Depreciation e 198) (227) (2) (9.864) (10.291)
Modification of lease EMHE — — — 6,713 6,713
Written off i 85 — (2 — — (2)
Closing net book amount FEREAFE 251 231 2 12,132 12,616
At 31 March 2024 R2024% 38310
Cost X 7R 7,983 4,485 557 67,944 80,969
Accumulated depreciation and ZAMERBE
impairment (7,732) (4,254) (555) (55,812) (68,353)
Net hook amount REFE 251 231 2 12,132 12,616
Year ended 31 March 2025 B Z202553A31R
LHEE
Opening net book amount FVERBFE 251 21 2 12132 12,616
Additions NE — 54 — — 54
Depreciation e (168) (160) (2) (9,740) (10,070)
Exchange difference EHE%E — — — (5) (5)
Modification of lease BUHE — — — 6,755 6,755
Closing net book amount FREEFE 83 125 — 9,142 9,350
At 31 March 2025 R2025F3A31H
Cost X 7K 7,983 4,539 557 76,241 89,320
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERRE
impairment (7,900) (4,414) (557) (67,099) (79,970)
Net book amount REFER 83 125 — 9,142 9,350
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continves)  18. ¥

TATEMENTS

¥ BEERRXRESR

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, included in the net carrying amount of HR20254F % 2024F3A31H - ME - WE X
property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets as follows: REEDFRETREFEREEED T :
Carrying amount Depreciation
RESE e
For the year
As at As at ended
31 March 2025 1 April 2024 31 March 2025
20255 R2024F & Z2025F
3H31H 4818 3ANBLEEE
HKS$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET
Buildings BF 9,142 12,132 9,740
Carrying amount Depreciation
T e
For the year
As at As at ended
31 March 2024 1 April 2023 31 March 2024
720245 720234 # E 20244
3A31H 4AR 3ANRELEFE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FETT FAEIT FET
Buildings EF 12,132 13,044 9,864
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total additions to right-of-use KRB E2025F3ANBLEFE  ME - HE
assets included in property, plant and equipment amounting to REFEEEFEONEAEEER
HK$6,755,000 (2024: HK$8,952,000) which is attributable to buildings. B 42 86,755,000 7T (20244F : 8,952,000/%8
JT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

INTANGIBLE ASSETS BmIEE
Website
development Money lender
costs Trademarks licence Total
#8 Uh B B R A g HEAERR @at
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
At1 April 2023 72023545818
Cost BN 800 5 56 861
Accumulated amortisation RETEH (745) (5) — (750)
Net book amount REFE 55 — 56 m
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZE204F3A31A
LEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 55 — 56 m
Addition NE 847 — — 847
Amortisation 3 (223) — — (223)
Closing net hook amount FRIEEFE 679 — 56 735
At 31 March 2024 72024538318
Cost B AR 1,647 5 56 1,708
Accumulated amortisation B (968) (5) — (973)
Net book amount RHEEE 679 — 56 735
Year ended 31 March 2025 B Z2025%3H318
LEFEE
Opening net book amount FHIREFHE 679 — 56 735
Addition NE — — — —
Amortisation 5 (170) = = (170)
Closing net hook amount FREEFE 509 — 56 565
At 31 March 2025 7202538318
Cost DN 1,647 5 56 1,708
Accumulated amortisation BErEE (1,138) () — (1,143)
Net book amount REFE 509 — 56 565

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " B & 86 75 k42 R FR 2 B Annual Report ZER 2025



134

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

16.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and 2024

were as follows:

16.

By B8 22 7]

BA20254F N 20243 A3MH A = Z K B A A

FHBOT

Country/Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Equity interest
Name of company establishment paid-up capital held by the Company Principal activities
HEL/ BRAR
AER RIAR/ 4% HERK ARAAKENRE IEXH
025 04
0255 e
Directly held by the Company
AARERKE
(i-House Investment Group Limited (*Qi-House Investment') BVl United States dollar 100% 100%  Investment holding
['USD") 1
Q-House nvestment Group Limited ([Qi-House Investment]) ~ EE£AREE E30 REBR
Indirectly held by the Company
ARREEEE
Tree Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% 100%  Sale, distribution and rental of furniture and home accessories,
consignment sales, distribution and licencing of intellectual
property rights, the provision of styling and consulting
services and the operation of a café
NEERAT B W FARFERHHE HHREE FEHE P
HRAIRBMAERE  RERAREARE
ARG -FMGE
[taliving Hong Kong HK$500,000 Nil 100% ~ Provision of furniture agency services
(Note 9
EEtR B 5000007 7T & Rt AR R RS
(H9)
(i-House Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$t 100% 100%  Investment holding
A (R E)ERAA B & REER
Super Easy Finance Limited Hong Kong HK§10,000 100% 100%  Provision of consumer loan services
FEREEERLA B 100007 7T REHEEERRE
EFER(RINERAD PRC AMIB200,000 100% 0% Dormant
Uijia Holdings (Shenzhen Co., Ltd*
EFER(RINERAT GG AREN0007T &g
ERERBEERTERAT PRC USD100,000 100% 100% Sl of trading parts and automation equipment
Hefei Qijia Supply Chain Technology Co., Limited*
("Hefei Qijia’) Aoze )
SREFLEERGERDA(ARER )Wy +E 10000% 7T BESHREDLRARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

SUBSIDIARIES (continved) 16. B AR #)
Country/Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Equity interest
Name of company establishment paid-up capital held by the Company Principal activities
HREL/ BEL
AER RIAR/ 4% HRRX RAARENRE IE%H
025 04
W55 e
Hefei Human Vision Technology Co, Ltd {"Human Vision") PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of trading parts and automation equipment
Note 37)
AETBARERGERLR (TRARR) W) wE ARE10000007 BESHRADIGRHEHE
ARBEATERERILEMBRAR PRC RMB500,000 100% —  Dormant
Hefei Actuarial Artificial Intelligence Application Software
Technology Co, Limited /Aote /i)
AERENIEHRASARGARARNMNZ )  HE ARB3000007T AEg
Hong Kong Lumber Trading Limited Hong Kong HK§10 100% 100%  Dormant
BETABAIERAA Bk 10E7T 100% 0 FEE

*

English name for reference only.

Notes:

(i) Hefei Qijia Supply Chain Technology Co., Limited was incorporated on 17
January 2024. It is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise established under
the PRC Law.

(i) Hefei Actuarial Artificial Intelligence Application Software Technology
Co., Limited was incorporated on 23 December 2024. It is a wholly-
foreign owned enterprise established under the PRC Law.

All of the above subsidiaries are limited liability companies. The
financial years of the above subsidiaries are coterminous with that of
the Group, except for which have a financial year ending 31 December.
The consolidated financial statements are adjusted for significant
transactions or events, including those between ltaliving and group
companies, between 1 January and 31 March.

© ExamEssE.
A it -

(i) A BB SR R SR AT A IR 2 R 720241
B1I7BFEMAY - ZARAE—MBREFEH
FEREK B EDE -

il AREEAISEEREGRMTARAR
HR2024F 12 4238 MK - Z AR A —
REREAEKR IO EEERE -

LNEmEKBRARIHEABRARF - REK
FEMRZANBERESN - Ltk B ARG
MR FERARNER - - REPBHRE
EREARSGREHAE  BEFE1AIEBES
AVNBHEEZtHREEEMAR#EITE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

17. GOODWILL 17. &
The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: MEMNEEDFEIS>TET:

2025 2024
20254 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FE T

At the beginning of year REA)
Gross carrying amount IREZRE — 23,426
Accumulated impairment RERE — (14,732)
— 8,694
Net carrying amount at 1 April RAFA M EREF &8 — 8,694
Impairment loss BB B 18 = (8,694)

At the end of year RER
Gross carrying amount BREAE — 23,426
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE — (23,426)

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is allocated
to the cash-generating unit of furniture agency services, which was
disposed of during 2025.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit was determined from value in use calculations
based on cash flow projections from formally approved financial budgets
and forecasts covering a five-year period. Key assumptions applied
in value in use calculation mainly included discount rate and average
growth rate as the value in use is most sensitive to the changes in these
two factors. The sale growth rate applied in the value in use calculation
was based on management’s best estimation, taking into consideration
of historical performances and market expectation. The average growth
rate is 4%. Cash flows for the subsequent years are extrapolated from
the fifth year using 3% growth rate, and discounted using a pre-tax
discount rate of 22.7%.

BENEASECHRETARERE) D
REFRARERENIASELESMN  %E
I B R20255FHRHE -

HEWUFIANALFE  BHEELEN
WA e BACREEFEEEE I
EREEEAMENVBEEELNERS
MIBRELRE RFAMTER - SHEFRE
ERNRANBERBREIEENRERT
HERE  HRFEAEEEZMERZ
ME BT - TEFEAEEREA
REEEREDENRETEENKEMT
WEERESEERTIHESR - FHEER
E4% o HEFENRSRILZEELEFRE
HASwMIEREHE - WEARATITEE
227%FT IR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

18. ZBBEERDIAEBEIERNE

MEE

2025 2024
2025F 20244F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET F&r
Unlisted equity investment stated at fair value FEMERAREEY KD
Mg E 2,421 —

On 26 July 2024, Hefei Qijia Supply Chain Technology Co., Limited
("Hefei Qijia"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and existing shareholders of Anhui Zhongxian Intelligent Robot Co.,
Limited (“Anhui Zhongxian“) entered into an investment agreement
(the “Investment Agreement”), pursuant to which Hefei Qijia
conditionally agreed to acquire the 15% equity interest in Anhui
Zhongxian (the "Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on 13
September 2024 (the "Completion Date”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Investment Agreement, the total
consideration for the Acquisition comprised of a cash consideration of
RMB630,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$675,000) and a minimum
additional consideration of RMB1,291,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,385,000) or a higher consideration of RMB5,690,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$6,104,000) to be determined based on the net profit
of Anhui Zhongxian for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “2024
Net Profit”). The Company is required to pay a higher consideration of
RMB5,690,000 when the 2024 Net Profit is higher than RMB1.2 million,
the consideration of which constituted a contingent consideration
payable, and accounted for as a financial liability measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

The Group, with assistance from an independent valuer, determined the
fair value of the contingent consideration payable based on the present
values of the probability-weighted estimates of the cash outflows. It
reflects management's estimates of the probabilities that the 2024
Net Profit would be achieved and the discount rates. The fair value
of the contingent consideration payable on its initial recognition was
amounted to approximately RMB659,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$663,000). As at 31 March 2025, the fair value of contingent
consideration was amounted to HK$Nil as the 2024 Net Profit is
below RMB1.2 million. Accordingly, a fair value change on contingent
consideration payable of approximately HK$663,000 was recognised
in the profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2025 under “Other
income” (Note b).

M2024F7H268 - GIEEREEERME
RARl(EREBERD(ARamEE2E
MEARDEHZHPEEERBEABRR
ARBPBEDOBRBERRT LR EHZE
((REWHRE]) BULEEERBEKHERE
WELZHARBELHRE(KRBEER] -
WEEEBEE R2024F9ABE (=R B
FEAK °

BREEEHZENER WESEMNER
ERFERESMNEARE30000T(HEER
#96750008 T) R RN REARE
1,291,000 7T (A8 & 72 471,385,000/8 7T) sk R =
R AB A K #5,690,0007T (8 & 7 496,104,000
B L) (R B 2 B R 2B 2 2024F12 A31
HitFEMEF (208 #F DET) - &
20245 45 F| 7= 7 A R 51,200,000 T BF - AR
AIAZNBRSRE A RS5690,0007T * %
REBEREFNKARE  WARIIESZR
BREEAAEBAENENSREE -

AEBEBLHEMOBET F RERS
MR B E NG RE  EE TEN
FARENAAEE REEIEE L2024
FAERAOBEER R EMMEE o BT
KAREBERAVBHERENAALBERBOA
R 659,0007T (A8 & 7 £9663,0007% 7T) ° R
20254E3 5318 » M HA20244F 45 K| A A A
R #1,2000007C - SKAREHNRAAEESR
T At EBRHXARENAALEE
% B/ 49663,0007% T 2 7 Bl £ 202543 A31H
IEFEBEMIE MU A I FES) R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

18.

19.

year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 202543318 | F &

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL continvea)

The following table sets out the movement of the contingent
consideration payable during the year ended 31 March 2025:

18.

EREREAABEIERNE
MEE®
TR E = 2025938318 (FFFE fER 8
RRENEEF:

HKS$ 000
FET
Initial recognition upon the Acquisition and recognised as cost AU BB EBHEZ AR - LHER A
of investment & KA 663
Fair value gain on contingent consideration payable ERAREN2AABEKE
(Note 5) (Ktit5) (663)
As at 31 March 2025 720255 3H31H —

As at 31 March 2025, the additional consideration of RMB1,291,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,385,000) remains unpaid and was
included in “Other payable” (Note 23(c)). Accordingly, the Group holds
4.77% ownership interest in Anhui Zhongxian as at 31 March 2025
based on the paid-up capital made by the Group.

The fair value of the Group's investments in unlisted equity securities
has been measured as described in note 36.6.

CASH SURRENDER VALUE OF LIFE
INSURANCE

The Group has invested in an insurance policy for Ms. Babington, an
executive director and a key management personnel of the Company.
The Group is the beneficiary of such investment. The carrying amount
represented the cash surrender value of the policy and approximates
its fair value at the end of the reporting date. Details of fair value
measurement are set out in Note 35.6.

19.

720253 A31H » BEAMRE A R %1,291,000
7T (FEE 72 491,385,000 7T) A B
ST [E fth BB A3 3018 KFT 75 23(c) « FH L - 1R
BAREEMEDNERBRAGTE - 142025
FIANE  AEBRBEELRBTRBELTI%E
PEHE 75 o

AEBEFETRABHFRENAABED
1% M 7E36.6FT i 5 A E ©

ABRBNBIRSEE

AEEERARABIHTESHEZEEA
BBabington X TR E—H IR - XEE A
ZBRENZTZA - RESBIERENS
MRS EE EREABHRNAALEEMR
B AAEBEEMNG EFIBEAMGENG -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

20. INVENTORIES 200 &
2025 2024
20255 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FE T FET
Finished goods X &h 9,724 10,161
Goods in transit EHRE® 1,953 1,672
11,677 11,833

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN 21. EZRHEMEWRREUR B

RECEIVABLES BX
Trade and other receivables SR HMEWRKIE
2025 2024
2025 20244
Notes HK$ 000 HK$'000
b &t FET FEr
Trade receivables BESERNRE
From third parties JEWE =7 51,992 40,029
Less: ECL allowance W TEHE BEEEER (2,625) (138)
Trade receivables — net 2 oMW IR FRE (a) 49,367 39,891
Other receivables H fth fE W R 18
Deposits, prepayments and & BARER (b)
other receivables H b ' WA 11,174 4,849
Interest receivables JE WA B 194 445
Prepayment to suppliers T8 FE R FRIR c) 9,026 6,642
20,394 11,936
69,761 51,827
The directors of the Group considered that the fair value of trade AEEEEFRE  ARESH R HMERR
and other receivables are not materially different from their carrying BREERHIBARRE  WEARE
amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their BEEAEFABIESERER -
inception.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN  21.
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

B K EAMEWERIEREW
EXe

(a)

Trade receivables

Majority of the Group's sale of furniture and home accessories to
its customers are settled by cash, credit cards, or by other forms
of electronic payments (such as EPS). There was no credit term
granted to the customers and distributors, but the Group allows
credit period of 2 to 7 (2024: 2 to 7) days to the payment vendors
and up to 120 (2024: 120) days to customers of furniture agency
services. For sale of trading parts and automation equipment,
credit term of 180 days was granted to the customers. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
trade receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. Further details on the
Group's credit policy are set out in Note 36.2.

The ageing analysis based on revenue recognition date of the
trade receivables, net of ECL allowance, is as follows:

(a)

E 5B WFIE
AEEBRABFIELEHABIRER
REMMEETIUNERS EAFH
HBFHAFER (WS HE) K-
AEEBVTERNZEFRYHEEELE
BH S TARREEERRER
ERERBEFHA2E7H (20245 :
2ZE7H) K& & %1208 (20244 : 1208)
MEESH BREETHLEELH
HBHEEMS KL TEFPIBENEE
B AEESKESRAKENES
JEURRE IS BRI U EE
EREERE- - BHEHREERE
BETHRN BHEASEEER
KHE— P FBEHAMNE62 -

BORKFTIE(HREBEEEERE
) ER R ERBHMRE S0
T

2025 2024

20255 20245

HK$ 000 HK$'000

FET TETT

0-30 days 0£30H 16,330 8,810
31-90 days 31£90H 14,683 1,088
91-180 days 91£180H 18,354 16,580
181-365 days 1812 365H — 13,413
49,367 39,891

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as

BHRYEGRENEBREEBEREE

follows: T
2025 2024
2025 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET F&r
Balance at 1 April RABTE B & 6 138 110
Disposal of discontinued operations HEBRIEEEER (138) —
Exchange difference X =8 (14) —
ECL allowance recognised ERRAEHEEEBEE 2,639 28
Balance at 31 March M3A3NA M & 4 2,625 138
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN  21.
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Included in the Group's deposits, prepayments and other
receivables as at 31 March 2025 were rental deposits of
HK$2,948,000 (2024: HK$3,173,000), advances to staff of
HK$31,000 (2024: HK$346,000), prepayments for operating,
research and development expenses of HK$6,261,000 (2024:
HK$807,000).

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no ECL allowance was
recognised.

(e) Included in the Group's prepayment to suppliers as at 31 March
2025 was prepayment for marketing expenses of HK$2,445,000
(2024: HK$3,115,000).

B 5 & H b FE U FRIE DA K FE R

= NE )

(b) #2025 3831H - AEEMIZS - B
NREREMERZBERERSR
2,948,000 JT (20244 : 3,173,000/
JC) ~ [A{E B #5031,00078 7T (20245 ¢
346,000/ 7T) * AL & TR FRIE - B EE
7 6,261,000/ JT (20244F : 807,0007%
JT) e

20255 K 202443 A318 - WEER
EHEEEEERL -

(¢) #20254E3A31H » A &% & 1y 78 11 4
EEREREMSHERIENRK
TE2,445,0007% 7T (20244F : 3,115,00078

TT) e

Loan receivables FE Wt & X
2025 2024
20254 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FE T FET
From third parties JEWE = 18,998 15,145
From a related party JE W — 45 R e 2,881 —
Less: ECL allowance B TEEEEEEEER (596) (337)
Loan receivables — net FEWEF F5E 21,283 14,808
Less: non-current portion B IEmBE D (18,786) (211)
Current portion mENEB D 2,497 14,597

The Group's loan receivables, which arise from the money lending
business of providing personal loans and corporate loans in Hong
Kong, are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the carrying amounts
approximate their fair values.

As at 31 March 2025, loan receivables with gross principal amount
of HK$21,879,000 (2024: HK$15,145,000) were due from 13 (2024: 13)
independent third parties. Loan receivable of HK$2,940,000 (2024:
HK$1,722,000) were arise from 9 (2024: 8) personal loans and loan
balance of HK$18,998,000 (2024: HK$13,423,000) were arise from 4
(2024 5) corporate revolving loans. These loans are interest-bearing at
fixed rates ranging from 7.5% to 47% (2024: 7.5% to 48%) per annum.

AEERARBERREAERRAAE
PMEREBEBEBELIAE T ENEK
B ERESBRAQNAEBEMRES -

M2025F3A31H © AN & 42 %8 /21,879,000
7 7T (20244F + 15,145,000 7T) &) JE U B 3%
5 B U132 (20244 < 134) B 3L 55 = F &Y
B 3R ° 2,940,000/ JT (20244F : 1,722,000
J0) K JE IR B 2R B9% (20244 1 8%) A
ANEF - B 3% 45 #218,998,00058 7T (20244 ¢
13,423,000 JT) 7K B4%E (20244F : 5%) A &
BRER ZEEREEEFEMNENT
75% 2 47% (20244F 1 75% £48%) 5F 8. ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LOAN  21.

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

During 31 March 2025, there were 22 personal loans and 5 corporate
revolving loans originated totaling HK$22,355,000 (2024: 29 personal
loans and 7 corporate revolving loans totaling HK$31,715,000). The
average gross balance per loan was HK$828,000 (2024: HK$880,879).
The average return on loans was 13.84% (2024: 16.92%).

The Group has no collateral over loan receivables as at 31 March 2025
and 2024. Impairment loss, net of HK$259,000 (2024: HK$302,000)
has been recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2025. The loan impairment ratio was 2.72% as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
2.23%).

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in Note 36.2.

The movement in the ECL allowance of loan receivables is as follows:

B 5 & H b FE U FRIE DA K FE R
= NE )

BWRERKE)

202543 B3N A HAR - #iE2E @A AER
MEEQREIRE R #8258 522,355,000
BT (2024F - 292 A A B R RIE R
REX BLEANTB008ET) 8%
B R 48 45 4% 828,000 T (20244 -
880,879/ 7T) « B 5K K F ¥ | 7R % 4513.84%
(20244F : 16.92%) °

R20254F M2024F3A31H » A & @ I &
1 fE W E ) an o 0 8259,0007% 7T
(20244 : 302,000/ o) BB EEED R
HE205FIANBILEFEMNEEZFRER
20255 3A318 © B FOR A L X 5272%
(20244 : 2.23%) °

ERASBEEERRNFBEHNME
36.2 °

EUREFNAREEBEREEZBHNT

2025 2024

2025 20244

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FET FEr

Balance at 1 April RAA1B R4 & 337 35

ECL allowance recognised ERREHEEBEHR 259 337
Reversal of ECL allowance recognised EHRAEHEEEBRHE

B — (35)

Balance at 31 March RIANH M 4 4 596 337

A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at the reporting date, based
on the maturity date, net of ECL allowance, is as follows:

RBEAE REINHRNBEREES
BREENERERIHBBERET:

2025 2024

20254 20245

HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

FET FET

Within 1 year —F A 2,497 14,597
After 1 year but within 2 years —F%& EMFEAR 18,786 21
21,283 14,808
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. BITEBRRESE
Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit RITEHRERESRRITFERFEREZE
rates. FIEEE -
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. EZRHEMEMARE
2025 2024
20255 20244
Notes HKS$ 000 HK$'000
b 5F FET FHET
Trade payables EZENRE
To third parties ERE=R (a) 38,656 18,583
Other payables Hfth fE{S RIE
Accrued charges and other payables FE T B B & H & 5K 18 (b) 8,921 8,539
Consideration payables ERRE (c) 1,385 4,604
10,306 13,143
48,962 31,726
Less: Portion due within one year included & : st ARBIEER —F R
under current liabilities I EREY BE (48,537) (31,445)
Portion due after one year included under T AFER B BE N — F1& F
non-current liabilities B Y FE 5 425 281
All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of the FERBEHYAES HALAEENEZ R
Group's trade and other payables as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 were H b B < 308 7220254 K 202453 A31H K
considered to be a reasonable approximation of their fair values. RHEFERAAABEMNSELILUE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continueq)

23. EFREMESNKE

(a) Trade payables (a) EZENRE
There was 0-90 days credit period granted by the suppliers REBEMEERL TIZEWANEE
of the Group. The ageing analysis of trade payables based on H o BRENFREENZZAHH
invoice date is as follows: R
2025 2024
2025 20245
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FE T
0-30 days 0£30H 12,472 5911
31-90 days 31E290H 11,407 8,821
Over 90 days 90H A £ 14,777 3,851
38,656 18,583
(b) Accrued charges and other payables (b) EFFERARHEMEMFIE
Included in the Group's accrued charges and other payables MR2025F3A31H  AEEMNETE
as at 31 March 2025 was dividend payables of HK$2,287,000 Ak E R RE SR EMSRE
(2024: HK$2,287,000), salaries payable of HK$315,000 2,287,000 7T (20244 : 2,287,00078
(2024: HK$2,022,000), LSP obligation of HK$432,000 (2024: JC) ~ FE S ©315,00078 JT (2024 -
HK$353,000) (Note 31), amount due to related parties of HK$nil 2022000 L) KRR B &« & T
(2024: HK$302,000) and amount due to a shareholder of HK$nil 432,0007 7T (2024 4F : 353,000 7T )( B
(2024: HK$762,000), which is unsecured, interest-free and FE31) ~ FERT R 5 sk T (2024
repayable on demand. £ : 302,000 7T) K E A — B AR R K
I8 T8 7T (20245 - 762,000/ 7T) - M
ERFRBEAEER 2O RERE
kEE -
(c) Consideration payables (c) BENRE

As at 31 March 2024, the balance represents the consideration
payable for acquiring Italiving of HK$4,304,000 in 31 December
2021 and acquiring Human Vision of HK$300,000 (Note 37) in
2024, respectively. Those consideration payables were settled

during the year ended 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, amount of HK$1,385,000 represents the
consideration payable of acquiring Anhui Zhongxian (Note 18),

which will be repaid on or before 31 May 2025.
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FRANAKBEEZHROESR
184,304,000 7T F 722024 4F Uy B8 T
A8 B Y & {4 (E300,0005%8 7T (B 7%
37) o ZERNTRED KRB £2025F3
ANEHIEFEEE -

202543 8318 - 1,385,000 7T 15 U
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. SHEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Contract liabilities arising from advance payments EFFA NBEBMTENREL
from customers in relation to: MEHNEE:
— Sale of furniture and home accessories —RARKEMLHMIEE 5,417 6,981
— Distribution and license fee income —DHEERTAEBRA 801 —
6,218 6,981
Contract liabilities arising from gift vouchers sold = & {8 2K f& B H) 12 %5 &= 4
but not yet redeemed MEHNEaE 2 6
6,240 6,987

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arose from the advance
payments made by customers while the furniture and home accessories
are yet to be provided and advance received from customers in relation
to licensing agreement. The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31
March 2025 is mainly due to the decrease in advance payments from
customers while the underlying products are yet to be delivered during
the year.

Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year amounted to
HK$6,987,000 (2024: HK$5,917,000) have been recognised as revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

AREENAYWABEIEXRBE,TAMNK -
MERERRERED RIS - R
HEBEFPHIEK - R2025F3ANEHE
HEaBERD  TBERERFREFPEMNK
BAOBEARIMEBER -

F Y&k 88 A 4 & {E6,9870007% s (2024
F 5,917,000 o) 2 R & £20253A31H
HFEER Ak -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

25. BANK BORROWINGS
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings, based on
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, were
repayable as follows:

25 SRITIRE

20254 N 202453 A31H » REE W R 1T
BEEUZERBZAMBOTIERELH)
RERBROT :

2025 2024
2025 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Within one year —FR 6,768 12,426
In the second year FF 847 803
In the third to fifth year FZEERF 2,699 2,590
After the fifth year FRF® 341 4,455
13,785 20,274
Less: o
— Amount due within one year R—F AR (6,768) (12,426)
— Amount of bank loans that are not repayable ~ — B R EHI KL —F R X
within one year from the end of the reporting EEEREARERESR
period but contain a repayment on demand BB TERSE(RR
clause (shown under current liabilities) BEaFET27) (7,017) (7,848)
Portion due after one year included under FFAEREBBEE TR —F
non-current liabilities BRI — —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

BANK BORROWINGS (continuved) 25. RITEE 2
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank borrowings of HK$5,946,000 M2025F3A3NE - AN £ B R 17 EF &
(2024: HK$11,651,000) are unsecured, contain a repayable on demand 5,946,000 JT (2024 4F : 11,651,0007 JT) & &
clause and are shown under current liabilities. EHR PEAREREEERLERNRD
BETZ7 -
As at 31 March 2025, the Group's bank borrowings of HK$7,839,000 M20254F3A31H - AEEEH BB FE
(2024: HK$8,623,000) obtained under the SME Financing Guarantee FREERAAZEENTNDDLHEER
Scheme operated by HKMC Insurance Limited. The bank borrowings 51 81 4% 1 R 17 18 £7,839,000/% JT (20244 :
were secured fully by personal guarantee executed by the Company's 8,623,000/ 7T) « IRRITIEEBARREEE
director, Mr. Tong Tang Joseph and HKMC Insurance Limited, contain EEEHEBEBRBESFRRBRBRAAE
a repayable on demand clause and are shown under current liabilities. THEABRREEER  ETFREEKRE
The bank borrowings bear interest at floating rates that is market KEENGR  TRAREBEBEETEY -
dependent, and their fair values approximate the carrying amounts. RITEBEERBEMSFIHNFNETE -
HRAAhEEUEERSEMAS -
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings are considered to be a BRITBENFEEISBEEEAAAEBED
reasonable approximation of their fair values. G EELUE -
LEASE LIABILITIES 2. HE&SE
The analysis of the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease AEEEEAERTEOIBEN DT
liabilities is as follows: N
2025 2024
20254 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total minimum lease payments: SR &R AR
— Due within one year K —F A 7,003 8,756
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEZERFHH 2,524 4,680
— Due after the fifth years RERF 1% 5 H m 142
9,638 13,578
Future finance charges on lease liabilities HEBEMNARKRTBZH (592) (1,029)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEWNRE 9,046 12,549
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

26. LEASE LIABILITIES (continved) 2. HE&E»
2025 2024
20255 20245
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Present value of minimum lease payments: =EHEENHHIEE:
— Due within one year B —F N5 E 6,575 8,121
— Due in the second to fifth years RE_FEERAFHH 2,376 4310
— Due after the fifth years R ERF 1% 5| H 95 118
9,046 12,549
Less: Portion due within one year included under 8 ' sF AR B BEIB N —F
current liabilities EI ) (6,575) (8,121)
Portion due after one year included under FAERBAEGEE TR —F
non-current liabilities BRI 2,41 4,428

As at 31 March 2025, lease liabilities amounting to HK$9,046,000 (2024:
HK$12,549,000) are effectively secured by the related underlying assets
as the rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor in the
event of default by repayment by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash outflows for the
leases are HK$9,773,000 (2024: HK$8,869,000).

7202543 A31H - 549,046,0007% 7T (2024 4F :
125490008 ) MAEBEMmME * ANHA
SEEREF  NHEEENENBERE
HAEA MER EAEBEEEERRT -

REE205F3ANBILEE > HERE R
i & #£ 59,773,000 7T (2024 4F : 8,869,000/
JT) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

26. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Details of the lease activities
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group has entered into leases for

21.

2. HE&E»
HEZTEHFS
R20254F NM20245E3A31H - AN &£ B A

warehouse, office, shop premises and motor vehicles as follows: B A= EEMERABEITLUTHE:
Types of right-of-use Financial statements items of ~ Number of Range of remaining
assets right-of-use assets included in leases lease term 2025 2024 Particulars
BRREEREN
RREEERE BBHREE HEHE HTHSEE NBE  AUF B
HKS000  HKS 000
FRE  TiR
Warehouse Property, plant and equipment 3 0.25t0 1.84 years 31 6,770 e Notcontain any renewal and termination
(2024:3) (2024:1.25t0 2.84 years) options
BE nE HERR 3 0.25Z1845 (20245 - 3m 670 o THEFMERRKILERE
(0UF:3)  1BE184%)
Shop premises Property, plant and equipment 2 0.6110 1.47 years 4,622 3,786 o Notcontain any renewal and termination
(2024:2) (2024: 0.47 t0 0.61 years) options
o Some of the contracts contain additional
variable lease payments depends on the
gross receipts during the contract period
JE % nE - BERR 2 061Z147F 4622 e o THEEMERRLILEEE
(04 :2) (2005 04120615)
o HoalEEENNERERN
SEBRTANERNARANE
Office Property, plant and equipment 2 39210 8.80 years 652 1993 ¢ Notcontain any renewal and termination
(2024:4) (2024:0.92 t0 9.80 years) options
BRE n% BERRE i INE880F 652 198 ¢ TRIEMEERLIERRE
(045 4) (2005 1 0922980F)
DEFERRED TAXATION 27, EEMRIE

The movement in the deferred tax assets during the year is as follows:

RAFE  BERBEENZHNOT

HK$'000

FE T
At 1 April 2023 20234 A1 416
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 10) 18 = TR (M 2210) (42)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 72024438318 1202444 B1H 374
Disposal of discontinued operations (Note 9) HEERIEEEER(H29) (22)
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 10) REBE=ERMZ10) 258
At 31 March 2025 A2025%3831H 610
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

27. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 2], EEBIE®)
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting FAEKER R EERANSGRE
of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the year is as BELEMEBEEEMNAENEZSHNOT
follows:
Deferred tax assets EEMEEE
Accelerated
accounting
depreciation Provision Total
MmESTINE BB et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FETT FET FET
At 1 April 2023 7202344 A18 402 23 425
Recognised in profit or loss RIS ER (106) 55 (51)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 1202438318 &
2024418 296 78 374
Disposal of discontinued operations & B 4% |F 48 & ¥ 75
(Note 9) (Kt 7t9) = (22) (22)
Recognised in profit or loss 18 = R 26 232 258
At 31 March 2025 7A2025%3H31H 322 288 610
Deferred tax liabilities EEHREBERE
Accelerated tax
amortisation
i 3R B 1E 6
HK$ 000
FET
At1 April 2023 #2023 4 A1E )
Recognised in profit or loss REEER 9
At 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 PR2024F 38318 ~ 2024F4 B1H &
202543 A31H —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

SHARE CAPITAL B% A<
Number of shares HKS$000
BHEE FET
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, }20234E 4 1R - 2024438318 -
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 202454 F1H KX 202543 A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid ERTIHE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, }20234 4 1R - 2024438318 -
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 202454 F1H %2025 3 A31H 1,584,000,000 15,840
RESERVES 29. f#1E

(a) Share premium
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company may be applied for payment
of distributions or dividends to the shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(b) Capital reserve
Capital reserve arises from capital contribution by a shareholder
of the Company.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of shareholders dated on 5 January
2018, a share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 5 January 2018 (the “Share
Option Scheme”)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity").

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of share capital in issue from time to time.

30.

(a) B3 &
BRERSRERRE  ARFNK
153 5 18 B 4 4 R s PR 7 1A R R
REAR B - M R B R R
BHEEA KD Mﬁ ENRAR%
BB R B MET -

(b) BEAGEE
EARERAAAR —BRELE

UBROAERNBERS

1R 15 B E A20184F 1 ASH AR R 2 Rk 5
R OARRRMN—IBERETE BX
Hi A 8201851858 B 51104 ([58 & #& 5t
D

BREFIEEEASENABER2EE
REBRE FRNSHAREFLER
MBSO, - R R EAEE A RS
BERExEEYRIIHAKELAKEIT
AR EARGA T ABRENTAER (&R
EEBDAEENANER

HRBEERE S R AEE RN E
MEMBEREFEICREMEFTERN

EMEMARTEERERETEMIEITH
EERHEE  TEBATRKRERITRA
#730% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

30.

year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 202543318 | F &

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Group) to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date on
which dealings in the Company's shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange, being 158,400,000 shares (the “General Scheme Limit").

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 10% of share capital in issue as at the date
of approval of the limit.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group (including both exercised or
outstanding options) to each eligible participant who accepts the offer
for the grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of issued share capital for
the time being. Where any further grant of options under the Share
Option Scheme to a grantee would result in the shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and proposed to be granted
to such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of share capital in
issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by shareholders
in general meeting with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if the grantee is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be at the discretion
of the directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of
the Company’s shares on the offer date; (b) the average closing price of
the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheets for trade in one or more board lots of the Company's shares for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares.

No option was granted under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 and during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

30.

LURHOAEERNEERZ ®

AREEREAEERAEE TR EME
PAERTEIS TR HO 2 ME R (G m
T AR REREERERTS RSB (E [
H b BB AR ET B A IR B R BB AR AE)
BITEMARITHOROESE  SEATER
BRARRATENEREMIFBAGEEE
HE 27 A% A #910% (BN158,400,000/% f% 15)
(T—MstEIRED -

BrIEEAR A R AR R AL - 7 A E AR IR BB A%
TE AT 8 & AN £ [ A £ fth B8 AR 4 51 8155
TRENEHDEREETEMTETHY
BB NEBBENIEREZHE %
TR A #910% o

REFN2E AR - RREERESE R
AEBEFMEMCEREFIERLNER
#(EROTRICRTEREE) ETEM
ERRAEAR SR ENREERE
EREBRENBONAER2EE (&
BADZTHROES  THEBERD
BATIRA 1% © fid 1R 4% B8 A4 51 &) A &
BAE—TIEOBRRESEBRNESE
—IELARBEEREER(BREZA)RL
12EAHE AREEREAESRAEE
THEMBEREFIHCERERRZA
IRENEHNBEREEREDTRE BF
HhRARTEBERB) BRTEMDHETRS
BITMRD - AHEBBCDBEITRAN% -
AlE— T REARBRELALRER
BRRGESTTHAE  MZARAREE
EMBEAGMZARARBEEAL 8
HBBA)ERERRE -

TABEENRBERRESHBERE -
HEETSERAUTEEPNRSE @R
BHAH BMXABRAHRERREE T
FU FRBEEEEMHARRTRG AT
MARABRDEHE: R EZRELHEH
AMAEZ%R BIXAEAKRERMEER
—FHRULEBEESMANARA RN
O AR R A FHIWTHE - R
{8

720254 K 20243 A31H LA N & 20254
N2024F3ANALFE - BEREERE
BT AR E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

LSP OBLIGATION

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, Hong
Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at least five
years are entitled to LSP under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by
employers or upon retirement).

The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the
employee’s last monthly salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the
Group's contributions to MPF scheme (see note 23), with an overall cap
of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligations.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 ("“Amendment Ordinance”), which abolishes the
use of the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The Amendment Ordinance will
take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Separately, the
Government has indicated that it would launch a subsidy scheme to
assist employers after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective of the
contributions made before, on or after the Transition Date) to reduce
the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the Transition Date.
However, where an employee's employment commenced before the
Transition Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee's service up
to that date. In addition, the LSP in respect of the service before the
Transition Date will be calculated based on the employee’'s monthly
salary immediately before the Transition Date and the years of service
up to that date.

The benefit payment under LSP remains capped at HK$390,000 per
employee. If an employee’s total benefit payment exceeds HK$390,000,
the amount in excess of the cap is deducted from the portion accrued
from the Transition Date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its abolition
as disclosed in notes 2.21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily
impacts the Group's LSP obligations with respect to Hong Kong
employees.

31.

REBRBEERE
RIBEEBEDFTIBCE B RREIRGD) - L
EEXBRBMOLFNEEREE EETER
TNERIBREINEARF)HEREEE
EHR®E -

BNRHRESCHORENLBREERE —
18 A& B % (JA22,50008 7T & EBR) M R
FE MRAALEENABESTEIHAME
EMERNEE#D(AMEFR%ET &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

31. LSP OBLIGATION (cortined) 3. REBRBEEE )
The present value of unfunded LSP obligations and its movements are as AMFARARBeEEHRERHLE S
follows: R
2025 2024
2025 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
As at 1 April 4R 353 201
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive 7 E 4 & [ U 25 #E 32 #) & 5
income: FE
— Actuarial loss arising from changes in financial — & B4 7§ R 58 & ) i1 &= £ 19
assumptions EEEE 18 100
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: RIEERRHAL:
— Current service cost — 7N B AR 75 K AR 50 M
— Net interest expense A EF 2 FEE 1 11
As at 31 March MR3A3A 432 353
The current service cost and past service cost are included in employee RHREH AR BEREHKAEFTAREES
benefit expenses. They are recognised in the following line items in the BAFASY  TREGEAKRERNATEES
consolidated income statement: TR
2025 2024
2025F 20244F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET F&r
Selling and marketing expenses HERMISHERS 35 20
General and administrative expenses —BRITBRAX 15 21
50 41
Estimates and assumptions A RB®
The significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of LSP ErRHRGcEFEANERABEER
obligations are as follows: B Ul
2025 2024
2025F 20244F
Discount rate PR = 2.93% 3.49%
Salary growth rate FoERX 1.00% 3.49%
Turnover rate (by salary group) B E(RFaEE D) 18.99% to 28.61%  23.51% t0 32.87%
18.99% £28.61% 23.51% %32.87%
Expected investment return on offsetable MPF AT REcREERN
accrued benefits TEHA 1% & B 3R 2.50% 2.50%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

LSP OBLIGATION (continved) . RERBEEE
Estimates and assumptions (Continved) et REBR @)
These assumptions were developed by management. Discount factors ZEBIHEEEET - MEREXINE
are determined close to each period-end by reference to market MEARBEL2EEERRES AERH
yields of high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the TENHEEE AR EGRFERER
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to HRBEETGEREE) N MG RREE
maturity approximating to the terms of the related LSP obligations. E o EMEBHRANZEABEEEREIRE
Other assumptions are based on current actuarial benchmarks and HBTERABKE -
management’s historical experience.
The present value of the LSP obligations was measured using the FHRESEENHEAERBEINECE
projected unit credit method. FUEETE o
The weighted average duration of the LSP obligations is 7.7 years (2024: RERGEEEONETHFHRIIF
6.9 years). (2024 : 69FF) -
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted LSP obligations in the next 7R20254F3 A 31 A 1 R K38 #Y AR AT IR & Hi
38 years as at 31 March 2025 is disclosed as follows: e EENEHIHRBERTREN
T
Overfyear  Over2years
but within but within
Within 1 year 2years Syears  Overb5years Total
-FEHNEB  WENLE
-FR AELR BEUR BENE @zt
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FET FET FET FET
LSP obligations RERKSEL 1 — 186 39 32

The LSP obligations expose the Group to actuarial risks such as interest
rate risk, salary risk and the investment risk of the Group's MPF
scheme’s constituent funds.

RRBeEESASEHEN XA R -
FoRBEAEERED KN KRE
ENRERRERERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

31. LSP OBLIGATION (continued)

Changes in the significant actuarial assumptions
The calculation of the LSP obligations is sensitive to the significant
actuarial assumptions mentioned above. The following table summarises
the effects of changes in these actuarial assumptions on the LSP
obligations at the end of each reporting periods.

31.

EHREEEEw
EARERREH
EHRESEANIEH B AKE
5 AR - FRMMN S RERRZ
EREERREHHE RS EANY
B o

Impact on LSP obligations

HREBESEINETE
Changes in Increase in the Decrease in the
assumption assumption assumption
BRE&iE R 5% 3 hn B2
HK$'000 HK$000
T T FE T
As at 31 March 2025 7420253 831H
Discount rate IR = 5% (4) 5
Salary growth rate FoHRE 5% 29 (43)
Turnover rate B = 5% (21) 22
Expected investment return on AEhEES RERE
offsetable MPF accrued benefits 7 i) 78 B IR & B 3R 5% —* —*
As at 31 March 2024 20245 3A318
Discount rate IR = 5% (4) 4
Salary growth rate HemRX 5% 3 (3)
Turnover rate R B R 5% (18) 18
Expected investment return on A hRiEe REE
offsetable MPF accrued benefits B 78 B 9% & B 3 5% —* —*

* The amount less than HK$1,000

ig
7

* © 5 N,00008 T

p2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. XA R KB B AR R &
COMPANY

2025 2024
20254 2024 5F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FAET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—HENBRRMNIEE 20,249 20,249
Current assets REEE
Prepayments AR 13 151
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE UL B B A B 5K E 4,808 5,442
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 47 47
4,968 5,640
Current liabilities REBAEE
Other payables H b FE S 50IA 314 3,370
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS M B A E FE 6,274 —
9,415 3,370
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(&8E)  EETFE (4,447) 2,270
Net assets EEFE 15,802 22,519
EQUITY =
Share capital fi& A 15,840 15,840
Reserves (Note) (BT a2) (38) 6,679
Total equity R 15,802 22,519
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June R2025F6 H27TA B EE G # £ R EE T
2025. oo
Tong Tang Joseph Tsui Wing Tak
B "mEE
Director Director
EZE EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 32. &XAR MM BAR R T2

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Hfat -
The movement of the Company'’s reserves are as follows: KAFHEBESHNT
Share Accumulated
premium* losses Total
B’ 5% E" 2B 8 @t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 51,813 (42,067 9,746
Loss and total comprehensive expense A &5 BR2EHAXRTE
for the year — (3,067) (3,067)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 72024453 8318 20244 A1H 51,813 (45,134) 6,679
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREEREZARS B
for the year — (6,717) (6,717)
At 31 March 2025 72025538310 51,813 (51,851) (38)

Share premium represents (i) the excess of the proceeds from issuance

* B 1) 4 18 46 (1) A8 2 R 3% 7T B 4D WO P 1S 3K

of the shares of the Company over its par value, net of share issuance HBEEEEN S (0RO ZEITH
expenses; and (i) the difference between the carrying value of Tree ) RBAFEREREERAAN
Limited acquired in prior years over the nominal value of the share capital FEHEBEARAMEARBMEITHR
of the Company issued in exchange thereof. REEMNER -
33. COMMITMENTS 33, AE
(a) Lease commitments (a) FHERIE
As a lessor EHEHEA
At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had future aggregate 1A20254F ) 20243 A31H - AEEIR
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases BRI RE S E B Y = WEUR
in respect of properties as follows: RxEHEe@BOT:
2025 2024
20254 20244F
HKS$ 000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Within one year —FR — 503
The Group leases its property under operating lease REBBEVLAI2FHEEHEE
arrangements which run for an initial period of 2 years. ZHHEYE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material

transactions with related parties:

(a)

Name and relationship with related parties
During the year, the related parties that had transactions with

the Group were as follows:

Name of related parties

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

M. BEHAIRS
BRIt SRV ERREMIDMFEENR
5/ BR 2 KEBHEBE S QETT
WNEARS:

(a) BABES WEBMREE
RAFE  BRAEBETIHHNMH
577 T

Relationship with the Group

B A8 EAEEMNER

Mr. Tong Tang Joseph A director of the Company

BE & E RARES

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak A director of the Company
mAREE RRBES

Mr. Yu Quansheng A director of the Company

RER R RARES

Mr. Han Yi Director of a subsidiary of the Group
BREYE REE-—HHBRARINES
Ms. Feng Hui Director of a subsidiary of the Group
BE L+ REE-—FMBARIMNES
AE Majoris Business Development Company Limited Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak
AACEERERAA RIRFBE R LTS

AE Majoris CPA Limited Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak

AAEHMEBMAERLDF

AE Majoris Corporate Services Company Limited
A ERSEERADF

Anhui Zhongxian

Z R

Flexi Credits Limited

R B AR AR

Note:  Mr. Yu Quansheng ceased to be the director of Anhui Zhongxian

on 20 March 2025.

ZARAE L E

Controlled by Mr. Tsui Wing Tak
RIRBEREES

Controlled by Mr. Yu Quansheng (note)
XRRERS ST A (H )

Controlled by a close member of Mr. Tong Tang Joseph
R EB SRR RES

Bt et RIEBEER2025F38208T 8B
BEEPENES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) 4. BEBRAIAXSZ®)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EHEBEBINRS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial BRI SRSV B HREH I D
statements, during the year, the transactions with related parties BEIN FARBEEKRIEH M
of the Group carried in the ordinary course of business were as NEEEESTETHOISHWT
follows:
2025 2024
2025F 20245
HKS$'000 HK$ 000
FET F&r
AE Majoris Corporate Services Company Limited Company secretarial
service fee 149 77
A ERBERAF NElMERSEE
Anhui Zhongxian Sale of trading parts and
automation equipment 1,473 —
R EETHREHL
HEHE
Flexi Credits Limited Management fee 256 —
REF IS BR AR EEB
Flexi Credits Limited Sales of loans 1,262 —
REF B ER AR HEER
Flexi Credits Limited Purchase of loans 8,773 —
REFMBHER QA BEEX
(c) Amounts due from/(to) related parties (c) FEWL (FEAY)BAEES FRIB
2025 2024
20255 20244F
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Other payables H h PE 3 KB
Mr. Han Yi g — 153
Ms. Feng Hui BEZ L — 149
Amounts due from/(to) related parties are unsecured, interest- FENY,(FEAT) BT 5 FUB A KR
free and repayable on demand. BB RBERERERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continved) 4. BEBRAIAXSZ®)
(d Key management personnel remuneration d EEEBAEFHFM
Key management of the Group are members of the board of AEENFEEREREFTERS
directors and senior management. Key management personnel BERBEKE - ETEZEEABFH M
remuneration includes the following expenses: BIENTSERS:

2025 2024

20255 20244

HKS$ 000 HK$ 000

FET FETT

Salaries and allowances e kFM 5,880 7,074

Retirement benefit scheme contributions RKGE T ET 8l R 192 88

6,072 7,162
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35.
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (a)
financing activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing

RERETRERME
MEZBFELRGENHER

AEENBERHMELANEEE

activities can be classified as follows: PofEmT:
Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
HEAE RITEE et
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET F&ET F&r
At 1 April 2023 R2023F 4818 12,879 6,464 19,343
Cash-flows: ReERE:
Proceeds Fr 5 3R — 51,503 51,503
Repayments B — (37,693) (37,693)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEaEN R ID (8,158) — (8,158)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEsEBENFBHY (653) — (653)
Interests paid BT F B — (1,009) (1,009)
Non-cash: FHE:
Entering into new leases FIMEHEE 2,239 — 2,239
Modification of lease BRHEE 6,841 — 6,841
Other payable HAibfERT5R1E (742) — (742)
Other income H A A (510) — (510)
Interest expenses B R X 653 1,009 1,662
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R2024F3H31B &
20244818 12,549 20,274 32,823
Cash-flows: ReERE:
Proceeds Fr{S 3k 18 — 21,254 21,254
Repayments B — (28,049) (28,049)
Capital element of lease liabilities HEBENERE D (8,956) — (8,956)
Interest element of lease liabilities HEBENNESRD (817) — (817)
Interests paid [RENEIPSN — (785) (785)
Non-cash: FBES:
Disposal of discontinued operations HECKRIEER — (5,694) (5,694)
Exchange difference EHER (8) = (8)
Modification of lease BRHEE 6,755 — 6,755
Gain on modification of lease BRI HE 2 & (29) — (29)
Other payable H b fET KB (755) — (755)
Other income E Al A (510) — (510)
Interest expenses FEFE 817 785 1,602
At 31 March 2025 7A2025F3H31H 9,046 13,785 22,831
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Non-cash transactions
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group renewed
certain lease contracts which increased right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities amounting to HK$6,755,000 (2024: HK$6,713,000)
at the lease modification date.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the shareholder has
paid capital element of lease liabilities of HK$755,000 (2024
HK$742,000) on behalf of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the service company has
paid rental expenses of HK$510,000 (HK$510,000) on behalf of
the Group, which did not recharge the amount to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into
certain lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities amounting to HK$2,239,000 was recognised
at the lease commencement date.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has acquired
a subsidiary, Human Vision and a gain on bargain purchase
of HK$779,000 was recognised under “Other income” in the
consolidated statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive
income (note 37).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). The Group’s
overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is
carried out by the senior management of the Group and approved by the
board of directors. There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

5. MRS RERMTE 2

b) FEEXRSH
RE E205F3ANBILEEFE - A&
EEEEETHEAY RHEEE
HAMENMERAREERTEES
{&6,755,0007% T (20244F : 6,713,000/
JT) e

HE2025F3A3NBILEE - KEER
EAEESTNBEEABN LS IS
755,0007% 7T (20244 : 742,0007% 7T) °

HE20255FIANAIUEFE - RIEAH]
BERFRAEE A S 7 510,000
70 (510,000 7T) - Bt ERAEE
U B 52 5/ 18 o

REZE2024F3ANBILEE AEE
VA THESY Bt RHEE
FEAERTEERAEEE A
& A 152,239,000/ 7T °

REE204FE3ANBILEE AEE
WEE—EMBARTAARE I
ERGEABREREMEEKREZRE
ENE: LA Nk A L
779,0007% 7T (Bt 7%37) ©

6. UBEABREERAABENE

AEBERAEREEHBIEMREESPE
REmTAMmMAZRERR - HEHBER
REEEERR RBESEARKETSE
B (BREMNEEREINERR)  REBDH
BERAREEXBSKEEREELE
BN BERREXNEENNTZE - [
REEAASENGREEEETLRE
EeitE AEER SR TAAENER
BASKHEE NG ERRA T AL EE
1t »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A ISR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. MBRABEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)
36.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 361 eREEREENWER
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of EHEEHBRARPE2INERS
financial position relate to the following categories of financial FENATHEINERHEER SR E
assets and financial liabilities: BEHM:
2025 2024
2025F 20244F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BBREBTEAALEBEYE
HEmEE
— Cash surrender value of life insurance — AERBHBHR
BE 2,080 2,023
— Unlisted equity investment — EETRAKRE 2,421 —
Financial assets at amortised cost LB AR ERES S R
AE
— Trade and other receivables —EZ 5 Rk H M EWKFKIA 59,882 44,417
— Loan receivables —EWER 21,283 14,808
— Bank balances and cash —RITEHRES 961 12,192
86,633 73,440
2025 2024
2025F 20244F
HKS$ 000 HK§ 000
FET FE T
Financial liabilities cREaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LB AR EEN 2R
afE
— Trade and other payables — B R HMENFIE 48,417 31,261
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 13,785 20,274
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 9,046 12,549
11,248 64,084
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

36.2 Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and bank

deposits, trade and other receivables and loan receivables. The

Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assets is limited to the carrying amount at the reporting dates as

summarised below:

36. BIEREERAABETE
()
362 EERAK

AREERERSRBITER - BS
Ko E A pE AR SR IE % JE AR B FORE (=
ERK AEBEGRSmMEEREN
BEAREERBRTBAT AR
HEASNEREESE:

General approach

Simplified —BEA

approach Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
[ERIE:S B B &2 B E23 @t
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2025 20253 831H
Trade receivables B oW IR 49,367 = — — 49,367
Loan receivables FE Y & 3 — 21,051 32 = 21,283
Other receivables H i fE 7R — 10515 - — 10515
Bank balances and cash BITER &Iﬁ & — 961 — — 961
49,367 32,521 232 — 82,126

At 31 March 2024 R204F38318
Trade receivables BHRWGR 39,891 — — — 39,891
Loan receivables FEYE — 13,586 1222 - 14,808
Other receivables Hih Y508 — 4526 — — 4526
Bank balances and cash BITEBRAE — 12192 — — 1219
39,891 30,304 1222 — a7

(i)

Trade receivables

The Group's policy is to deal only with credit worthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a credit worthiness assessment made.
Payment record of customers is closely monitored. It
is not the Group's policy to request collateral from its

customers.

i) EZEWKA
AEENBEEZERGEERLT
MXZEFETRS - HEP
ABBEENGR HAER
FEBFER AEEENERT
PR 8 - AEBABEK
WEEBREFPIEERM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
36.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In addition, as set out in Note 2.10, the Group assesses
ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables from furniture
agency services segment under simplified approach based
on provision matrix, the expected loss rates are based
on the payment profile as well as the corresponding
historical credit losses during that period. The historical
rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s ability
to settle the amount outstanding. At each reporting date,
the historical default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed. However,
given the short period exposed to credit risk, the impact
of these macroeconomic factors has not been considered
significant within the reporting period.

The Group assesses ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade
receivables from sale of trading and automation
equipment segment by individual assessment. The
trade receivables from sale of trading and automation
equipment contributed by two customers. The Group
assesses the credit risk for these customers individually
by considering their credit profile and forward-looking
information.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Failure to
make payments within 365 days from the due date and
failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment
arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, ECL allowance of
HK$2,639,000 (2024: HKS$nil) was recognised for trade
receivables from the sale of trading parts and automation
equipment segment at ECL rate of 5.16%.

BBEREERAAEETE

(%)

36.2 EERKM &)

(i)
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FEFEERBHKERE - K
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REBERIEE B W5 R EZER
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AERFEIEREEBE - R
BEEEMABBICREHEENE
SRYFIAHMEHEFER
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EVTEAENKEESRE - &
5 FE W SR TE = 8 (RN 4% 1
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ERERNRZHERRE -
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FEIZ -

M2025F K& 2024%3A318 © 2K
BEETHLEBEREHEE
D EBHYE 5 FE R IEZ5.16% 1Y
EHEEFEBERRAEHE
B &5 18 #5 #52,639,0005% 7T (2024
FTEIL)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
36.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no ECL allowance was
recognised for trade receivables from the furniture sale,
consultancy services. Most of the trade receivable was
due from credit card vendors, where the general credit
terms are ranging from 1 to 30 days. In the view of
management, the credit risk was relatively low.

As at 31 March 2024, ECL allowance of HK$138,000
was recognised for trade receivables from the furniture
agency services segment at ECL rate of 0.2% for trade
receivables that are not yet past due, 0.4% for trade
receivables that are past due within 90 days, 0.5% for
trade receivables that are past due within 91 to 180 days,
0.6% for trade receivables that are past due within 181 to
365 days and 100.0% for trade receivables that are past
due over 365 days.

As at 31 March 2025, 86.9% (2024: 83.5%) of the total
gross trade receivables was due from a customer arisen
from the sale of trading parts and automation equipment
segment (2024: furniture agency services segment).

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loan
receivables, other receivables and bank balances and
cash.

Loan receivables

The Group manages the credit risk for money lending
business and assesses the credit quality of the customers
in regular basis, taking into account their financial
position, settlement history, internal and external credit
rating and other factors.

3. BHEBREERAABETE

(%)

362 EERM &)

(i)

(ii)

BEWREE)
20254 202443 A31H » A
SRV ERRAHEERBEAR
BHESEKFERRES
CEBIEEER KHBoEHE
H%ﬂﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂ&zﬁﬁﬁﬂ,\ﬁ’ﬁéﬁm
C—REEBANTIENH -
E@w EERBR AR
1K °

R2024F3 8318 - R AR R
B EBER2% (KRB mE
S MW R IE)  0.4% (8 HA908
WHE S MERFIE) - 05% (&
HI91Z=180H M A & 5 & K
1H) - 06% (i@ H91812365H A
K Z 5 FE W 3 IE) 12100.0% (&
HA365H LA E M E 5 I WK E)
Eﬁi‘ﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁi‘f%%??f%ﬂ%ﬁw

HERRBEHEEBEBEER
138,000/%7E o
R2025F3A31H B 5 E W

FRIEAEEE A 0 86.9% (20244 ¢
835%) BIEW —BEEZTHR
BERLRBHEEIDATEBEFRPD
RIE(2024F - REAR BRI D
) o

REBHERAIIRNEAGERME
-3
BRBHERATENEMSHE
EREEEER - Hib UK
BARBITEBRAS ©

JEW B 7

AEBEEBERHEFPNE
EE BTG ABREE
BB MROR  ERELE - A
RINEBEEFRAREME
=% EEREEBHNEERER

G o
FA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. MBRABEERAAEBENE

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)
36.2 Credit risk (Continued) 36.2 EER M2
(ii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued) (i) ZBEAFRIENHEGSEME
E(E)
Loan receivables (Continued) EWKEF (&)
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All loans are subject to credit assessment and are
reviewed by the Group. A report included all available
data such as information from the TransUnion Credit
Report, including history of default, background of the
loan customer and other publicly available information
are reviewed before acquiring new loans. The loan is
approved after the credit assessment was reviewed and
approved by the management.

The management reviews regularly the recoverable
amount of loan receivables by taking into account of
the market conditions, customers’ profiles including
any significant changes in the payment status of the
borrowers to ensure that adequate impairment is made for
the irrecoverable amounts. In assessing the recoverability
of the loan receivables, information such as (i) historical
payment records e.g., timely settlement of loan interest or
loan principal amounts before the due dates; (i) the length
of the overdue period; and (iii) any foreseeable changes
in the economic environment that would significantly
deteriorating the borrower’s ability to meet its obligation.
The management keeps monitoring in an ongoing basis to
decide whether any follow-up action should be taken to
avoid potential exposure to recoverability problems.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure the expected credit losses for loan receivables.

As at 31 March 2025, ECL allowance of HK$384,000
(2024: HK$136,000) was recognised for loan receivables
arising from personal loans and ECL allowance of
HK$212,000 (2024: HK$201,000) was recognised from
loan receivables arising from corporate revolving loans.

MBERFHARRERIGHL
RAAEEELY  WARLERH
HEMAABEMNRSE (A
MBERBEERSHN AN
AR BEEOTE BEXE
FPHESEEMARAIFER
) TERBHER - BRNE
REREEMRILEEENG
‘77 THA o

EREeTHENRKERD
AlESE TEEMRRE
FER(BIEERANERMEE
WIEREXNES)  BIRDHT
AlkE S EIRRARE - &£
5T 1 B Uk B B Ay A Uk B R
CEB)BEERDE
RE BRI R EEBERF B
S E R A S FE (i) 8 7 A2 5K AR
R E i) 7] BE R 2 P& K 18 3K
A BB RE BT ] 7] T8 R4 7%
RBEEHETEN  c BEESH
BEHETTEE R AR T B L R AT
RIBRAEITE) - T B
£ /9 AT UK [ 1 R R o

ANEE e A& B M5 @SR
FIF—MITEFERKER
MEREEER -

2025438318 ERLEAE
TRE R JE R B FRRE R TR A
1= B JE5 18 1% 15,384,000 7T (2024
£ :136,0008 L) - INE B A A
BERERELENERERER
78 Bz B 5 18 45K 212,00075 7T
(20244 : 201,00078 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
36.2 Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, loan receivables
amounting to HK$232,000 (net of ECL of HK$261,000)
were transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2024:
HK$1,222,000) (net of ECL of HK$136,000). There were
no other transfers between Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3
during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$nil).

Due to the loan receivables arising from corporate
revolving loans increased as at 31 March 2025, there was
significant increase in ECL allowance for the year ended
31 March 2025.

Other receivables and bank balances and cash

In order to minimise the credit risk of other receivables,
the management would make periodic collective and
individual assessment of the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records and
past experience as well as current external information
and adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-
looking information, including the default rate where the
relevant debtors operates. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure the expected credit losses for other financial
assets at amortised cost.

As at 31 March 2025, ECL allowance for other receivables
was considered immaterial.

The credit risks on bank balances are considered to be
insignificant because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

3. MBRABEERAAEBENE

(%)

36.2 EERKM &)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
36.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade
payables and its financial obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and its relationship with its bankers to
ensure that the Group maintain sufficient reserves of cash and
cash equivalents and committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. When
the creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the
liability is included on the basis of the earliest date when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the
liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the
earliest period in which the Group is committed to pay.

36.

BBEREERAAEETE

(%)

363 BN E S E

RBES AR AN EEEXE
TURNREHZ—EREELE
ERAENHEEETNAR - A%
BHEEEESIRNREAREYBKE
F-UREREREEE T AL
RBETRAR ANEBENRERE
HEREMBEBHRHESFR
BT ERZ ISR M B RR
TOEE UERAEEER TR
MRS IACEEMREBARKE
ZomMBEBRGEAEREEE MU
ENEEMEBREHORDEST

7
Lo

LA 99 #T 720256 K 202463 A318 -
REESRBENFGAOIHAE -
EEEAGHREEEABHNMN
NEHABERASEETTHEEXK
NENEEEHAR - WEBAEE
BANHEE ASESHEREBES
EREEART RN TR -

Total
Within 1year Over1year but undiscounted Carrying
orondemand within5years  Over5years amount amount
MERE BBIFE

RER R5FR BBSF RTRASHE EESE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 31 March 2025 R2025F 34318
Trade and other payables BHREMEMRIE 48,417 — — 8m7 4847
Bank borrowings RITEE 13,785 — — 13,785 13,785
Lease liabilities HEARE 7,003 2,524 m 9,638 9,046
69,205 2,524 m 71,840 1,248

At 31 March 2024 R202443R318
Trade and other payables B RHAMERNKIE 31,261 — — 31,261 31,261
Bank borrowings RITEE 20,274 — — 20,274 20,274
Lease liabilities HEAR 8,756 4,680 142 13,578 12,549
60,291 4,680 142 65,113 64,084
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & 2202553 A31A I &

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)

36.3 Liquidity risk (Continved)
The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the bank loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payment computed using contractual
rates. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with the loan
covenants, is up to date with the scheduled repayments of the
loans and does not consider it is probable that the bank will
exercise its discretion to demand repayment so long as the Group
continues to meet these requirements. The directors believe that
these bank borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the bank loan agreements.

3. MBRABEERAAEBENE

(%)

63 RBELSERZ)

TERE|ERITERBEAZEN
EFEREAMATFREREE
RFRMBITEENIIOMN - ZF
ERBEBEUAAHONEAHENF S
R AEEEREREITERE
MHER Y —EREER LR
RABAEERBEETZERE
RITHTIARATRITEAEANBEEK
BR- - EFHE ZFRITEES
RBERITEXBEANA AT EE
REMEE -

Within Over 1 year Total
1 year or on but within undiscounted Carrying
demand 5years Over 5 years amount amount
MER BB1F AR
FRER  BARER BiB5F BeE EHSE
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2025 R2025F 34318
Bank borrowings BIEE 7,098 4,185 3,661 14,944 13,785
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A318
Bank borrowings FITEE 12,945 4,298 4,836 22,079 20,274
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

EI‘I_'
fin

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. BiIEREERAAEE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (&)
36.4 Interest rate risk 36.4 F =R F bz
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Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in the market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
primarily from bank borrowings, loan receivables and lease
liabilities. The Group's loan receivables bearing fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk while the Group's
borrowings bearing variable rates and fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
risk respectively. The exposure to interest rates for the Group's

MERRDESHIANAAEE
Yﬁim%lm%ﬂt":‘@}ﬁﬁ&@)
MEBREME - AEEHF ER R

ZRERITEE - B ERRA fz\
BfE - HEEFEGTEONRNEEE
WE R AL E & E R AEEF K
[B B - TR ¥ 8 & EE F EE R
REEBEESINEREEAER
MEMEERRAABENERR

short term bank deposits is considered immaterial. $ SEBEHRITERRENE
AA g fﬂj{
The effective interest rates of the Group’s loan receivables and AEBHNEVRERREERHER
borrowings at the reporting date were as follows: HMERMENT:
2025 2024
20254 20244
Effective Effective
Interest rate HKS$ 000 Interest rate HK$ 000
4 FilpS FET B A E FET
Fixed rate JE M &R
— Lease liabilities —HEAE 3.2%-1.8% 9,046 3.2%—8.1% 12,549
— Loan receivables —ERER 1.5%—-48% (21,283) 7.5%—48% (14,808)
(12,237) (2,259
Variable rate F B E
— Bank borrowings —R1TEE 3.41-17.38% 13,785 3.6%-8.1% 20,274
— Bank overdraft —RITEX 6.9% 751 6.9% 1,208
14,536 21,482
As at 31 March 2025, if interest rate for variable rate borrowings MR2025F3A31H @ MFEFEREER

had increased/decreased by 50 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the profit after income tax would have
been HK$61,000 lower/higher (2024 loss after income tax would
have been HK$90,000 higher/lower) and accumulated losses
would have been HK$61,000 (2024: HK$90,000) higher/lower.

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions and represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next twelve-
month period.

PR EF THS0OEEER - BFrAH

fh s BUR N BB AT RE &

¥R 38 5161,0007 TT (20244 :

B BT 1S R 14 IS 1B 12 003 490,000

*E) 2 1B #5148 0,8 461,000
5 7T (20244 : 90,0008 7T) °

ERWRATROBE  FRER

rrrrrrr BHREAATTLED  BRR

4@@%*I+-ﬂﬂ%ﬁﬂ$é
] 8 5 BY 0 37 £ -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36.

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)

36.4 Interest rate risk (Continued)
The calculations are based on a change in average market
interest rates for each period, and the financial instruments held
at each reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest
rates. All other variables are held constant. The sensitivity
analysis included in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2024 has been prepared on the same basis.

36.5 Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposures
to currency risk arise from its overseas sales and purchases,
which are primarily denominated in Euro (“EUR"), USD and RMB
(“Renminbi”). These are not the functional currencies of the
group entities to which these transactions relate. The Group has
bank balances and cash, bank borrowings and cash surrender
value of life insurance denominated in foreign currencies,
primarily in EUR and USD.

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities,
translated into HK$ at the closing rates, are as follows:

BXRAREERAAEBEE

(#8)

36.4 A =& b (2)
BEHERESBHEHTEH
RSB RS RS BT E R
REHRBEMNEMILET - A
Hth % BRI T o BE204538
IR FENRA B BHRE B
BEDT IR B AR E LR o

36.5 S5 [ B
SNERRTESRTANAABE
FARBERERNEERF T
HEMERAR - AEENSEE
S EERAEBMEERIRE X
BT ETERARBEHE - &
TETRARBLIEZZZ M
SEBBENNGEEE - AEEE
BN (X ERBTRET)HE
HRITEBRES  BITEERA
ERBMBHESEE -

MONEEHEMEREERABBIRK
MEXBE QBTN

usb EUR RMB
EP BT ARW
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000

FET FET FET

As at 31 March 2025 720254 3H31H

Cash surrender value of life insurance A SR KR IR & BE
Unlisted equity investment FLEmKRERE

Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b fE WK IE

Bank balances and cash wITHEBRIES

Trade and other payables B 5 Rk E MR FRIE
Overall net exposure B e A FE

As at 31 March 2024 720243 A31H

Cash surrender value of life insurance AR F IR & EE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b fE WA

Bank balances and cash RITHEBNIE D

Trade and other payables B 5 K& H b FE T FRIE

Bank borrowings RITEE

Overall net exposure e AR

2,080 = =
= = 2,421
= = 54,804
63 1 216
= = (42,927)

2143 1 14,520

2,023 — —
— 29,587 5,073
61 315 124

(297) (12,670 (5,689)
— (5,655) —
1,787 11,577 (492)

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " B & 86 75 k42 R FR 2 B Annual Report ZER 2025



174

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
36.5 Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group's exposure to foreign
currency risk is considered as minimal. The Group is mainly
exposed to the effects of fluctuation in EUR and RMB.

As at 31 March 2025, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by
5% against HK$ with all other variables held constant, the loss
after income tax would have been HK$574,000 lower/higher and
accumulated losses would have been HK$574,000 lower/higher.

As at 31 March 2024, if EUR had strengthened/weakened by
5% against HK$ with all other variables held constant, the loss
after income tax would have been HK$483,000 higher/lower and
accumulated losses would have been HK$483,000 higher/lower.

36.6 Fair value measurements of financial

ZXZN QI-HOUSE HOLDINGS LIMITED " FE &5 8235 sR42 AR PR A 5 Annual Report ZE3R 2025

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined
based on the observability and significance of inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liahilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liahility, either directly or indirectly and not using
significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

BXRAREERAAEBEE
£5%%@%@)

ERABTTEXTHE  AEERY
WINERBRERAMTRE - K&
EX2HSBM T ARBERBTE
Er‘]ﬂﬁuu °

H2025F3A318 « W A RE X B T
TS I BE% - BT H R
BTE  BIBREHREEEBRLY
3 N574,0008 70+ 2EIEERL,
1% 11574,00058 T °

PR2024F3A31H ¢ i BX ot K B T
LH/TE%% BfrE E A2 H
RETE  BIBRAEHEZEEEB
iﬂu//m ~483,00075 7T + R ET A5 1B
15 1% hn 8 1 483,00058 7T °

TRMIANAAREBEE

REBBRARANRRIABETE

E’U@Eﬂﬁ%&%ﬁwﬁ%’&ﬁ{“ﬁ

REN=EEBR Z=EBR

%%’#%%i@)\%ﬂ%%ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%&
EMRTEWT:

BIE HREEREBERE
BHEaRECKER

#)-

F2E: HEIMEATBEENE
ELBBEBABER(TE
EREMESN®RE) R
TERERTAHRE
ABIE -

FIE: EBEEIEBEBENHERTA
BERBARE -

TREEXBEEEBRAAE]
BB E R @%Eﬁﬂﬂﬁ B
B BERAEEAEENREELRE
AR -



175

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no
transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose
of measuring fair values categorised in Levels 2 and 3 are
unchanged compared to the previous reporting periods and are

described below.

(a) Cash surrender value of life insurance
The fair value of the cash surrender value of life insurance

was determined based on the valuation provided by the
counterparty financial institution by reference to the
quoted price of the underlying units held.

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 36. BIEREERAABETE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved) (%)
36.6 Fair value measurements of financial 366 TMITENAAEBETE
instruments (Continued) (%)
The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the RIEEMBRARANIBEE M EE
consolidated statement of financial position on a recurring basis NAREBEETENSREEREE
are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: ERAABERBEFREAT:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
)= F2E £3E et
Notes HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wz  FET FET TFET  FEL
At 31 March 2025 A2025%3H31H
Financial assets at FVTPL ERBERRANEE
JNENERMEE
— Cash surrender value of life — AESRBHBELY (3
insurance ReEE — 2,080 — 2,080
— Unlisted equity investment —ELETRAKE (b — — 2,421 2,421
— 2,080 2,427 4,507
At 31 March 2024 1R2024F3A31H
Financial assets at FVTPL FRERZAAEE
PR S REE
— Cash surrender value of life — AESRBHBEL  (a)
insurance ReBE — 2,023 — 2,023

B = 2025F N 2024F383NHIEFE

F1E - 228

B o

AR E %2

K EIE 2 M A & E

BREIEAAEED

TAERGERMEBEREMAL

al ASRBRNBIRESEE
ABRBOBRORSBEORD
REEDREBESBEBE T
RENMEE WREMFER

BUHNHREMET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & Z=2025F3A318 IEFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continved)
36.6 Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

(b)

Unlisted equity investment

The information about the fair value of unlisted equity
investment categorised under Level 3 fair value hierarchy
are described below:

36. BIEREERAABETE
(#)
366 TR TEMNAREBETE

(%)

h) FLFREARE
BEE-EBAABEEESE
BIELTRAZENA L BE
BERE

Valuation technique Significant unobservable input Range 2025
i {8 B Al EXTUEEBARE & [E2025F
Unlisted equity investment Income Approach — Discount rate 16.57%

Discounted cash flow

FLETRAKRE WamEz—BRReRE MEAX
The fair value of unlisted equity investments is FETEREAKRENAAEBET
determined using the discounted cash flow. An increase in HAMBEReREETE - M
the discount rate would decrease the fair value. As at 31 WEMGEHRALEEBD ©
March 2025, it is estimated that with all other variables 20255 3A318 - [HETEMA
held constant, an increase (a decrease) in discount rate HEMEHERFEIENERLT -
by 3% would decrease (increase) the Group's other ALIR I N Rl ) 3% AN &
comprehensive income by HK$538,000. f E Ath 2 T R Em O A (B8 )
538,000/%8 7T °
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group's DEARE-ZEBAALBEEEN
financial instruments classified within Level 3 of the fair AEBEeRMmIAREDSBEEE
value hierarchy is as follows: (I
2025 2024
2025F 20244
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000
FET F&r
Unlisted equity investments FETRERE
Fair value at 1 April RAFAIENAAEE — —
Acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL W BB BB R A (B E
FIBREV SR E & 2123 —
Fair value change recognised in profitor A 1825 MR A A BE
loss o) (293) —
Exchange difference EHER (3) —
Fair value at 31 March RIAMNEHH R AEE 2,421 —

Fair value gain on unlisted equity investment is recognised
in the face of consolidated statement of profit or loss.

There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3 during
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024 Nil).

FEMBEARENRREEK

BREABEERTER -

HE2025F3A3NBILFEE - I
A ol B SB3fE (20244 ¢
1) o

7N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 20253 A31H I F[E

37. BUSINESS COMBINATION

Acquisition of Human Vision

In March 2024, the Group had entered into share transfer agreement to
acquire 100% equity interest of Human Vision with an independent third
party. The principal activity of Human Vision is engaged in provision of
software and information technology services. The consideration for
the acquisition was HK$300,000 and the acquisition was completed on
15 March 2024. The acquisition was made with the aims to enhance
business diversification.

A gain on bargain purchase (negative goodwill) of approximately
HK$779,000 was recognised under “Other income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2024, as a result of the difference between the
fair value of the consideration paid and the fair value of the net assets
acquired, which are the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed to their value.

The gain on bargain purchase is attributable to the Group's bargaining
power and ability in negotiating the agreed terms of the transaction with
the vendor.

Details of the aggregate fair values of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of Human Vision as at the date of acquisition are as follows:

31.

x%apt

KETHAARE

202438 REBEH—ZBLE = 5]
7 A% 19 88 5 1p 3 WU T AR AR B H9100% AR
e TAAGBNELEBAREEER
BB R o WA (B A300,000% T -
BB ERN2024F3A81585%HK - WETE
EMEEBZLERE -

HE20UFIANELEFERGRAETLE
M ERE T EMmEAIPERLY
7790008 THEEWE W= (BEE) - 1t
THARENNRENAABEEEBREEE
FEEECKRETENEERBENAR
BENAAEBECHATEEZE -

2 M i T 9 AR SR R O
P52 5 0t 8 B 8 B 0 T 5 7
ik

S
o

ERTRAGRBNAIZRNEE R BBERK
BREWAAEEREFBE N :

HK$'000
FETT
Trade and other receivables 5 & HE e W kI8 4,703

Bank balances and cash

RITEBRES 19

Trade and other payables B 5 Kk H M FRIE (3,636)
Tax payable FET B IR (7)
Net assets acquired Frig s F & & 1,079
Less: cash consideration B RERE (300)
Gain on bargain purchase EEWE W= 779
Cash consideration payable RSN E (300)
Bank balances and cash acquired FriisiR T8 LR € 19
Cash outflow arising on acquisition BREBEHETREEEAN

through business combination ]/ (281)

Since the acquisition date, Human Vision had contributed HK$180,000
and HK$134,000 to the Group’s revenue and loss for the year ended
31 March 2024. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2023,
consolidated pro-forma revenue and gain for the year ended 31 March
2024 would had been approximately HK$2,159,000 and HK$1,612,000
respectively.

BUEHBRNUR  TAAREE SR AKX
EEEZ204F3ANALFEHN W= LB
8 & 5£180,0007% 7T 12134,0007%8 7T ° fis Ux BB
M2023F4RTHE &£ 1T - B 2202443
ANAIEFENGEE B E R R R E
7 Bl 49 52,159,000 JT K1,612,0005%8 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ra MR

For the

38.

year ended 31 March 2025 & £ 202543318 | F &

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard the
ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in the long
term.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and makes
adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions. The Group
monitors its capital structure on the basis of the net debt to equity ratio.
The net debt to equity ratio is calculated based on total borrowings
(including lease liabilities) divided by the total equity at each reporting
date. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The net debt to equity ratio at each reporting date was:

38.

EXEHE
AEBEREANBRERREAEERGE
REMEEN  BEASBRRTREHERSE
MmN ERENGS THESREELAR
BURABRREEEE-

AEBETHERBRANERRE  LRAEL
FRRECELAE - REBRBEFE
BRGSLETERERARE - FEHER
HEERSREAHNREE(BEEE
BERNEESZHE RESKFABZ
Lo - AN SR [E AT A 3E R 1A AR ROK A B9 AR S
SE - BITHERD  BEHETREIH
EEENRDETR -

REREAHOFEBREALER:

2025 2024

20254 20244

HKS$ 000 HK$'000

FET F&r

Bank borrowings RITEE 13,785 20,274
Lease liabilities HEaE 9,046 12,549
Total borrowings wmiEE 22,831 32,823
Total equity HAME T 36,747 35,270
Net debt to equity ratio FEBERLLE 62.1% 93.1%
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements

is set out below:
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

MBEHRE
ARERBEAENBEENERAREE R
AEMENBRACEREANBRE B
-

RESULTS ¥E
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 20244 2023 20224 202148
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Restateq) (Restateq)
(K Z7)) (4 Z7))
Continuing operations FELSEER
Revenue I 2 99,218 61,700 78,194 95,913 120,551
Cost of sales HER A (30,426) (23,109) (26,610] (32,391) (46,330)
Gross profit E A 68,792 38,591 51,584 63,522 74,221
Other income Hep g A 4,509 7,253 9,070 m 4538
Selling and marketing expenses HERTEHERS (28,620) 30,390) (32,090) (33,400) (37,791)
Administrative expenses THRX (25,622) (23939) (22547) (26,775 (18,921)
Fair value change on contingent ERIARENRAEELD
consideration payable — — — 3,362 (2,633)
Provision for)/Reversal of provision B 5 K E b FE YRR DA T Uk
for impairment of trade and other BERRREGEE), BE
receivables and loan receivables, net BOF8E (2,898) (302) 345 410 (200)
Provision for impairment of goodwil BERERE — (8,694) (14,732) — —
Finance costs BB (1,613) (1,195) (799) (849) (1,310)
Fair value change of financial assetat ~ BBBRE DA EEEL
FVTPL CREENAAEBEERY (293) — — — —
Profit/(Loss) hefore income tax BRETEBAER/(F8) 14,345 (18,676) (9,169) 6,981 17,904
Income tax [expense)/credit FEREX) /B2 (3,157) 80 (845) (1,751) (3,345)
Profit/(Loss) for the year from FARBEHESEERN
continuing operations wmR(FB) 11,188 (18,596) (10,014) 5230 14,559
Discontinued operations BRIEBEER
(Loss)/Profit for the period/year from BN/ FRREE R EE:
discontinued operation Bo(ER),/ &5 (9,580) 1322 — — —
Profit/(Loss) for the year ERERN(HRE) 1,608 (17,.274) (10,014) 5230 14,559
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 20044 2023%F 20224 20214
HKS$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
Total assets BEE 118,714 106,806 99,708 114,966 138,270
Total liabilities FER= (81,967) (71,536) (46,995) (52,286) (67.875)
Total equity BRER 36,747 35,270 52713 62,680 70,395
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